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Our Vision

Transforming lives positively
through lasting relationships.

Our Mission

At Mayberry, we create opportunities for customers to realise
their financial objectives, locally and internationally, through
our team of highly trained and dedicated professionals, adding
value for all.

Our Core Values

e |Integrity
 Accountability
* Creating value through knowledge
« Attention to detail- getting it right the first time

 We care about our family of customers, employees, share-
holders and the community at large.



d; it’s a cor-

>

orporation




TABLE OF

Ten-Year Financial 2 Executive Team 7 Departmental
Highlights & Department Reports

Heads

08 Performance 30 Reorganisation 80 Top Ten

Highlights of the Mayberry Shareholders &
Group of Connected
Companies Persons

Di 'R Corporate Charities &
1 irectors’ Report 3 Governance Sponsorship

Directors’ Profiles Corporate data Corporate Social
Responsibilities

Exec_:utlve ' Management Milestones
Chairman’s Review . .
Discussion &

Analysis

S Risk Governance Audited
22 tatement 62 Framework 104 Financial

Statements



10 YEAR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
2014- 2023

Profit and Loss $'000 $'000 $°000 $°000

- Profit/(Loss) before Taxation 679,639 58,104 194,011 478,433
: Net Profit/(Loss) 726,080 145,460 172,115 425173
Net PI’OfIt/(LOSS) Attributable to 726,080 145,460 172,'”5 425,]73
Shareholders
Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) 557,918 2.301.717 1,262,439 2389828
Attributable to Shareholders

]

Balance Sheet

s
i
17,799,603 14,490,228 |14.595.033 | 15,009,489

f Stockholders’ Equity 4,183,999 6,245,486 7,243,672 9,357,236
S Number of issued shares (units) 1,201,149 1,201,149 1,201,149 1,201,149

Key Financial Ratios
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2018 2019 2020-Restated 2021 2022 2023
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

[ems [ essos | amaro | Temseo | woess | oo

3,461,289 4,733,691 (1,912,328) 2,574,175 2,154,126 (201,818)

30,371,608 | 37,015,784 35,992,446 41,461,387 52,057,342 | 58,716,406
16,396,802 | 16,813,740 19,141,378 20,108,954 25,457,096 | 33,907,329

10,854,841 15,421,367 13,216,878 15,335,631 16,795,106 16,232,944
1,201,149 1,201,149 1 201 149 1 201 149 1,201,149 1,201,149
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TOTAL ASSETS 'NET BOOK VALUE

| pER SHARE

137%(3%

INCREASE OVER YTD :
DECEMBER 31, 2022 : DECREASE OVER YTD

YTD DEC 2023: J$58.7B | DECEMBER 31, 2022
YTD DEC 2022: J$521B  y1p pEC 2023: J$13.51

1 YTD DEC 2022: J$13.98

EARNINGS PER SHARE | TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE

(111%)'(130%

|
DECREASE OVER YTD
DECREASE OVER YTD 1y e cevprn 31, 2022

DECEMBER 31, 2022
YTD DEC 2023: (J$1.4B)

YTD DEC 2023: (J$0.21) | )
YTD DEC 2022: J$1.85 | YTD DEC 2022: J$4.6B

NET INTEREST INCOME
. AND OTHER REVENUES

(112%

I DECREASE OVER YTD
I DECEMBER 31, 2022

YTD DEC 2023: (J$845M)
YTD DEC 2022: J$6.9B
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INVESTMENTS LIMITED
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TRADING NEVER SLEERS HERE

e Address
11/2 Oxford Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica

@ Phone

876, 929.1908-9

& Email

sales@mayberryinv.com

Cownload the MIL Portfolio App today!

@ Instagram
Mayberryinva

ﬂ Facebook
MayberryinvJa

@' Linkedin

MayberryinvestmentsLimited




DIRECTORS REPORT

The Directors submit herewith the Consolidated Profit or Loss of Mayberry Group
Limited and for the year ended December 31, 2023, together with the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position as at the same date. The Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and Comprehensive Income shows the following:

FINANCIAL RESULTS $°000
Net interest income and other revenues (844,756)
Loss before taxation (2,062,576)
Taxation credit 593,632
Net loss attributable to stockholders (256,548)
Net unrealized gains on financial instruments

36,518
(FVOCI)
Total comprehensize income for the year (201,818)
attributable to stockholders
DIRECTORS

The Directors as at December 31, 2023 are Messrs. Christopher Berry, Konrad Berry,
Gary Peart, Erwin Angus, Gladstone Lewars, Walter Scott, Alok Jain and Richard
Surage.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street, Kingston,
Jamaica,have expressed their willingness to continue in office in accordance with
Section 154 of theCompanies Act.

The Directors wish to thank the Management and Staff for their commitment and
hard work during the year.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Christopher Bérry
Chairman
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CHRISTOPHER BERRY

B.sc. (Hons.)
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

Mr. Christopher Berry is the Chairman of May-
berry Jamaican Equities Limited, Mayberry In-
vestments Limited, Mayberry Holdings Limited
and Mayberry Group Limited. He is also a direc-
tor of three (3) other publicly listed companies:
Caribbean Producers Jamaica Limited, Lasco Fi-
nancial Services Limited and Supreme Ventures
Limited.

Mr. Berry is also a Director of several private
companies including Apex Health Care Limit-
ed and Apex Pharmacy Limited. He has over 30
years’ of experience in the securities industry in
Jamaica and holds a B.Sc. (Hons) degree in In-
dustrial Engineering from the Georgia Institute
of Technology.
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KONRAD MARK BERRY

B.sc. (Hons.)
EXECUTIVE VICE CHAIRMAN,
COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Konrad Berry joined Mayberry Invest-
ments Limited at its inception as one
of its founding members and Company
Secretary. He is currently the Executive
Vice Chairman. He was Finance Director
between 1992 - 1995, and also Chief Op-
erating Officer in 1995.

As Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Berry was
primarily responsible for the Company’s
day-to-day operations, including the de-
velopment and supervision of its man-
agement and operating system. During
2002 - 2004, he supervised the planning,
design, construction and outfitting of the
company’s office building, from one floor
of 3700sq ft to three floors consisting of
12,650 sq ft.

Mr. Berry was also very integral in the
company’s listing on the Jamaica
Stock Exchange in 2005.

Mr. Berry obtained a B.Sc. (Hons.)
degree in Management and Economics
from the University of the West Indies

in 1992. In that year, he also successfully
completed the Canadian Securities
Course.

Mr. Berry is a director of several com-
panies including Caribbean Producers
(Jamaica) Limited, Widebase Limited,
Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited and
Mayberry Asset Managers Limited.
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GARY PEART

M.B.A,B.sc. (Hons.)
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
CHEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Gary Peart joined Mayberry Investments
Limited as the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) in May 2005 and was later appoint-
ed to the Board of Directors in April 2006.
He has over 20 years of experience in cor-
porate finance, equity, fixed income, and
treasury management; holding senior lead-
ership roles in several financial institutions
- all of which prepared him for his current
role as CEO and board member of several
well-known Jamaican companies and or-
ganisations.

In 2015, BusinessSuite Magazine named him
Jamaica’s Top CEO as a result of his hard
work and successful leadership at Mayberry
Investments Limited and his contribution to
the growth of the finance sector. Mr. Peart is
a firm believer in supporting Jamaican busi-
nesses and is passionate about developing
the nation through investment.

Mr. Peart currently serves as the Executive
Chairman on the Board of Supreme Ven-
tures Limited and is also a director on other
boards including Lasco Distributors Limited
and IronRock Insurance Company Limited.

Mr. Peart has a B.Sc. (Hons) in Economics
from the University of the West Indies and
an MBA from Florida International Universi-
ty. Mr. Peart is a member of the Rotary Club
of St. Andrew North.
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ERWIN ANGUS

C.D., J.P,, B.A. (Hons.)
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr. Erwin Angus was among the first staff
cohort to join Mayberry Investments Limited
in 1986. Since then, he has held the post of
Managing Director, guiding the growth of the
Company with his expertise and knowledge.

Angus’ impact has extended far beyond the
reach of the Company. He was awarded the
Commander of the Order of Distinction (CD)
in October 1976 for his contribution to Jamai-
ca’s bauxite industry and became a Justice of
the Peace (J.P.) in 1977.

He currently serves as a member of the Com-

pany’s Assets and Liabilities Committee and
Audit Committee.
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GLADSTONE LEWARS

B.sc. (Econ) (Hons.), M.sc (Econ), M.sc.
(Accounting),FCA
NON- EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Gladstone “Tony” Lewars was ap-
pointed to the Board of Directors of May-
berry Investments Limited in September
2012.

He is a Chartered Accountant and has
consulted extensively across the region
in the areas of Organizational Develop-
ment, Human Resource Management,
and Financial Effectiveness Reviews.

His contribution to national development
has awarded him several accolades. In
2015, he received the Commander of the
Order of Distinction (CD) for his exem-
plary service in both the public and pri-
vate sectors.

He is a former Chairman of the Students’
Loan Bureau and a former partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), where
he was the Leader of the Advisory divi-
sion of the firm.

He currently serves as the Chairman of
JN Cayman and the JN Cayman Mon-
ey Services. He also serves as Director

~ of the National Insurance Fund and the

Secretary/Treasurer of the Jamaica Col-
lege Trust.

In addition to this, Mr. Lewars is the
'Chairman of the Assets and Liabilities
and Nominations and Governance Com-
mittees, and a member of the Company’s
Audit Committee.

|
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ALOK JAIN

M.Sc., FCA, FCCA, CGMA, CISA, CFA
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Mr. Alok Jain is a former partner of Price-
waterhouseCoopers (PwC) where he
held a number of leadership roles, most
recently as leader of PwC’s Advisory
practice in the Caribbean. He previous-
ly served as leader of PwC’s Assurance
practice in Jamaica. Mr. Jain current-
ly serves as a Consultant at the Office
of the Prime Minister and is an Adjunct
Lecturer at the Mona School of Business
and Management at the University of the
West Indies. He is also Chairman of the
Port Authority of Jamaica and a director
of TransJamaican Highway Limited. Mr.
Jain is a Chartered Accountant, Certified
Information Systems Auditor as well as
a CFA Charter holder. He has extensive
experience in accounting and auditing as
well as in corporate finance, valuations of
companies, due diligence investigations,
stock exchange listings, capital restruc-
turing, and acquisitions and mergers.

He is the Chairman of the Audit Commit-

tee and sits on the Nominations and Cor-
porate Governance Committee.
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WALTER H. SCOTT

CDh,K.C
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Former Senior Partner at Rattray Patterson
Rattray, Mr. Walter Scott KC has been a prac-
ticing Attorney-At-Law in Jamaica for more
than thirty-seven years. Mr. Scott is presti-
giously recognized as a King’s Counsel and is
also admitted to practice law in Barbados. A
proud graduate of the University of the West
Indies and the Norman Manley School of Law,
he has gone on to offer his services to a myri-
ad of entities, including the Office of Director
of Public Prosecutions; Grant Stewart Phillips
& Co, Attorneys-at-law; Chancellor & Co, At-
torneys-at-Law; and Rattray Patterson Rat-
tray, Attorneys-at-Law.

In 2019, he formed his own practice as Coun-
sel. His areas of practice include Commercial,
Civil, and Criminal Litigation, Gaming, Regula-
tory, Labour, Mining, and Libel Law.

In 2021, Mr. Scott was conferred with the na-
tional honour of the Order of Distinction in
the rank of Commander (CD).

Mr. Scott is the former Chairman of Sygnus
Capital Limited, Sygnus Capital Management
Limited, Betting Gaming & Lotteries Commis-
sion, Casino Gaming Commission, and Private
Security Regulations Authority. He current-
ly serves as a Director of Supreme Ventures
Racing & Entertainment Limited, Supreme
Ventures Guyana Holdings Inc., Supreme
Ventures Enterprise Inc., Dolla Financial Ser-
vices Limited, and is a Director of several pri-
vate companies.

'Mr. Scott is Chairman of the Compliance and

| Remuneration Committees and sits on the
Audit Committee as an Independent Director.
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RICHARD SURAGE

B.sc. (Hons.)

Mr. Richard Surage has had a distinguished
career in the accounting and finance pro-
fession commencing in 1996 in Saint Lucia
with Pricewaterhouse, continuing to work
for the company when it became Price-
waterhouseCoopers. He worked with Ar-
thur Andersen in the Cayman Islands for
two years. Shortly thereafter he left for
Barbados to join Ernst & Young where he
managed the firm’s clients in the Eastern
Caribbean, namely Antigua and Barbuda,
Dominica, St. Lucia and St. Vincent and the
Grenadines.

Richard become a Partner at PKF St. Lucia
in 2010, a role he currently holds. He has
served on audits for both large and com-
plex engagements across a wide cross-sec-
tion of industries namely, financial services,
retail, manufacturing, telecommunication,
and tourism within the Caribbean, Canada,
and the United States of America.

Richard has been a leader within the insol-
vency and restructuring industry in St. Lu-
cia. In 2011, he was appointed by the East-
ern Caribbean Supreme Court to serve as
the Judicial Manager for the CLICO Inter-
national Life Insurance Company, St. Lucia
Branch, as part of a restructuring exercise.

In 2015 Richard was selected by the Gov-
ernment of St. Lucia to be a member of
a committee to review and propose new,

laws governing the insolvency practice in
St. Lucia as guided by the World Bank.

Richard is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of the Eastern Ca-
ribbean, an associate of the Chartered In-
stitute of Arbitrators, Deputy Chairman of
the St Lucia Distillers Group of Companies
and a member of the St. Lucia Govern-
ment’s Insolvency Laws Committee.
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EXECUTIVE
CHAIRMAN'’S
REVIEW

As we reflect on the past year, it is evident
that 2023 was a year of profound resil-
ience and gradual recovery amidst ongo-
ing challenges in the global economy. The
shadows of the pandemic have receded,
but not without leaving enduring marks
on our economic fabric. Geopolitical ten-
sions, supply chain disruptions, and the ur-
gent imperatives of climate change have
further sculpted the economic landscape,
influencing our strategies and operations.

The global economy in 2023 displayed ex-
traordinary persistence, swinging towards
recovery and development, albeit at a slow
pace. Various economies navigated the
complexities of inflationary pressures, tight-
er monetary policies, and volatile market
dynamics, demonstrating the complexity of
our linked world. Digital transformation, sus-
tainable practices, and inventive resilience
have never been more important, empha-
sising the need for adaptability in our plans.

In this context, our organization stood
steadfast, adapting to the evolving econom-
ic conditions with prudence and foresight.
We have remained committed to our core
values of integrity, innovation, and sustain-
ability, ensuring that our operations are
not just resilient but also aligned with our
long-term vision for growth and excellence.
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Our strategic investments in technology and sustainability continue to pay off, putting
us in a good position for future possibilities and challenges. We continued to form im-
portant alliances, develop our global footprint, and innovate in our product and service
offerings while remaining committed to our purpose of providing value to our stake-
holders.

Looking ahead, the global economic picture is cautiously optimistic, with forecasts of
further stabilisation and growth. Our primary focus will remain on improving operating
efficiencies, investing in disruptive technologies, and maintaining our commitment to
sustainability and corporate responsibility.

In closing, I'd want to express my heartfelt appreciation to our devoted staff, loyal cus-
tomers, and valued stockholders for your unwavering support and trust. Together, we
are navigating these difficult times and creating a stronger, more sustainable future for
all.

CHRISTOPHER BERRY
Executive Chairman
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CEO
STATEMENT

In the 2023 fiscal year, local markets faced significant challenges due to elevated in-
flation rates, high interest rates, and the ongoing and growing geopolitical tensions in
several countries. The difficult terrain led to a decrease in investor trust, limited avail-
ability of funds, and had a negative effect on the local stock market, causing a year-on-
year decline in both the Main and Junior Market indices. The Group’s 2023 results were
adversely affected by these challenges in several of its business lines. However, the
management team maintains a positive outlook on the future and the Group’s ability
to withstand such difficulties. In 2023, our ongoing investment in our integrated digital
infrastructure MIL 2.0 is expected to establish a strong basis for enhancing efficiency in
our service delivery and introducing valuable innovations to our clients and operations.

Financial Performance

In contrast to the prior year’s net profit of $4.7 billion, the Mayberry Group incurred a
net loss of $1.5 billion for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023. This represents a
131% decline or $6.2 billion reduction. The Group’s investment in associates and finan-
cial instruments resulted in a $7.5 billion, or 143%, decline in net unrealized gains on
investments at FVTPL to $2.2 billion in 2023. This performance reflected the sustained
decline in the equity market over several quarters beginning in 2022, with the Main Mar-
ket and Junior Market falling 8.48% and 3.34%, respectively.

Net interest income declined by 205% to ($326) million compared to $310 million for
financial year 2022. This decline in net interest income was mainly a result of higher in-
terest costs resulting from the Mayberry public bond issued in January 2023. Notwith-
standing the outturn, the results reflect continuous growth in interest income on loans,
investments, and promissory notes at amortized costs which grew 52% based on year
over year loan growth of $3.8 billion or 60%.

Dividend income increased by 8% or $43.2 million representing higher pay-outs from
corporates for the period. Our operating expenses fell by $195.3 million, or 9%, to $2.1
billion, compared to 2022, while the share of earnings from the joint venture was $833
million, compared to $21 million in fiscal year 2022. The rise represents the Group’s
share of investment property revaluation gains from the joint venture company’s in-
vestment property portfolio, as another major real estate development is completed in
2023. Group earnings before tax for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023 fell by
$6.8 billion, or 144%, to ($2.1) billion.
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Our asset base increased by $6.7 billion,
owing to strong growth in loans and oth-
er receivables (up $3.8 billion or 60%) and
investment securities ($2.3 billion or 24%).
Total liabilities climbed by $8.5 billion,
reaching $33.9 billion. The rise in balance
sheet assets was principally funded by an
increase in loans payable of $4.8 billion, or
51%, due to money raised in the Mayberry
Bond IPO net of other loan repayments, as
well as a 41% increase in securities sold un-
der buyback agreements.

Mayberry Group’s capital base remained
robust with shareholders’ equity closing at
$24.8 billion compared to $26.6 billion in
2022.

The Executive Management team remains
optimistic about future market opportuni-
ties to grow our core businesses as we con-
tinue to improve service delivery and prod-
uct options to our customers. We wish to
thank our clients, shareholders and staff for
their commitment and contribution to the
successful milestones of the company and
we remain committed to transforming lives
positively.

@) 2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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ANDREA WHITTAKER KRISHNA SINGH
Chief Operating Officer Chief Information Officer

'1 . .q.:__l' &
L] L]
™ ANDREA HO-SANG STEPHANIE HARRISON
» Senior Vice President- Operations «Vice President- Marketing

DAN THEOC

Senior Vice President- Investment
Banking
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DAMIAN WHYLIE JOSEPHINE BENNETT-DARMAND
General Manager- Asset Management Chief Financal Officer

-] & ™ &
.., KRISTEN RAYMORE*REYNOLDS. KAREN MlTCHELl.l
. Senier'\‘ice President- *Ssznior Vice President- Tregsury and
T tflumam Reg¥ources . Trading _*
. s and Pacilities - .
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- L |
JASON MARTINEZ
Vice President- Research
.
L ]
]
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RACHEL KIRLEW MARCIA MESSADO
Assistant Vice President- Investment Manager- Flnancial Planning & Analysis
Banking

. OKELIA PARREDON RENE MITCHELL
Vice'President— Sales & Client Services Senior ¥ite President- Compliance
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VAUGHN CUNNINGHAM
Senior Manager- FX Trading
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Chief Executive Officer
- Mayberry Foundation
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Reorganisation of the Mayberry Group of Companies

Mayberry group of companies was reorganised in 2023, pursuant to a Court-approved
scheme of arrangement under sections 206 to 208 of the Companies Act, 2004. Having
undertaken this voluntary reorganisation, the Group is now in line with the desired cor-
porate structure preferred by BOJ whereby a financial holding company would own the
operating financial entity, and in so doing, creating a separation between regulated and
unregulated companies.

On December 29, 2023, Mayberry Investments Limited (“MIL”) transferred to Mayberry
Group Limited all the shares which it had owned in two Saint Lucian international busi-
ness Companies, namely Widebase Limited (“Widebase”) and Mayberry Jamaican Equi-
ties Limited (“MJE”). These transfers of shares were done as a follow-on transaction to
the reorganisation of the Mayberry group of companies, and in an effort to ensure that
MIL would be a stand-alone securities dealing company, without owning a controlling in-
terest in another company. In consideration for the transfers of shares, Mayberry Group
Limited (MGL) issued to MIL a series of debentures equivalent in principal to the aggre-
gate of the book value of the MJE and Widebase shares.

Corporate Structure

(MGL) a company incorporated under the laws of Saint Lucia on November 15, 2022,
is the ultimate parent and holding company of the Group. On December 13, 2023, MGL
was listed on the Main Market of the JSE. Upon the listing of MGL, MIL was delisted
from the Main Market and stockholders of MIL became stockholders of MGL.

Both MGL and Mayberry Holdings Limited (MHL) are newly incorporated companies of
the Group.

MGL has three (3) subsidiaries:

1. MJE, a company incorporated in St. Lucia and listed on the Jamaica
Stock Exchange, is an investment company which invests in and trades
in public equity securities in Jamaica.

2. Widebase, a company incorporated in St. Lucia, is an investment com-
pany which holds shares in unlisted companies.

3. MHL, the financial holding company was incorporated in Jamaica on
February 1, 2023, operates as a passive investment holding company.

Mayberry Investments Limited is the wholly owned subsidiary of Mayberry Holdings
Limited which, in turn, is owned by Mayberry Group Ltd. Mayberry Investments Limited
continues to be the principal operating company in the Mayberry group of companies,
and continues to conduct its business, being a licensed securities dealer, cambio oper-
ator and Bank of Jamaica Primary Dealer.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE



In 2022 the Board of Directors of Mayberry Investments Limited (“MIL”) undertook a
reorganization exercise of the Mayberry group of Companies. Mayberry Investments
Limited (“MIL”) is regulated by the Financial Services Commission (“FSC”) in respect
of its securities business and, by the Bank of Jamaica (“BOJ”), in respect of its cambio
business. Under the old structure, MIL had two (2) subsidiaries, Mayberry Jamaican
Equities Limited (“MJE”) and Widebase Limited (“Widebase”). Both MJE and Wide-
base are international business companies established in Saint Lucia. Because MJE and
Widebase were subsidiaries of MIL, it meant that for accounting purposes they were
consolidated into MIL. Indirectly therefore, MJE and Widebase were subject to

the regulatory governance of FSC and, to a lesser extent, BOJ.

The Board of Directors, after careful review, concluded that it would be in the best in-
terest of MIL to reorganize the Mayberry Group of Companies by:

a) creating two (2) new companies, namely:
(i) a Jamaican company called Mayberry Holdings Limited (“Mayberry Holdings”); and
(ii) a St. Lucian holding company called Mayberry Group Ltd. (“MGL”)

b) transferring MJE and Widebase to MGL; and

c) reorganizing MIL to become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mayberry Holdings which,
in turn, would be owned by MGL.
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The scheme of arrangement between MIL and its stockholders to cancel all ordinary
stocks held in MIL and issue the same number of stocks in MGL, the new parent com-
pany of the Mayberry Group of Companies, was sanctioned by the Supreme Court of
Judicature on September 28, 2023. Consequently, MGL received approval from the Ja-
maica Stock Exchange (JSE) to be listed on the Main Market on December 13, 2023. As
a result, the new corporate structure is as follows:

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS

100%
v/

MAYBERRY GROUP

49.58% (ST.LUCIA)
J / 1&'3% 100%

50.42%

MAYBERRY

MJE | HOLDINGS
(ST.LUCIA) (JA)

i Y. ., 100%

MIL WIDEBASE
JA) (ST.LUCIA)
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Mayberry Group Limited

MGL was incorporated in St. Lucia on November 15, 2022 under the laws of St. Lucia. Its
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association were specifically drafted to
comply with the Listing requirements of the JSE. This company operates as the holding
company for the entire Mayberry Group of Companies.

Mayberry Holdings Limited

Mayberry Holdings was incorporated in Jamaica under the Companies Act on February
21, 2023 as a private company. It holds all the shares in MIL, which will be its only subsid-
iary. Mayberry Holdings will operate as the financial holding company for the Mayberry
Group of Companies and as a passive investment holding company with its only asset
being 100% of MIL.

Mayberry Investments Limited

MIL will remain the principal operating company within the Mayberry Group of Compa-
nies. As a full-service securities dealing and investment advisory firm, MIL is dedicated
to enhancing its customers’ investments by offering high-quality financial products tai-
lored to their specific needs, along with expert financial advice. MIL’s product and service
offerings include brokerage services, managed equity accounts, personalized managed
accounts, trading in international bonds (both as an investor and as a brokerage service
provider), fixed income investments, and pension fund management services.

MIL is regulated by the FSC and its cambio operations are supervised by the BOJ. Prior
to being delisted on December 13, 2023, MIL had been a member of the Jamaica Stock
Exchange since 1985.

Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited

MJE is an investment company which is listed on the Main Market of the JSE. 50.42% of
its stock units are currently held by MGL. MJE is an international business company incor-
porated under the laws of St. Lucia.

Widebase Limited

Widebase is an international business company incorporated under the laws of Saint
Lucia. It is an investment-holding company which holds shares in certain unlisted compa-
nies, including Cherry Hill Developments Limited.

@ 2023 ANNUAL REPORT @



Board Role and Function

The Mayberry Group of Companies has established corporate governance guidelines to
facilitate the effective functioning of the Board and its committees. These guidelines are
designed to uphold shareholder interests, maintain the highest standards of ethics, and
ensure a shared understanding of the expectations for the roles and responsibilities of
the Board, its committees, individual Directors, and senior management.

The core responsibility of the Board of Directors of MGL is to oversee all the companies
within the Group for the benefit of its shareholders and stakeholders.

The Board’s main duties include:

(i) Articulating the Company&#39;s vision, mission, and purpose

(ii) Setting the strategic course of the Company

(iii) Supervising the Company&#39;s controls and accountability systems

(iv) Selecting a suitable Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary

(v) Tracking the progress and performance of the Executive Management teams with
in thevarious companies

Board decisions are informed by a comprehensive and fair assessment of relevant infor-
mation. These decisions adhere to ethical standards, comply with legal obligations, and
consider the reasonable expectations of all stakeholders. Directors exercise independent
judgment and prudent business sense in the best interests of the Company, relying on
the integrity and honesty of the Company’s executive management, external advisors,
and auditors.

Board Composition and Structure

The Board’s composition and organizational structure enable it to effectively perform its
duties and deliver value to the Company and its stakeholders, complying with local, legal,
and regulatory requirements, as well as best practices. The diversity in the number of Di-
rectors, their backgrounds, expertise, and experience allow the Board to efficiently fulfill
its mandate. The balance between executive and non-executive Directors ensures that no
single person or small group can dominate the decision-making process.

As of December 31, 2023, the Board is led by Mr. Christopher Berry and consists of eight
members: four non-executive independent directors and four executive directors. This
size is considered optimal for the Company’s operations. Each member is distinguished
by their educational background, technical proficiency, industry knowledge, profession-
alism, and integrity. Board members prioritize the Company’s best interests and make
decisions without regard to personal relationships or affiliations.

The Board defines an Independent Non-Executive Director as someone who will bring an
independent judgement to bear on issues before the board and to act in the best interest
of the company and its shareholders. A non-executive Director is deemed independent if
they meet the aforementioned description of independence.

The collective professional backgrounds of Board members, which include expertise in
accounting, investment banking, law, auditing, corporate governance, information tech-
nology, strategic management, and general business management, equip the Board to
effectively carry out its duties. Directors receive ongoing training to enhance their skills
and stay updated on changes in statutory and regulatory requirements and emerging
corporate governance best practices.
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The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) are distinct and separate.
This separation ensures an appropriate distribution of power, promoting heightened
transparency, accountability, and enhanced decision-making independent of manage-
ment. In leading the Board, the Chairman bears ultimate responsibility for guiding the
Company’s strategy, and safeguarding shareholders’ interests. The CEO, on the other
hand, is tasked with executing the company’s strategy as approved by the Board and
managing the Company’s day-to-day operations.

Diversity

A fundamental role of the Board is to identify significant opportunities and risks while
providing strategic direction for the business. This requires a diverse and experienced
group of individuals operating in an environment that encourages varied perspectives.
Before appointment, careful consideration is given to candidates’ skills, experience, in-
dependence, and familiarity with the Company.

The diverse career paths and educational backgrounds among Board members enable
them to meet their duties in accordance with statutory requirements, the Company’s
Articles of Association, and established rules of procedure.

The current Directors of the Mayberry Group of Companies are shown in the table be-
low.

MIL ([€] MHL MJE [ Wideb

@ 2023 ANNUAL REPORT @



Outlined below is a matrix depicting some of the key skills that our Board has recognized
as valuable for effective oversight and strategic implementation:
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Board Committees

The Board has instituted committees to enhance its effectiveness and efficiency in fulfill-
ing its fiduciary duties and responsibilities. These board sub-committees address issues
that necessitate thorough review or in-depth analysis, making decisions on behalf of
the Board or presenting recommendations for its review. Specific responsibilities are as-
signed to these Board Committees, aiding the Board in executing its functions and guar-
anteeing independent supervision of internal controls and risk management. The Chair of
each Board Committee provides the Board with reports on the topics discussed during
Committee meetings. The following table outlines the standing Committees of the Board
of Directors:
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Audit Committee

The main objective of the Audit Committee is to aid the Board

in carrying out its oversight duties concerning the internal control systems,
the entity’s financial reporting procedures,

and audit functions.

MAYBERRY
GROUP LIMITED
EOARD

COMMITTEES

Corporate Governance Committee

Suggests potential candidates for the Board of Directors and
supervises the efficient operation of the Board.

Board Committee Composition

Nominations

POSITIONS ALUDIT and Corporate

Governance

Christophor Berry Exgcutive Chairman -“
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has the responsibility to to provide independent oversight of the
Company’s financial reporting, internal controls, risk management, and audit function
and give assurance that:

i. the company'’s financial statements are accurate and reliable,
ii. that the company has adequate internal controls in place, and
iii. that the audit function is independent and effective.

The objectives of the Committee include oversight of the following:

a) Financial Reporting Oversight - ensuring the integrity and accuracy of financial
statements and reviewing significant accounting policies and practices.

b) Internal Controls Oversight - monitoring the effectiveness of the company’s inter
nal control systems and recommending improvements to internal controls as nec
essary.

c) External Audit Engagement - selecting and appointing the external auditor and
reviewing the auditor’s independence and effectiveness.

d) Risk Management - assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of the company’s
risk management processes and evaluating significant risk exposures and mitiga
tion strategies.

e) Compliance and Legal Matters - ensuring that there is a robust system for moni
toring and assuring compliance with all relevant laws and regulations as well as
monitoring legal matters that may have a material impact on financial statements.

The Audit Committee adheres to the principles set out in the PSOJ Corporate Gover-
nance Code 2021 which provides that at least three members of the Audit Committee
must be independent non-executive members, one of whom should have recent and
relevant financial experience.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee (Committee) is established by the Board to en-
hance its effectiveness in overseeing matters related to director nomination, corporate
governance, and board performance. The purpose of the Committee is to ensure the
Board’s composition reflects diverse skills and expertise, and to promote and uphold
strong corporate governance principles in alignment with the principles of fairness, ac-
countability, independence, responsibility, stewardship, and transparency.
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The Code of Conduct delineates the Company’s regulations and expectations concern-
ing the proper conduct of business and ethical behavior for all Directors and officers.
These include:

i. Adherence to the law in all areas where the Company operates;

ii. Avoidance of conflicts of interest;

iii. Conducting themselves with honesty and integrity;

iv. Upholding confidentiality and safeguarding the integrity and security of assets,
communications, information, and transactions; and

v. Treating all individuals fairly, impartially, and professionally

The Board has reasonable confidence in the continuous, suitable, and efficient process
established for adhering to the Company’s Code of Conduct and Ethics policies. Mayber-
ry Group of Compaies fosters a robust compliance culture by rigorously upholding the
Company’s Code of Conduct and Ethics Policies, and by taking firm disciplinary measures
when necessary.
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CORPORATE DATA

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executives

Christopher W. Berry, B.Sc. (Hons.) -Executive Chairman

Konrad M. Berry, B.Sc. (Hons.) - Executive Vice Chairman

Erwin L. Angus, C.D., JP, B.A. (Hons.) - Managing Director

Gary H. Peart, M.B.A,, B.Sc. (Econ) (Hons.) - Chief Executive Officer

Non-Executives

Gladstone L. Lewars, FCA, M.Sc. (Econ) (Hons.), M.Sc. (Accounting), B.Sc. (Econ) (Hons.)
Lead Independent Director

Alok K. Jain, M.Sc., FCA, FCCA, CGMA, CISA, CFA

Walter H. Scott, Q.C.

Richard Surage

Company Secretary
FinSec Limited

REGISTRAR - TRANSFER AGENT
Jamaica Central Securities Depository, 40 Harbour Street, Kingston, Jamaica

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers
BN CRICE

Scotiabank Center,
Kingston, Jamaica

Tel: (876) 922-6230

ATTORNEYS-AT-LAW
Patterson Mair Hamilton
Douglas Thompson

Palomino, Gordon-Palomino
Walter H. Scott, Q.C. DunnCox
Carolyn C. Reid & Co.

BANKERS

Bank of Jamaica

Citigroup

National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited
Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited
Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited

First Global Bank Limited

INVESTMENT BANKS

Morgan Stanley

Raymond James and Associates (formerly Morgan Keegan)
Oppenheimer

RBC Dominion Securities

Standard Bank
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Economic and Business Environment

The Jamaican economy continued to recover in 2023 as Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
for the third quarter increased by 2.1% year on year. The performance stemmed from a
2.1% increase in the Services industries and a 2.1% growth in the Goods Producing In-
dustries, reflecting the economy’s ongoing recovery from the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic.

Since the onset of the COVID- 19 pandemic ten consecutive quarters ago, the island’s
tourism sector has consistently achieved remarkable growth figures, encompassing both
revenue generation and visitor arrivals. The Ministry of Tourism noted that the influx of
visitors is expected to generate US$4.265 billion in tourism earnings for 2023, represent-
ing a projected increase of 17.8% over total inflows for 2022, and a 17.2% spike over the
out-turn for the pre-pandemic year of 2019.

Economic activity and employment continues to rebound, inflows into the foreign ex-
change market are buoyant and the country’s international reserves have remained
strong. Recent developments in domestic inflation have prompted the Bank of Jamaica
(BOJ) to maintain measures to influence a return of inflation to the Bank’s target of 4%
to 6% in the near to medium term.

Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

According to the Statistical Institute of Jamaica (STATIN), the Jamaican economy grew
by 2.1% during the third quarter of 2023 relative to Q3 2022.

The growth was attributed to increases in both the Services and Goods Producing Indus-
tries (2.1%). In the services industries, growth was recorded in various sectors, including
Transport, Storage & Communication (6.0%), Hotels & Restaurants (6.7%), Other Ser-
vices (4.5%), Finance & Insurance Services (1.5%), Electricity & Water Supply (6.7%), Real
Estate, Renting & Business Activities (0.9%), and Wholesale & Retail Trade; Repairs: In-
stallation of Machinery & Equipment (0.3%). The growth in the Goods Producing Indus-
tries was largely attributable to higher output in Mining & Quarrying (103.1%) followed by
Manufacturing (2.1%) and Construction (0.7%).
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Foreign Exchange

For the year 2023, the foreign exchange market observed a continuation of two-way
movements in the exchange rate. The Jamaican dollar (JMD) appreciated against the
USD for the month of December 2023. The JMD appreciated by $0.51 to close the month
at an average of $155.94 relative to the $156.45 recorded in November 2023. Year over
year, the JMD has depreciated by approximately 1.46%.

The BOJ indicated that the foreign exchange market has remained relatively stable over
the last four months. Additionally, the stability in the foreign exchange market reflects
continued strong tourism and remittance inflows as well as actions taken by the bank to
prevent undue volatility.

Exchange Rate Movement
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Net International Reserve

BOJ has reported that Jamaica’s Net International Reserves as at December 31, 2023
stood at US$4,748.14 million, reflecting an increase of US$150.55 million when compared
to the US$4,597.58 million reported at the end of November 2023.

Foreign Assets totalled US$4,858.54 million, US$131.33 million more than the US$4,727.21
million reported in November 2023. ‘Currency & Deposits’ held by the BOJ as at Decem-
ber 31, 2023 totalled US$3,162.43 million, reflecting an increase of US$120.70 million
compared to the US$3,041.73 million reported in November 2023. ‘Securities’ were val-
ued at US$1,579.20 million; US$9.90 million more than the US$1,569.30 million reported
at the end of November 2023. The country’s Special Drawing Rights rose to US$80.22
million relative to the US$79.71 million recorded a month prior. ‘IMF Reserve Position’
rose to US$36.69 million from the US$36.46 million reported last month. Liabilities to
the IMF fell US$19.22 million to US$110.41 million against the US$129.63 million reported
at the end of November 2023.
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Net International Reserves
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Iinflation

STATIN reported that for December 2023, the point-to-point inflation rate was +6.9%;

0.6 percentage points higher than the prior point-to-point inflation rate. However, for the
month of December 2023, the inflation rate was +0.5%.
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The main driver of the monthly increase (0.5%) was a 2.5% rise in the index for the ‘Hous-
ing, Water, Electricity, Gas and Other Fuels’ division, owing to higher rent, electricity,
water, and sewage rates. Another contributor to the increase was a 0.3% rise in the index
for the ‘Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages’ division due mainly to increases in the class-
es: ‘Ready-made food and other food products (4.2%) and ‘Fruit and nuts’ (1.8%). The
monthly increase was tempered by a 0.4% fall in the index for the ‘Transport’ division,
owing to lower fuel prices.

According to the BOJ, inflation is projected to continue to rise above the Bank’s target
range for much of the period between the December 2023 and March 2025 quarters, pri-
marily due to the continued impact of the increases in selected PPV fares.
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Policy Interest Rates

The Bank of Jamaica’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) unanimously decided to main-
tain the policy interest rate at 7.0%, to preserve tight Jamaican dollar liquidity conditions,
and ensure relative stability in the foreign exchange market. The MPC’s decision was
based on the positive trends in the key drivers of headline inflation, stable core inflation
and the expectation that the impact of the public passenger vehicle (PPV) fare increase
will be temporary. The BOJ’s updated assessment of the inflation outlook forecasts in-
flation to continue to rise above the Bank’s target range for much of the period between
the December 2023 and March 2025 quarters, primarily due to the continued impact of
the increases in selected PPV fares.

BOJ Policy Interest Rate
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Equities Market
Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) Main and Junior Markets

On the last trading day of 2023, the market experienced a rally, leading to a gain of over
one point in the JSE Combined Index, encompassing the JSE Main Market, JSE Junior
Market, and JSE US Denominated Index.

The JSE Main Market Index closed the year ended December 29, 2023, at 325,699.79
points, reflecting a decline of 25,524.02 points or 7.84% relative to its initial 2023 level.
Additionally, the JSE Junior Market Index closed the year 2023 at 3,848.33 points, declin-
ing by 63.22 points or 1.64%.

The JSE Main Market, comprising the most heavily capitalized stocks, recorded its third-
worst performance in a decade. Its most severe downturn occurred in 2020, plummeting
by 22.4% due to the impact of the pandemic. In contrast, the JSE Junior Market, featuring
small and medium-sized companies broke a two year streak of gains. During the pan-
demic in 2020, the junior market suffered a 21% decline.
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JSE Main Market Index
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In the latter part of 2023, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) noted that the global
economy was slowly recovering from the impacts of the pandemic, Russia’s invasion of
Ukraine, and a cost-of-living crisis. Despite disruptions in energy and food markets due
to the war and efforts to combat high inflation through global monetary tightening, the
economy has not stalled but was experiencing slow and uneven growth. There were
significant divergences in global economic performance, with emerging markets and de-
veloping economies facing challenges in achieving a full recovery to pre-pandemic lev-
els. Inflation, both headline and underlying, was gradually being brought under control.
However, global growth was projected to slow from 3.5 percent in 2022 to 3 percent in
2023 and further to 2.9 percent in 2024, indicating a downgrade of 0.1 percentage point
for 2024 compared to previous projections in July 2023. This forecast remains below the
historical average.

The World Bank’s Global Economic Prospects in June 2023 noted that the earlier resil-
ience shown by global economic activity was anticipated to diminish. The global econo-
my was poised for a significant slowdown in 2023, attributed to the ongoing tightening
of monetary policy aimed at curbing high inflation. Subsequently, a modest recovery is
projected for 2024, with an expected growth rate of 2.4 percent. Inflationary pressures
persist, and the impact on growth from continued monetary tightening is projected to
peak in 2023 across several major economies. Additionally, recent stress in the banking
sector is anticipated to further constrain credit conditions.

Most economies prioritize achieving sustainable disinflation in response to the cost-of-
living crisis. Given the potential risks of tighter monetary conditions and reduced growth
impacting financial and debt stability, it is crucial to employ macroprudential measures
and enhance mechanisms for debt restructuring. Targeted fiscal assistance is essen-
tial for focusing on those most affected by escalating food and energy prices. Broad-
based fiscal relief initiatives should be scaled back, to uphold the advantages of the
rules-based multilateral system. Climate change should be addressed through emission
reduction and increased green investment, as such, enhanced international cooperation
iS necessary.

CORPORATE OVERVIEW CORE ACTIVITIES

Mayberry Investments Limited continues to be the principal operating company in the
Mayberry group of companies. It is a leading investment banking, securities and in-
vestment management company that provides a wide range of financial services and
products to a diversified client base. These include corporations, financial institutions,
governments and individuals in the capital market. Our service offering includes stra-
tegic financial advisory services with emphasis on mergers and acquisitions; debt and
equity restructuring; investment management services through separate and comingled
managed portfolios; brokerage services; cambio and research services. Our mission of
transforming lives positively through lasting relationships affords us the opportunity to
create deep and enduring relationships with our customers. We do this by discovering
their needs and delivering the most relevant product and service solutions to realise
their investment objectives.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Mayberry Group recorded a net loss of $1.5
billion, a decrease of 131% or $6.2 billion when compared to the net profit of $4.7 billion
earned in the prior year. Total operating expenses decreased by $195.3 million or 9% to
$2.1 billion when compared to 2022. Group profit before tax for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2023 decreased by $6.8 billion or 144% to ($2.1) billion. Other major highlights of
the Group’s performance include:

* Total assets reported for the year ended December 31, 2023 grew to $58.7 billion
when compared to $52.1 billion for the comparative period for 2022. This represents
a $6.7 billion or 13% increase in our asset base.

e Earnings per share (EPS) decreased by $2.06 or 111% to ($0.21) for the year versus an
(EPS) of $1.85 for the 2022 financial year.

e As at December 31, 2023, net book value per share closed at $13.51, a $0.47 de
crease over the corresponding period in 2022.

During the 2023 financial year, local markets continued to be challenged with high in-
flation rates, high interest rates, as well as the impact of continuing and escalating geo-
political tensions in several regions. This challenging landscape resulted in reduced in-
vestor confidence, tight liquidity and adversely impacted the local stock market with
the indices declining year over year for both the Main and Junior Markets. Several of
the Group’s business lines, were negatively impacted by these headwinds as reflected
in the Group’s 2023 results, however, the management team remains optimistic about
the future and our Group’s resilience. We also anticipate that our continued investment
in our integrated digital infrastructure MIL 2.0 during 2023, lays a solid foundation for
improved efficiency in our service delivery and value adding innovations to our clients
and our operations.

Operating Income
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OPERATING INCOME

Net interest income declined by 205% to ($326) million compared to $310 million for
financial year 2022. This decline in net interest income was mainly a result of higher in-
terest costs resulting from the Mayberry public bond issued in January 2023. Notwith-
standing the outturn, the results reflect continuous growth in interest income on loans,
investments, and promissory notes at amortized costs which grew 52% based on year
over year loan growth of $3.8 billion or 60%.

Net Interest Income
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Consulting fees & commission income grew by $12.5 million or 2% to $521 million as the

advisory business continues to provide optimised capital raising solutions to existing

and new clients. Despite delayed deals encountered during 2023, the Investment Bank-
ing unit executed on opportunities that arose and recorded private equity placements of
approximately US$10 million.
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Dividend income increased by 8% or $43.2

million representing higher pay-outs from
corporates for the period.

Net unrealized gains on investments at FVTPL decreased by $7.5 billion or 143% to ($2.2)
billion during 2023 from the Group’s investment in associates and financial instruments,
reflecting the sustained decline in the equity market over several quarters since 2022,
with the Main Market and Junior Market down 8.48% and 3.34% respectively.

Net foreign exchange gains increased by 113% or $110 million to $207 million during 2023
driven by an increase in cambio earnings by 16% primarily from improved spreads.

Net Trading Gains
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The major drivers of revenue for the year were dividend income $611 million, consulting
fees $521 million, net foreign exchange gains $207 million, net unrealised gains on invest-
ment $171 million, and net trading gains $111 million. This was followed by unrealised gain
on investment properties and other income accounting for $86 million, and $9 million,
respectively for the 2023 financial period.
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Net interest income and other revenues- 2023
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Net interest income and other revenues- 2022
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Revaluation

Higher funding costs of $1.6 billion were reported in 2023 for reverse repurchase agree-
ments and corporate papers when compared to $678 million for FY 2022. Other finance
costs of $256 million were higher by $199 million than that of the comparative period, due

to additional funding.

Share of profit from joint venture amounted to $833 million as compared to $21 million
for financial year 2022. The increase represents the Group’s share of investment property
revaluation gains from the investment property portfolio of the joint venture company, on
the completion of another major real estate development during 2023.
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OPERATING EXPENSES

Total operating expenses for the year ended 2023 decreased by 9% or $195 million to
$2.1 billion. Expenses reflecting notable increases over last year included: security costs
which increased by 78% attributable to increases in the minimum wage granted to that
industry during the period. Legal and professional fees higher by 74% due to additional
services procured for the review of organisation policies and internal controls. Computer
expenses increased by 39% due to increases in the rate of licenses fees and storage costs.
This position was offset by a 66% reduction in incentive fees due to losses incurred on the
assets managed by the Investment Manager. The Group also benefited from decreases in

travelling expenses and provision for expected credit losses by 55% and 146% respective-
ly, when compared to the prior year.

Operating Expenses
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Non Interest Expense
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TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Group reported total comprehensive loss of $1.4 billion for the year ended 2023
compared to total comprehensive income of $4.6 billion for the corresponding period
of 2022. This performance was primarily attributable to the recording of net unrealised
losses on investments in associates and financial instruments at fair value through profit
and loss (FVTPL) of $2 billion attributable to the fall in price during the year of key eqg-
uities on the stock market.

Total Comprehensive Income

36,000,000

45,000,000 $4,733,691

34,000,000

£3.000.000 $2,574175 £2.154.126

$£2 0:0:0.000 |
51,000, 000
i Restated - 2020 |

01,000,000 2019 . 2021 2022 2023

$(2.000,000) -5201,818

-$1,912,328

$(3.000,0003

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets reported for the year ended December 31, 2023 grew to $58.7 billion com-
pared to $52.1 billion for the comparative period for 2022. This represents a $6.7 bil-
lion or 13% growth in our asset base, mainly attributable to an increase in cash, and a
higher balance for investment securities. This was complemented by increases for loans
and other receivables, investment in joint ventures, promissory notes, and increased de-
ferred tax assets of $3.8 billion, $878 million, $107 million and $761 million, respectively.
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Total Assets and Liabilities
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MAJOR ASSET CATEGORIES

Cash resources, held for operational business, accumulated at year ended December 31,
2023 to $3.8 billion. This positioned the Group to take advantage of market opportuni-
ties. Cash for the year ended December 31, 2022 amounted to $2.7 billion.

2023 $3,827,534

2022 $2,732,187

2021 $1,282,456

Restated-
2020

$1,592,658

2019

$1,556,248

The Group’s promissory notes totalled $4.4 billion as of December 31, 2023, compared
to $4.3 billion for the prior year. This comprises Jamaican and United States dollar prom-
issory notes from customers. These are hypothecated against balances held for the cus-
tomers, registered mortgages and other properties.
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Promissory Notes

2023 $4,362,376

2022 $4,255,247

2021 $2,940,903

Restated-2020 $4,054,135

2019 $1,812,878

Loans and Receivables

$10,243,891

2022

2021

Restated-2020

2019

Restated -
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INVESTMENT IN
ASSOCIATES

Investment in associates at the end of 2023
was $17.1 billion, compared to $18 billion for
the prior comparative period. The Group
material associates at FVTPL at the end of
the reporting period, were namely, Supreme
Ventures Limited, Caribbean Producers (Ja-
maica) Limited, Lasco Financial Services
Limited, Ironrock Insurance Company Lim-
ited and Dolla Financial Services Limited.

INVESTMENT IN JOINT
VENTURES

Investment in joint ventures at the end of
2023 was $2.8 billion, compared to $1.9 bil-
lion for the prior comparative period. The
Group, through its subsidiary, Widebase
Limited holds equity in a joint venture oper-
ation. Joint ventures are entities over which
the Group has joint control and has rights
to the net assets of the investment.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s total investment properties
as at December 31, 2023 amounted to $2.1
billion compared to $2 billion for the prior
year. These represent various properties
that are owned by the Group and that are
being held for capital appreciation.

LIABILITIES

Total liabilities increased by $8.5 billion to
$33.9 billion. The growth in balance sheet
assets was funded primarily by increases in
loans payable by $4.8 billion or 51% attrib-
utable to the funds raised in the Mayberry
Bond IPO net of other loan repayments, in
addition to growth in securities sold under
repurchase agreements by 41%.

EQUITY

The Group recorded total equity of $24.8
billion, with the amount attributable to
shareholders of the parent being $16.2 bil-
lion. The unfavourable variance was offset
by an increase in translation reserves of $43
million to close at $129 million compared to
$85 million in the corresponding period.
This resulted in net book value per share
closing at $13.51, this compares to $13.98 for
the corresponding 2022 financial period.

J5$18,000,000 -
J$16,000,000 | J$15,421,367
J$14,000,000 | J$13,216,878
J$1,200,000
J$10,000,000
J$8,000,000
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J%$15,335,631

2019 Restated-2020
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Risk Management

Recognizing the paramount importance of risk management in safeguarding shareholder
value, Mayberry Group Limited (MGL) has taken significant strides to enhance its risk man-
agement practices. As part of this endeavour, the Company has adopted a forward-think-
ing approach, separating its risk team from the compliance team to sharpen its focus on
proactive risk mitigation strategies.

In 2023, some of the major risk events for the Jamaican economy included fluctuations
in global commodity prices, such as oil and food prices, which impacted Jamaica’s im-
port bill and inflation. Additionally, external factors like changes in international trade
policies and geopolitical tensions have affected the country’s exports and tourism sector.
Domestic challenges such as natural disasters might have also posed risks to Jamaica’s
economic stability during the year. Embracing a proactive stance towards risk manage-
ment, Mayberry has successfully steered through the challenges posed by these risks by
promptly identifying and addressing potential threats within its operational landscape.
This proactive approach not only ensures the resilience of the organization but also fos-
ters a culture of risk awareness and responsiveness at all levels.

Mayberry’s Risk Management Framework

Mayberry’s Risk Management Framework serves as a cornerstone for the organization’s
strategic business execution, underscoring the integration of risk management practic-
es into every facet of its operations. This comprehensive framework encompasses the
identification, assessment, treatment, monitoring, and reporting of primary risks, thereby
facilitating risk-reward optimization across the Company’s diverse portfolio of assets and
securities.

Integral to the Risk Management Framework is the robust governance structure, un-
derpinned by the principles of transparency, accountability, and consistency. Mayber-
ry adopts a three lines of defence approach, delineating clear roles and responsibilities
among management of business lines, independent Compliance and Risk functions, and
Internal Audit. This collaborative governance model ensures effective risk oversight and
mitigation while aligning organizational objectives with stakeholder interests.
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RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
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Risk Management Governance

Mayberry’s risk management framework adopts a three lines of defence approach to
governing risk, which promotes transparency, accountability, and consistency through
the clear identification and segregation of roles: (i) management of business lines, (ii)
independent Compliance and Risk functions, and (iii) Internal Audit. The three lines of
defence collaborate with each other in structured forums and processes to bring various
perspectives together and steer the organization towards outcomes that are in the cli-
ents’ best interests and create economic value.

The first line of defence is made up of management of business lines. It is the respon-
sibility of first-line management to identify and manage risks. This involves, at an oper-
ational level, the day-to-day effective management of risks in accordance with agreed
risk policies, risk appetite, and controls, including primary responsibility for compliance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

The second line of defence involves the Compliance and Risk function, which provides
independent oversight and assurance to manage the market, credit, compliance, repu-
tational, and operational risks in @ manner consistent with the company’s risk appetite.
This establishes policies and guidelines for risk assessment and risk management, which
contributes to the controls and tools to manage, measure, and mitigate risks taken by
the organization, and monitors compliance. It is also responsible for producing indepen-
dent management information and risk management reporting for Senior Management,
the Board, and regulatory authorities. The Senior Risk Manager reports to the Chief
Executive Officer and the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) of the Board of Direc-
tors. The incumbent has regular and unrestricted access to the ALCO Committee of the
Board and to the Board of Directors to address risks and issues identified through daily
activities.

The third line of defence is the Internal Audit function, which provides independent
and objective assurance to the Board and Senior Management on the effectiveness of
controls across various functions and operations, including risk management and gov-
ernance practices.

All three levels report to the Board, either directly or through the Assets and Liabilities
Committee and Audit Committee.

Figure 1. Mayberry’s Three Lines of Defence Framework
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Strategic Alignment and Continuous Improvement

Mayberry remains steadfast in its commitment to integrating risk management practices
seamlessly into its strategic decision-making processes. By analysing and assessing new
products and projects through the lens of enterprise risk management, the Company en-
sures that risk considerations are embedded within its innovation and growth initiatives.

Furthermore, Mayberry recognizes the evolving digital landscape and the associated
risks therein. As the Group continues to expand its digital footprint, particular emphasis
is placed on upholding exemplary standards of data protection and privacy. This proac-
tive approach underscores Mayberry’s dedication to maintaining trust and confidence,
both internally and externally.

Key Risks

Mayberry acknowledges the diverse array of risks inherent in its business model, ranging
from financial and operational risks to strategic and reputational concerns. To address
these risks effectively, the group employs an enterprise risk assessment mechanism, en-
abling timely identification and mitigation of emerging threats.

The key risks and risk management tools are summarized in the table shown below.
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Financial Risk is the potential loss of income for shareholders, investors or other finan-
cial stakeholders due to the company’s investment or financial activities. Risk is innate in
any business enterprise and good risk management is an essential aspect of running a
successful business. Financial risk is categorize into three broad categories: market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market Risk- Market risk refers to the uncertainty in market conditions, such as changes

in asset prices, interest rates, or currency exchange rates. The Risk Department has taken

FINANCIAL a practical approach in collaborating with the Markets & Trading and the Research De-

RISK partment in assessing market risk. MGL assesses market risk exposure through various
metrics and risk models such as Value at Risk (VaR), sensitivity analysis, among others.

Credit Risk- Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty fails to meet their
financial obligations. MGL establishes counterparty limits to identify, monitor and assess
credit risk exposure. We also use the five C’s metric to evaluate creditworthiness of cli-
ents’ character, capacity, capital, collateral and the current conditions.

Liquidity Risk- Liquidity risk is the potential loss from the company’s inability to meet
short-term obligations when due. This risk is managed by asset-liability management,
cash management and the monitoring of the companies Liquidity Coverage Ratio.

Mayberry’s strategic risks are those associated with changes in the economic and reg-
ulatory environment that have the potential to disrupt the company’s ability to achieve
STRATEGIC its strategic goals and objectives. As the company continues to face emerging strategic
RISK risks, the risk management team will ensure that it protects shareholder value through
continuous environmental scanning and by making risk a key component of the compa-

ny’s strategic planning activities.

Mayberry’s operational risk are those associated with the loss arising from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people, systems, or external events. At Mayberry, we maintain a
OPERATIONAL system of company-wide policies and procedures, clear lines of accountability and sepa-
RISK ration of duties. We also implement an effective internal audit and control mechanism to
deter or reduce risks identified.

Mayberry’s privacy risk refers to the potential harm or negative impact that can result

from the unauthorized or inappropriate use, disclosure, or collection of personal informa-

PRIVACY tion. At Mayberry we mantain a Privacy Risk Register and ensure that all Privacy Risks

RISK faced are properly addressed with appropriate controls put in place. All our staff mem-
bers are also trained in data protection and privacy.

Mayberry considers Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) factors in their in-
ESG vestment decisions to mitigate risks and promote sustainable practices. They manage
ESG risks by conducting thorough due diligence on potential investments. This approach

FACTORS helps Mayberry to achieve both financial returns and positive societal impact.

In conclusion, Mayberry’s proactive approach to risk management, coupled with its ro-
bust Risk Management Framework and governance structure, positions the Group well to
navigate uncertainties and capitalize on opportunities in an ever-changing business land-
scape. By integrating risk management into its strategic objectives and fostering a culture
of risk awareness, Mayberry reaffirms its commitment to safeguarding shareholder value
and sustaining long-term success.

@ 2023 ANNUAL REPORT @



B
es are our greatest asset. By emb
nd inclusion, we unlock the full pot

rkforce and drive sustainable growt

- S& ella, CEO of Micro










DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS - 2023 YEAR IN REVIEW
SALES DEPARTMENT

The year 2023 presented a set of unique challenges for the Sales Department. Amidst
a backdrop of economic uncertainties and a downturn in the Jamaican equity market,
our department navigated through a year that tested our resilience and adaptability. The
high-interest rates and market volatility significantly impacted the overall performance
of the market.

The department began the year with a team of 34 advisors and strategically streamlined
to a core group of 20 high-performing individuals. This transition was crucial in maintain-
ing a focus on quality and efficiency. Although we faced challenges in expanding our cli-
ent base significantly, we believe the groundwork laid this year will yield positive results
in the future.

The Sales Department recorded a total revenue of $255 million, which was below the pre-
vious year’s figures. This outcome, while reflective of the challenging market conditions,
also sets a realistic foundation for our future strategies. Notably, one of our advisors
achieved remarkable success by exceeding their revenue target, with individual perfor-
mances ranging from $11.2 million to $45.6 million. This achievement demonstrates the
potential and capability within our team. These results have provided us with valuable
insights and learnings that we are actively incorporating into our future strategies.

As we look towards 2024, our focus is on leveraging the opportunities that lie ahead.
With plans to increase our Sales staff, we are poised to enhance our market presence
and client engagement significantly. The comprehensive training provided through the
Mayberry Corporate University will be instrumental in equipping our new hires to meet
the challenges and targets of the coming year.

The increase in the number of advisors is a strategic move to capitalize on emerging
market opportunities. We are optimistic that with a larger, well-trained, and technologi-
cally equipped team, we will be better positioned to navigate the market dynamics and
achieve our objectives.

The year 2023 was indeed challenging, but it was also a year of learning and strategic
realignment. The Sales Department remains committed to excellence and is focused on
adapting to the changing market environment. With our increased advisor capacity and
the insights gained from this year, we are looking forward to a more fruitful 2024, marked
by growth and enhanced client service.

ASSET MANAGEMENT

Income from Asset Management fees saw a slight decline in year-over-year performance,
mainly due to the prevailing poor performance of the stock market throughout FY 2023.
However, there was a notable enhancement in the management and performance of
pensions, which significantly mitigated the impact of the overall market downturn for
the year. We are confident that our managed portfolios present a substantial opportunity
for performance improvement, playing a crucial role in bolstering the company’s future
performance.
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INVESTMENT BANKING

In 2023, the Investment Banking Department remained committed to providing en-
hanced financial solutions to our clients. We devised several financial market solutions
for our clients, assisting them with debt and equity capital raises. Furthermore, we have
advanced numerous financial advisory transactions for the benefit of our clients, which
will result in successful capital raises in the near future.

Our strategic goals remain centred around our core business, while placing a renewed
emphasis on process modernization. We will be able to expand our brokerage and finan-
cial advisory services in the future thanks to these initiatives.

In a bid to combat inflation, Central Banks around the world maintained relatively high
policy rates. A high-interest rate environment is usually an indicator of poor stock mar-
ket performance. However, the Jamaica Stock Exchange showed resilience with the Main
Market Index declining just by 0.03% while the Junior Market Index declined by 0.01%.

The debt market was very fervent due to the high-interest rate environment. We success-
fully closed a first-of-its-kind public bond offering for J$6.3B in January of 2023 issued
by Mayberry Investments Limited. We were also able to raise approximately J$12.05 bil-
lion in private debt placements for new and existing clients. The department also contin-
ued to provide quality advisory services to new and existing clients whom we guided to
higher levels of growth and development.

In general, the department hopes to make a lasting impression in 2024 by continuing
to be a major force in the financial markets and providing suitable financial solutions to
help our clients choose wisely when they make investments. Thanks to technological ad-
vancements, we have also discovered novel approaches to connect with new customers
both domestically and abroad.

We remain optimistic that our strategic growth plans will be a success as we continue to
execute these initiatives and ensure that our clients remain our first priority. Accordingly,
we expect to see a significant uptick in capital market transactions in 2024.

TREASURY & TRADING

Overview of Financial Year 2023

During the financial year 2023, several factors impacted the economic environment, in-
fluencing both the domestic and global financial markets. Chief among these factors
were inflationary pressures across the globe, with Central banks in response to these in-
flationary pressures implementing policies that led to an increase in interest rates which
may have significantly impacted investment opportunities for both businesses and con-
sumers. Heightened political and military tensions in the Middle East and Europe also
played a critical role during the financial year which created uncertainty across the glob-
al economy.
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Global Bonds Performance

Throughout the year, the Federal Reserve Bank (Fed) continued to increase interest rates,
although at a slower pace than in 2022. Cumulatively, the Federal Reserve Bank raised
rates by 225bps during the year 2023.

Emerging markets’ bond prices declined as a result of continual inflationary pressures,
geopolitical tensions and volatility in the US banking sector. Price declines were seen as
most liquid Jamaica, Barbados, Bermuda and Trinidad bonds. However, the positive rat-
ing affirmations for Bermuda and positive changes in the outlook for Jamaica, Barbados,
and Trinidad mitigated the impact of the rising interest rate on bond prices.

Treasury and Trading
The Treasury and Trading Department manages liquidity and trading activities for the
Company encompassing cambio trading, fixed income and equity trading.

Monetary policy by the Bank of Jamaica continued to impact liquidity resulting in con-
tinued tightening of liquidity in the money market while high interest rates impacted
funding costs. Our funding portfolio is made up of short and long-term borrowing ar-
rangements under repurchase agreements, lines of credit and bond raises.

Net Interest Income
The performance in net interest income was influenced by the high interest rate environ-
ment which led to margin compression due to the higher cost of funding experienced
during the financial year.

Interest income for 2023 was $2.1 billion against $1.2 billion for 2022, an increase of 73%.
Drivers for the growth in interest income were a 136% increase in income on client debit
balances, increased bond income and loans.

Interest expense for 2023 was $1.7 billion and represents an increase of 170% over 2022
interest expense of $645 million. The increase in expenses was driven primarily by in-
creased bond expenses, client debit balances and higher rates on repurchase agree-
ments.

As a result of the significant increase in interest expenses, net interest income decreased
to $322 million representing a 41% decline over the previous year’s $547 million.

Cambio Trading

Net foreign exchange gains for the Company recorded a 84% increase from $110 million
to $202 million growth of $92 million during the year. Trading revenue for the cambio
unit was $257 million, a 16.3 % increase in revenue over the previous year’s figure of $221
million due to increased trading volumes across the USD, GBP, CAD and Euro currencies
despite contractions in the spread.
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Equity Trading

High-interest rates, and constrained liquidity conditions coupled with low investor con-
fidence resulted in low trading activity on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE). Stock
market activities remained bearish as the high-interest rate environment reduced the
attractiveness of stocks relative to lower-risk money market instruments. This is evident
in only four (4) public equity issuances on the Jamaica Stock Exchange for FY2023.

Equity revenue for the department was $45 million versus $40 million in the prior year,
an increase of 12%.

ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE

2023 saw the Finance and Accounts Department supporting major company initiatives
including the group reorganisation and the MIL 2.0 digitization programme. Mayberry
Group Limited is now the holding company for the Mayberry group of companies effec-
tive December 2023 and the new regulatory and financial reporting requirements con-
sequent on these changes were marshalled successfully during the period in preparation
for the new structure.

The MIL 2.0 back office financial management system continues to be an organisation
effort, and further implementation of the new system occurred during the period with
many changes for financial reporting and more to come in 2024.

The Department maintained its high compliance rate with regulatory compliance report-
ing during the period and the team remains committed to continuously improving work
methods and output to improve the information available for decision making.

HUMAN RESOURCES

In 2023, our HR initiatives which catered to the unique needs and culture of the or-
ganisation, achieved significant milestones. This included top-tier talent acquisitions se-
cured through successful recruitment efforts, training and development initiatives that
further enhanced employee skills and knowledge. This contributing to improved overall
performance and employee engagement programs that have helped to foster a more
positive work environment. Of particular note, were our new Employee Safety programs
which educated employees on safety protocols and best practices. Our Employee Safety
Training programs included: Emergency Response Training which guided responding to
emergencies, including fire drills, evacuation procedures, and first aid training. These pro-
grams are essential for maintaining a safe work environment, preventing accidents, and
fostering a culture of awareness and responsibility among employees.

These endeavours collectively contributed to a positive and productive workplace, fos-
tering employee growth, and aligning the workforce with organisational goals and values.
Despite challenges in addressing turnover rates and balancing well-being with business
objectives, HR demonstrated resilience, implementing strategies for sustained organisa-
tional growth.

Heading into 2024, our focus will shift towards HR Technology integration, incorporat-
ing streamlined solutions for improved processes. Additionally, we will prioritize Men-
tal Health Support for our team, offering programs and resources to enhance overall
well-being.
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MARKETING

In 2023, the Marketing Department at Mayberry continued to enhance our brand’s visi-
bility and engagement across digital platforms, further establishing our authority in the
financial sector. Despite the evolving market conditions, we remained committed to de-
livering innovative and effective marketing strategies that resonate with our target audi-
ences.

Building on the momentum of previous years, our digital marketing strategy in 2023
focused on expanding our reach, increasing audience engagement, and optimizing user
experience across all digital channels. Key highlights include:

e Mayberry Virtual Investor Forum: The forum maintained its position as a cornerstone
of our digital strategy, achieving significant growth in viewership and engagement. We
successfully hosted numerous sessions, resulting in a YouTube viewership of 356,032
and a 37% rise in YouTube subscribers compared to the previous year.

e Social Media Growth: Our consistent and targeted social media campaigns have led
to a remarkable increase in our online community, with a 237.4% growth in followers
across platforms like Facebook, Instagram, and LinkedIn. Our content strategy, fo-
cused on providing value and promoting interaction, has significantly boosted our
brand’s online presence.

e Content Marketing: We have intensified our efforts in content marketing, producing a
wide range of materials such as articles, infographics, and videos that underline May-
berry’s thought leadership in the financial industry. This content has not only attracted
new followers but also deepened the engagement with our existing audience.

In 2023, the Marketing Department continued to strengthen Mayberry’s brand identity
and corporate social responsibility:

* The Mayberry Foundation expanded its outreach and support to the community, fo-
cusing on education, sports, health, community and youth development.

 Customer Experience and Satisfaction: We have launched several initiatives aimed at
refining the customer journey and enhancing satisfaction levels. Feedback mecha-
nisms and customer engagement strategies were implemented to gather insights and
foster a more personalized relationship with our clientele.

As we move into 2024, the Marketing Department is poised to continue our path of inno-
vation and excellence. We plan to explore new digital platforms, leverage data analytics
more effectively, and further personalize our customer engagement strategies.

The year 2023 was a period of significant growth and achievement for Mayberry’s Mar-
keting Department. By staying ahead of industry trends and maintaining a clear focus on
our brand values and objectives, we have successfully enhanced our market position and
set the stage for future success.
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RESEARCH

The Research team’s purpose is to inform and educate our external clients while also as-
sisting the Company’s revenue-generating areas. To reach our goal, the department pro-
vided timely reports to our external customers, as well as the best advice to assist them
in making investment decisions. These efforts are assisted by our valuation and technical
models and reports, such as Daily Recommendations and Daily Picks, which provide in-
formation and synopses of a wide range of financial assets.

We also keep our internal clientele informed by sharing reviews and other publications.
The department continues to examine various routes and methods that can help create
value in the capital markets.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The Information Technology (IT) Department focused on Mayberry Investments Limit-
ed’s digitization and cyber security initiatives for 2023. We introduced live Cambio Trad-
ing to our client portals and enhancements to improve efficiency and customer satisfac-
tion. We also made significant improvements to our Cyber Security posture to protect
our data and assets from cyber threats.

We contracted the services of highly experienced cyber security consultants to provide
24/7 monitoring via our Security Operations Centre. This enables the detection of any
signs of malicious activity, using advanced tools and techniques to detect and respond
to cyber-attacks.

During 2023, we enhanced our client-facing platforms to allow Mayberry clients to con-
duct live Cambio trading online. This resulted in a more user-friendly and streamlined
process that fully automates the workflow and eliminates any prior bottlenecks in this
process.

Several other internal processes were migrated from our legacy platforms to our current
cloud-based platform to significantly aid in the efficiency of legacy processes. Enhance-
ments were also made to client statements to enhance their security and provide an audit
trail of statement generation.

Our Data Team continued to grow our online reporting systems, using data available in
our Data Warehouse, to empower decision-makers with concise and useful data.

There was a significant increase in cyber threat activity within the Caribbean region in
2023. Whilst this was a cause for concern, we used it as a trigger to enhance our cyber
security posture to minimize the likelihood of any present or future attack on our sys-
tems.

Transitioning into 2024, we continue to emphasize our attention on the migration to
cloud-based technologies and the digitization of our remaining legacy processes. Our
goal remains the provision of exceptional customer experience through the effective
digitization of our systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Risk Department at Mayberry Investments Limited (MIL) has been instrumental in
overseeing and managing the various risks inherent in our operations throughout the
reporting period. The role of the Risk Department involves identifying, analysing, and
managing risks that could potentially impact the operations, finances, or reputation of
Mayberry Investment Limited.

The specific responsibilities of the Risk Department include identifying potential risks
that the organisation may face and analysing the potential impact and likelihood of
each risk. The risk department also works with other departments in the organisation
to develop and implement strategies for managing risks and provides regular reports to
senior management and the board on the organisation’s risk exposure.

During the 2023 financial year, the risk department completed the following tasks:

* Completed the Fraud risk assessment.

» Completed the regulatory semi-annual stress test and quarterly duration test, all of
which were within the regulatory requirements.

« Updated and completed the AML/CTF risk assessment methodology and report.
* Reviewed the company’s Enterprise Risk Assessment and Key Risks.
 Completed risk review on prospective third-party vendors.

* Aided with the annual audit to provide Value-At-Risk and other assistance with the
financial notes.

* Provide reports to the Board as necessary to enable risk-based decision making.

* Collaborate with industry peers and participate in industry forums to stay informed
about emerging risks.

The Risk Department at Mayberry Investments Limited played a pivotal role in maintain-
ing a robust risk management framework during the reporting period. Our proactive ap-
proach to risk identification, assessment and mitigation is aligned with our commitment
to safeguarding the interests of our stakeholders. As we look ahead, we remain dedicat-
ed to adapting and enhancing our risk management strategies to address the evolving
risk landscape and support the long-term sustainability of MIL.
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COMPLIANCE & CLIENT ONBOARDING

The Compliance Department plays a crucial role in overseeing the company’s compli-
ance risk, which involves the potential for legal or regulatory penalties, financial setbacks,
or damage to reputation arising from non-compliance with applicable laws, regulations,
codes of conduct, and standards of good practice. Aligned with the strategic goals of
Mayberry Investments Limited, the Compliance Department is dedicated to ensuring
strict adherence to relevant regulations and policies, striving for a comprehensive 100%
compliance rate across the entire enterprise.

The department’s mission is to safeguard the Company, its Board, senior management,
staff, and all stakeholders from Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and regulatory risks. This is
achieved by establishing and implementing adequate controls and policies while foster-
ing a culture of compliance throughout the organisation. The core values upheld by the
Unit include integrity, reliability, ethical conduct, high expectations, and accountability.

In the 2023 financial year, the department’s strategic objectives were grouped into four
broad categories: Financial, Customer, Internal Business Processes, and Learning, Growth,
and Development. Key accomplishments during this period include ongoing enhance-
ments to the internal AML/CFT (Combating the Financing of Terrorism) training program.
This resulted in all new hires receiving training within their first two weeks a 95% partic-
ipation rate from staff and a 100% participation rate from the Board of Directors in the
annual AML/CFT training.

Efficiency improvements were realized in client onboarding, client relationship manage-
ment, and transaction monitoring through the strategic use of technology, resulting in a
positive impact on the Know Your Customer (KYC) compliance rate.

Notably, there were no adverse AML/CFT findings resulting from regulatory examinations
conducted throughout the year, reflecting the department’s successful efforts in main-
taining a robust compliance framework.

DATA PROTECTION

The Office of the Data Protection Officer (DPO) at Mayberry Investments Limited (MIL),
established in 2022, demonstrated notable progress in 2023. Key accomplishments in-
cluded the allocation and monitoring of data protection nonconformities. The office com-
pleted extensive training for managers and the soft implementation of key policies such
as Third-Party Management, Incident Management, and Privacy Notice. The office suc-
cessfully assessed two virtual data protection training platforms, having chosen Design
Privacy for future use, and conducted foundational data protection training across var-
ious staff groups. Additionally, the office responded effectively to a data breach in July
2023, managing Data Subject Access Requests (DSARSs) related to the incident. The DPO
attended several data protection seminars to keep abreast of current requirements in the
regulatory environment and achieved the ISO 27001:2022 Information Security Manage-
ment Systems certification.

In its role, the DPQO’s Office ensures MIL’s compliance with the Data Protection Act, 2020,
acting as a liaison with the Information Commissioner and a contact point for data sub-
jects. Key initiatives included preparing for registration with the Information Commis-
sioner, implementing compliance frameworks, and fostering a robust privacy culture. This
included the completion of a Record of Processing Assessment (RoPA) for several key
units, aided by legal advisors, to enhance privacy and data protection practices across
the organisation.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT @)



At the of _every successfulorgs are its
- When we empower indi , als from alFwalks

h %f life to ¢ontr g___-thetr:uni‘que”fﬁ'é'ﬁ_s we unlock

endless pOSSIbllltleS for innovation and growth.’
- Sheryl Sandberg, COO ché book




Gary Peart

- fvowsp Limited_ =

Konrad Limited

Mayberﬁdanaged Client Accounts

The M:_'éfb'_erry Foundation Limited - 12,600,996

Genevieve Berry 10,578,903

Christine Wong 8,072,273

—_——

6,481,590

Mayberry Investments Limited Pension Scheme

Mayberry Managed Clients Account 1,600,372

Mayberry Individual Retirement Scheme 1,000,000

Doris Berry : 732,262

A+ Plus Medical Centre = e 500,000

Mayberry Staff Investment Club 115,772

Est. Maurice Berry 10
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FinSec Limited

Kayree Berry-Teape 2,860,849

Andrea HoSang 2,356,999

Kristen Raymore-Reynolds 1,000,100

Dan H. Theoc 2,840

Karen Mitchell 1,000,100

Josephine Bennett-Darmand 1,000,855

Rachel Kirlew 1,000,100

Andrea Whittaker 1,000,100

Damian Whylie 1,000,100

Okelia Parredon 629,100
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Tha University of The Wast Indies Caribbean
Meurcschences Symposium (CANS)

Suprarme Venturas Racing and Citizens Action for Free and
Entartalnmant Limited Falr Elnctions (CAFFE)
Maticnal Gymnastics Federalion Superstars of
of Jamaica ; d a Port Antonio
CB Group UWI 5K Run with ~Ab .'"J Jamaica Amateur Body Bullding

Passion Kids and Fitness Association

Aguatic Swimming ﬁ
Associstion of lamalca

Salvation Army Easlamm
Drivision

5t George’ :‘

College

5 huuc-Hunn'
Track & Field

il s € 5 g'

Vocatlonal Education

Winsoma ‘

Wishes for Kids

Mirrses Assooiation of
Jamsica (MAT) ﬁ

Project Star

Wamen's Ministey
Depariment

1s=a Trust
Foundation

’Hamby Bay
Baptist Church
Euwdding Farmers
W\

Jamaica Slympic
Association

Jamaica
Constabulary Force

=

L\

Project Howana
Sunshine Girls Camipiamn Cnlln-nn

Food For The Poor

Tru-Juice 5K
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CORPORATE

v SOCIAL

RESPONSIBILITY

LUl TS

Every citizen has the potenbal to impact Jamaican society as a whole
Whether their contribution 5 positive or negative, and whether they
hawve the opportunity to realize their potential for good will depend
heavily upon their enwvironment Understanding the walua of
indepandence as a whola, the Mayberry Foundation remains focused
on doing its part in creating an envircnment that encourages thao

Kayree Berry- Teape, divelopment of Jamaican citizens no matter thedir origin o Jourmy In
CED, life, We are striving towards secing & Jamaica where all citizens are
Mayberry Foundation equipped to achieve their independence and individuality on a path to

prosperity. To that end, we continue to champion all our stakeholders
no matter their socio-economic, religious or athnic backgrounds, this
goezs for our valued custarmers and the general public. Together, wia
willl continue working towards crgating an enviranment conducive 1o
the progression of the Jamalcan people

Our CSR goals include:

of PRainforcing our com valuai
o Raalising our mission
of  Enzuring that Mayberry Investments Limited iz driven by long-term
succeis while providing benefits for stakehobders: our emploees,
F customars, suppliers, shareholders, and our communities
Parforming competitively (and profitably) while adhering to ethical

'\ Busingis practices
r o Striving towards sustainability, emphasising economic, social,

‘__’ efvironmental, and #thical goals n our Budneds ackivitias
4 :

For more than 35 years, our Corporate Social
Responsibility extends to health, education, youth,
community development and financial literacy.

<




WINSOME WISHES FOR KIDS -
“THE BEST OF ME” STUDENT-CENTRED
MENTAL HEALTH WORKSHOPS

Hn'r'laprr.' wad prowd 1o he amangil the aviociale ipanian
lar The Wmeome Wisthes For Eide - “The Desi
ludent-cenlred menlal heslth workihaps, The

Withes Foundalion % awarensss o
chall&nges il by edu &l ha lirmiilacl
tasals thak are availablbe Lo en tha learning experignce of
ehddran wilth igecial lsarmning challangad

BERRY BROTHERS
GIVE BACK

Foundaisan M - 3 e



THE SALVATION
ARMY- EASTERN
DIVISION

Thie Mayberry Foundation

on their

ACROSS JAMAICA

The Magharry Foundabicn it phasdasd

WWK KIDS READ \\ ’ 7 o U

b @ perir d wHth  Winsoms
Whinhss WA Kids to ipansar "Tha
W RS Fowd  ASIGRs ETap Tt
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imprachible® Braghl emiles ware e
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Camluisd e e Cevadbdne Bod
L 1 o Jamaicn, Phillp ymaen
r Maginarey bressatrrarms Liritad, |

Hiirppg-  oapibreeng bt i gt

I e s el st Wil
Popr-lo-Peer rrader, Jalssl  Samm ared
lirandon HibEsrt- King oo Shudent
sl Ambr [arrott- Deparfy Head Boy &

Hiregoion Codlags

PROJECT HOSANA -
A Fl W1 REPUBLIC

Haybarry Invastmonts Limited |3 ploased to join the
Adwocates Metwork in championing citioen participation
for Jamalca's Bopubdic, We are proud to support Bho "4 Fi
Wi Republic® campalgn, which alms D smposwor
Jamakcans fo shape the future of owr country,

Picfuresl hire e Kipres foery-Tosps, CREOL Mayherry Fousslalion
Romales Hamifion Co-CRapman, dghsncaler MHefwork, Ghemar Fryan-
‘Fouth Ambakaador & Directo. Aovocdtes Metwork, Morash Sukes, Do
Spephermi, Dosna Hartis, Chari Hyolt and Dankeile Archid Dineciod
dafvecibad Mabwcrh, D Opé AdikEs Peimer- GEVCSED  Abuss
Coceringlor, Bey. Jakon Downer- len of God SAgaims Viobnee L Abine
Hiowalabis Grand- GEY'Chikd Abues tmam, and Dr &Anea Pering So-Chalk
o My Eaghi




BACK TO SCHOOL
SPONSORSHIP

MIL FOUNDATION
DONATES $15 MILLION
TO THE SUNSHINE GIRLS

Fawundation and Suprems Venlur
hands to honour the remarkab
af the Sunshine Girli at the necent
o i [
recejwed imvesimaent
Irvestments LEd walued af 1
respect for thedr axtraordinary perfarmances

N By B

DONATES TO FOOD J
FOR THE POOR |

The Maybesrry Foundstion's gererous Sonaticn
of sarvers and computers (o Food for The Poor
JEMABCE Marks 5 pheotal sbep bn supporting our

Island-wide profacts.

EiFitg & #ecdsl Dhol0 OO, GedioEibg BolEdaonss Fos

Fobd Fod The Poot JiErmaili el Hafbhé & &

Duirrel-Rine, Markebing and Drvsiopmanl Hanager, Crkig '
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Iremidments Lid, came logether o wymboiim oo ahared

emmErment bk makng & lasting mpact on clE

comeranitiet  theough  echnology,  sducaiion, s
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MIL FOUNDATION
SUPPORTS STGC
ATHLETES

HMaybarry Invesbmanis Limiled prouedly
fupparted the 5 Gearge's Collage Track and
Frinled T s L Tg | CRPRFIr, e
culitanding athleles were hanouwred For their
incradible  schievements Chaoughoul Chae
LEARGR Thite rmaclals regarmkank 1273
hard-Taught victodras atl the Chafmpd gamas
ared elthar aparting evenis

MIL DONATES TO
MEDICAL STUDENT

Captured in these keartlelt moments are
Deacon Ryan Poralto, our compassionate
tesrms, MIL Foundation CED Kayree
Berry-Teaps, Desires ‘Whesler, Senior
Marketing Officer, and the inspiring
Donmovan Sparks, & dedicated Medicsl
Btudent at LWL Through this donation,
Donmovan o set to embark on o fjourney
filled with cpportunities, making strides
In his mmedical studies snd schieving
remarkable milestones.

MIL, SVL, STEWARTS
-~ AND WISYNCO
SUPPORT CAFFE

Mayharry Ivvesbments Limlted teamasd op  weikhy
Supreme Yentures Limited, Stewart's Automotive
Group, and WISYNCD 0 eandarsing Citizens Action for
Free and Falr {(CAFFE) and thelr umnwavering
gammitmant to ansuring the inbegeity of owr natisnal
ProCasiEs

From ef-right; Antom Thompeon, Chairran ol Campicn Collega, Chrivigpher Bary, Erecuihve Chairman ol Haghsery Inwegtmesty Dmed, Gracs
Busbon, Frincipsl of Campion College. Jackis Shewart Lechisr, Managng DEecior of SSewarts Aubomaobye Groun, Peber MoConnsil. Managing
D eros of Tig Sk e Wil Maddood ChaeEman of Wi ynos Codn




STGC MONSIGNOR
GLADSTONE AWARD

HATS QFF o our Incredible Exescutlive Chabnman,
Chridtopher Bairyl He rmecelved the predbigious
Mankignor Gladstone Wilkon Awards from hin alma
mater, St Gaarge’s College, alongeide Ris padts Deacon
Dawald Tai and Merman Athiss, wha "have all given
sxcellent garvice Lo the STGCOBA &nd the wider dacsaly
in the frelds af banking, business, and finance.”

NURSES ASSOCIATION
OF JAMAICA

Mayberry Fowndation CED Eayres Barry-Teaps
joined geests 8t the Nurses Asaociation of
Jamiita Chilibmat Lenchesn 1o spraad holiday
chesr and goodwill. The Fowndation was Ehrilled
Lo fuppart with & 3150000 denation, helping te
make the esvenl a swccess, in henowr of owr
Filirded Auries  wha've glven theis &l e
healthcare

MAYBERRY SUPPORT
JCF NETEALL TEAM

Mayberry Investments Limited was a proud
spomsor of the Jemalca Constabulary Forcs's
Folce Sports Councll, helping the Metball
team shoot for the stars b the United States; a
donation meant ko help them score big tims
an the global stage!




FINANCIAL
LITERACY

The pourngy o financial mdependence demands of us all great
dadication, focus and discipling, amang athar virtues we hopa fo
instil in ourselves and the greater commumnity. The team ak
Mayberry feals blessed to be allowed to use our resources for the
linancral bettermant of our stakeholders whether they ba
customers or members of the general EIIJDhC.

CHir BEam has proven themselvas to be innovators, constantly
redefining the landscape of the financial world through owr
efforts bo connect with the Jamaican people through digital
channgls,

Most notably our Investor Forum, now a hybrid event, conbinues
IO @Rgage INVeSTors 1IN PErson angd across the inbernal, delniering
valuable insights and hard-hitting facts about the local and
global markets, equipping investors with the knowledge nesded
o make nforrmed decisions,

With the considerable growth of ocur online platform and the
increasing authority of our brand within the hinancial space, we
ara more optimistic than ever that Mayberry 15 on track to guide
the everyday Jamaican to a state of financial independence and
general wellness

Cheers to the future and the blessings to come!
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FORUM

HIGHLIGHTS

\

MARCH
Jamalkca Producers
Group

FEBRUARY
German Ship Repair

Colonel Martin E Rickman, CEQ, and Charles Johnsten, o
Deputly Chairman Cerman Ship Pepair Jemaica Lid P
joined the panel in February and tpoke on the F
development project which B sxpecisd (o make &
staiemant in the private ecior

'
e X

™
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Mayberry Group Limited's Virkual Investor Update Series
stands as & hallmark for Irvestor education in Jamaica. Hosted
by Imdustry experts led by Dan Theoo, SWP of Imvestment
Banking, the series offers weekly reviews of companies listed
on the Jamalcs Stock Exchange, providing crucial inskghts into
their performance. Through this platfosm, Mayberry keeps
nvestars infarmed about market trends, economéc highlights,
and Eop investrent opportunities. The vistual format ensures
convenient access to digestible information, promoting
nvestor education and fostering a deeper understanding of
the fimancial market. By esngaging with expert panelists,
wiewers receive guldance, clarity, snd debumking of moyths
sssociated with investing, thus empowering them to make
informed financial decislons, Udmately, Mayberry's albm is to
positively transform  lives through  lasting  relationships,
guiding investors like parents in their jousney towards Financial
grawth and success

JANUARY

Ministry of Finance

Dir. the Honowrable Migel Clarke, Minister of Finance and Public
Service was an estesmed guest on our Irvestor Forum where

hie shared imsights into how the Jamadcan ecoRomy recowered
sgainst all cdds following the COVID-19 pandemic }

MARCH )
Jamaica Broiler Group

Growp  President and CEG of Jamaica Broiler Group,
Christopher Levy, shares lens with 5VP, Investment Banking,
Dan Theoo [left], and Executive Chalmman, Christopher Berry
[right], after discussimg JEG's performance in both regional
and internaticnal markets.
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FORUM

MAY

Lumber Depot

JUNE

N Project Star

(From left to rightl Pards Lew Ayea Jr, Vice President of the
Private Sector Organlsation of lamalca {(PS0J), alongsida
Christophar Berry, Ewxocutive Chalrman of Maybesry
Investments Liméted; ®elth Duncan, Co-Chairman of Project
STaR; and ary Peart, CED, Mayberry Invesiments Limeted,
hare bans as Mayberry plodges tholr support with a contributhon
of $b0 millon ta Project STAR.

Alsm, Mz Saffery Brown, PFroject STAR"S ostoemed diroclor was
thirilled to share thelr progress through a dedicated focus on
soonomic  desclopment, they have achiovod roemarkabdo
sutficioncy through trading and smployment opportunitios
wWith a strong emphoszsis on private sector-led employment,
Projoct 5TAR has condscted naumenpas fraindng sessions in
parinership with HEART, ompowering comimaunity masmibers
with ossential interview skills and sesume-writing axpertise.
Thay provide invaluable suppori with documentatson and maona,

JUNHE
Caribbean
Producers
Jamaica

Mark Hart, Executive Chabrmam
el Toim Twbar Executive
Co-Chalrran bt snnounced that
CPJ's saledlorcs has axpaclanced
a remarkable surge al 0% CRJ
has bBeen dillgently #orking of
imtrodwecing new produects and

eparding its product lines, and
ons particular produck kas been
generaling A sigeilicant Ao mt
=13 bBuzz "Fireball." This

captivating cinnamon whitkey is
poised (o make & llery pact on
thi frbFloat!




Blue
Power

SGHOUE LIMITED

Fanungg WED., JULY 5, 2023 | 6:00PM [ YouTube

JULY
Blue Power
Group

PAMELLIGT HOST
Gary Peart Solomon Sharpe Christopher Berry Dan Theoc
Eamrwiise Chasamar, Chgiren of Taprarng i Evpraifes Chadrman ENT . mspnimae] Banaing
FraprErE Y Erns e Ll Aece 0 Dronabeees ommhee 1EHETL HEpL2af IFREIIEErT L ner HgymeaTy ek lmnarm Lerdied

Gary Peart, Executive Chairman of Supreme Venture Limited, spoke on the company”s
revenues increasing by $2.4 billion compared to last year. According to Peart, sports betting
played a major role, with the 2023 FIFA Waorld Cup accounting for most bets!



William Makfecd [lelt]), Chairman and Andrew Mahlood
[right]. CEQ, Wiiynes, frame Dan Theos in thizs pholo taken
after an ingightTul discussion during Delober's Foram,

OCTOBER
Dolla Financial

Hanrcy Fearr, CEQ, and Trevens McKenzie, Group TFD,
Ciallas Firancial shans lens with SVE Irvesiment Banbong,
Dad Thaoe, mormants after sharing the latet updates on
the Cormpany.

Richard Pandohie, CEQ, Seprod Group and A% Brydens & Sons
helped us close the wear strong by sharing Ensights Into
Saprod's 2023 performance with our lowal viewers.



MAY BERRY
FOUNDATION

IN THE
COMMUNITY

INVESTING
IN OUR YOUTH

"Community building has been a top priority of
Mayberry Investmeants Limited for decades, Our work
in 2023 is a testament to the fact that we have no
plans of changing course any time soon. We proudly
imvast our faith and resources Into inltlabives that
bettar our children, athletes, and other members of
the wider community; the very pillars of our island
homea,” -

- Gary Peart, CEO

|
|
|
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MAYBERRY
INVESTMENTS
LIMITED'S ALL ISLAND
SWIM MEET

W are thrilled to be back for this, our 25th staging of
the Mayberry All Island Swim Meet. This has grown to
be the largest swim meet across Jamaica and shows
the prominence of the event, and how successful |t
has been In changing lives.

Maybarry has always champloned the development of
sports in Jamaica, and we have always sought ways to
astablish and support sporting alliances across the
Island. This maet |5 & testament to our commitmant to
bettering lives through sports. We can't thank our
sponsors enough: First Rock Group, Iron Rock
Jamalca, Lasco ICool and Pure Country for their
contributions.
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CB UWI 5K AND CARIBBEAN
PASSION KIDS K }

We were proud to partner with The University Of The Wast Indies in
The CB Group UWI 5K and Caribbean Passion Kids K. Qur Saenior
Marketing Officer, Dasiree Wheeler, 5 pictured here with Mrs.
Elizabeth Buchanan-Hind, Executive Director, The University OFf The
Wast Indies

'3, a

SUPERSTARS OF PORT
ANTONIO MARLIN
TOURNAMENT (SOPA)

Tearn Safe Passage made a splash with
their amazing performance! A huge
shoutout to all our fin-tastic sponsors,
boat teams, and anglers who
contributed to making this event a resl’
success! Big congratulations to the
2023 Superstars Champlons - Brac
Rebel from the Cayman Islands!
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TRU-JUICE 5K

Cur incredible tearn at the Truduice 5k, on June
04, 2023, At Mayberry Investments Litd., we
always participate to show our dedication to
improving society's well-being,

As our esteemed Gary Peart, Chief Executive

Officer of Mayberry Investments Litd,
oxprassed, "Partnering with Tru-Julce and
Trade Winds Citrus, we zestfully support

healthcare in Jamaica, revitalizing the Linstead
Hospital and nurturing our community's
well-being. It's a partnership that invigorates
us, allewing us to squeeze out a positive
impact one stride at a time.”

Together, let's blend financial support with the
juice of determination, stirring a recipe for
success and sweet rewards that benefit us all

R N

O

INTERNATIONAL
MUSIC CONFERENCE

Chief Executive Officer, Gary Peart hosted an
informative discussion on "Money
Management, Investment and Insurance” at
the Island Music Conference.

Panelists included Jermaine Deans, Hugh
Reid, Orville Burrell {Shaggy) IMC Chairma

- - )
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BEUDDING FARMER'S
SUMMER GROW CAMP

We were thrilled to be part of the Budding Farmers Grow Club's
Summer Grow Camp at Mayberry Investments Limited! Interacting

with the children, animals, and plants was an absolute blast!

&5 an organization committed to supporting education and

cammunity initiatives, this event brought us immense joy.
Murturing a love for agriculture and sustainable practices among
children remains a top priority for Mayberry Investments Limited!

Our team had 8 blast stmulating the young minds of e fubure 8t The

Burmmds Grow Camp in partnérship with the Mimciry of Agricultune

L:R Wedusha Chambers, Invesimant Advisor, Bran Munmoss, Investmant
Advisor and Desires Whealar, Senior Marketing OIfioer

MNATIONAL SENIOR
CHAMPIONSHIPS AND
EXPO - JABBFA

The 2023 Mayberry Jabbfa Maticnal Senior
Championships held at the AC Hotel was a
night of sheer dedication and unwavering
passion from athletes who left it all on the
stage. We can't forget the incredible
performances of our athletes; each moment
was a testament to the power of perseverance
and hard work.
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MOUTTET MILE o #—'H.:"::.:;‘.k}

While prize-winning horses blazed on the track, guests at
the 2023 Mouttet Mile brought the heat to the rumnway with
ritzy, royal garb fit for Kings and Queens! We eagerly
anticipate what next year has to offer, and we will support
this special cccasion where our exceptionalism illuminates
every stride.

ke el a i e iea,

PAN-AMERICAN
GYMNASTICS TOURNAMENT!

We were thrilled to announce our partnership
with the Jamaica Olympic Assoclation for the
2023 Pan-American Gymnastics Tournament!
Mayberry is keen on supporting youth and
sports development, as we alm to nurture the
skills and discipline of our young, dynamic
athletes.

Photographed here along with the Mayberry Team are Nicole Grant, President,
Jamaica Amateur Gymnastics Association, Beriah Boothe, Sponsorship and
Logistics, and the Pan-American Youth Tournament Organising Committes.
9 Alongside Junior Roberts, Investment Advisor, Desiree Wheeler, Senior Marketing
y Officer, Stephanie Harrison, VP-Marketing and Rayon Wright Senior Investment
Advisor.

At Mayberry, we're not just flipping coins; we're I'Ifipplng the script! Tlmi‘ng our
investments into impactful cartwheels and hanm
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SW ISAAC TRACK MEET

Congratulations to all the athletes who compated at
the 2023 Pan-American Gymnastics Tournamant! Wa
are always in awe of the excellence displayed by the
yvoungsters who participate in these meats!

/i
5.W. ISAAC-HENEY

Track amd Flold Invitailonal
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e Address
11/2 Oxford Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica

 Phone

876. 929.1808-9

@- Email

sales@mayberryinv.com

@ Instagram
MayberryinvJa

) Facebook
MayberryinvJa

@ Linkedin
MayberrylnvestmentsLimited




MILESTONES FOR 2023
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MIL Contributes $10 Million to Project STAR

(from left to right) Parris Lyew Ayee Jr.,, Vice President of the Private Sector

Organisation of Jamaica (PSQOJ), stands alongside Christopher Berry, Executive

Chairman of Mayberry Investments Limited; Keith Duncan, Co-Chairman of Proj-

ect STAR; and Gary Peart, CEO of Mayberry Investments Limited, during this mo-
mentous signing ceremony.

Project STAR (Social Transformation and Renewal), a joint endeavour by the Pri-

vate Sector Organisation of Jamaica (PSOJ) and the Jamaica Constabulary Force

(JCF), aims to bring about change. Focusing on underserved Jamaican regions,
Star aims for a comprehensive shift in both social and economic dimensions.

In our endeavours, Mayberry finds inspiration in a heartfelt concern for the well-be-
ing of youth, with a special focus on the challenges faced by young women. This
concern is rooted in the observation of eroding moral values coupled with un-
favourable environmental conditions. With a deep sense of purpose, the Foun-
dation embarked on a mission to instigate change, valuing every opportunity to
make a positive impact, even if it meant touching the life of just one individual.

Structured sessions and curated programmes have addressed these challenges

successfully. Shared aspiration for positive change fuels our unwavering commit-

ment to collaborate with vital stakeholders: children, parents, and various com-
munity groups.
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MIL Bond Listing Ceremony

“The Mayberry team is always working to find new ways to help investors grow

their money. We are immensely appreciative of the support received on this

Bond IPO, and it is our priority to ensure that your investment remains safe and
secure and that it maximizes its growth potential”

- Gary Peart- CEO of Mayberry Investments Limited.

Cheers to another transaction milestone achieved successfully! The Mayberry

Bond is officially listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. By listing on the Jamai-

ca Stock Exchange, investors (accredited as well as non accredited) can buy
and increase their holdings or sell and reap their investment!

Thanks again to our investors and new Mayberry clients, who have joined the
family. To our dedicated and hardworking team at Mayberry, we couldn’t have
done this without you!
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Independent auditors’ report
To the Members of Mayberry Group Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Cur opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements presant fairy, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Mayberry Group Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries: {together
"the Group”) as at 31 December 2023, and their consolidated financial performance and their consolidated
cash flows for the vear then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

What we have audited

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

+ the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 202.3;

= the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended,

#» the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended,

= Ihe consolidated statement of changes in equity for the yvear then ended;

# the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

= tha noles to the consolidated financial stalemeants, comprising matarial accounting policy information
and other explanatory information,

Basis for opinion

We conducled our audit in accordance wilh Infernational Standards on Auditing (1S4s). Our
responsibilittes under those standards are Turlher described In the Awditors' responsibiiiies for the awdit of
the consolidaled financial slaterments saction of ouwr repart.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our apinion,

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including Intarnational Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), We have fulfilled our other athical responsibilities in
accordance with the |[ESBA Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers East Caribbean, Unit 111 Johneons Centre, No. 2 Bella Rosa Boad, PO, Box BW 04,
Gros Lslet, 51, Locia, West Indies
T: (758} 722 6700, www.pwe.com/ bl

Al inkng of the parkoems of oopery Eanl Carbesar a wwaisila upon regusal,

@ 2023 ANNUAL REPORT @



o

pwc

Qur audit approach

Audit scope

Az part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement
in the consolidated financial statements., In particular, we considered where management made subjective
judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumplions
and considering fulure events that are inharenily uncertain, As in all of our audits, we also addressed the
risk of managemant override of infernal contrals, including, among other matters, consideration of whether
there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

How we tailored our group awdit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on
tha consolidated financial stalements as a whola, taking inte account the structure of the Group, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operales.,

The context of the audit is set by the Group's mapor business cocurmences and business activies for
2023. These include the reorganisation of the Group and the decline in the Jamaican stock markel when
compared to the pravious year,

We determined the scope of our audit by first considering the internal organisation of the Group and then
identifying the components that have the most significant impact on the audit of the consolidated financial
statements. The Group comprised five reporting components. We performed full scope audits on four of
these componanis. The audit work performed covered 98% of the Group's tofal assels and fotal revenues,
All components ware audited by PwC nebwork firms.

Key audit matiers

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current pernod. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thareon, and wea da not provide a separate opinion on thase mallers.
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Fey audit mattes

Reorganisation of the Mayberry Group of
Companies

Refer lo notes 1 (b) and 3 {a) to the
consohdated financial statements for
disclozures of relaled accounling policies
and balances

During the financial year, Mayberry
Investments Limited {MIL) undervent a
reorganisation which resulted in the
formation of a new parent company,
Maybery Holdings Limited (MHL)} and a new
ultimate parent company, Mayberry Group
Lirnited (MGL), The reorganisalion was
complated in September 2023 under a court
sanctioned Scheme of Arrangement
wheraby all of MIL's ordinary shares were
extinguished and new ordinary shares of the
same number wera allotted and issued to
MHL. MHL then issued and allotied the
same number of ordinary shares to MGL, As
a result, each shareholder in MIL was issued
and allotted one share in MGL for every
share previously held in MIL.

Management assessed thal there was no
change in control of the Group before and
after the recrganisation and have determined
that the predecessor method of accounting is
the most appropriate method of
cansclidation to accaunt for the
rearganisation,

Linder the predecessor method of
accouniing:

* assels and liabilities acquired are not
rastated Lo their fair values and are
recorded at their carrying values,
adjusted only for accounting policy
application;

¢ no goodwill arises; and

# the comparative information is shown in
the current vear financial statemenis as
if MGL and MHL existad in the previous
year despite the resrganisalion oocurring
in the current year.

Howr aur audd addressed the kay audil maller

Our approach to addrassing the matter invalved the
following proceduras, amongst othars:

Obtained an understanding and examinged
management’s accounting policy and
accounting treatment.

Assessed management's asseartion of no
change in control by comparing the terms of the
Schema of Arrangemeant to the criteria contained
in IFR3 3 = Business Combinations.

Evaluated the substance and specific facts and
circumstances of the recrganisation in
determining the appropriateness of
managemeant’s adoption of the predecessor
method of accounting including assessing:

o the purpose of the recrganisation;

o how the entities are managed pre= and posi=
recrganisation;

< the consideration for the transaction; and

o the existence of any non-controlling
interests.

Examined the legal documents which gave
effect io the reorganisation to determine whether
the necessary approvals were cblained.
Evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures in the
financial statements,

Based on the results of cur audit procedures, we
determined management's accounling treatment for
the reorganisation of the Mayberry Group of
Companies was not unreasonable.
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The accounting for the reorganisation was
an area of focus due to the level of
judgement used by manageament in
determining the accounting treatment given
there is currently no guidance under IFRS
Accounting Standards on the accounting
treatment for business combinmations among
antittes or businessas under commoan
control.

Investrment in Associales

Rafer to noles 2 (c), 3 {a) and 271 o the
poneplidated inancial slatements for
disclosures of relaled accounting poficies
g DIanceEs

The Group's total investments in associales
was 317.1 billion as at 31 Decembar 2023,
representing holdings in certain invesiment
securities, which range between 18% 1o 21%
af the issued share capital and whare there
is board and’or board sub-committes
reprasentation,

Az per the Group's accounting policies,
managamant racognises associates as all
enlities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of 20% of the
waling rights. As the Group is deemead by
management to have a similar business
model 1o an investment entity as defined by
IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Group has elected to
implement the exemption from applying the
equity method in LAS 28 - Invesiments in
Associates and Joint Venlures and
recognises its investrnant in associates at
fair value through profil or loss in accordance
with IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments,

We focused our awdit efforts on this balance
duse 1o its material impact on the financial
siatements and because the determination
of the mos!t appropriale accounting treatment
and accounting standard involved a level of
judgement applied by management.

Dur approach 1o addrassing the matter invalved the
following procedures, amongst others:

Performed inguires and evaluated
management's accounting policies against the
requiremeants of the applcable accounting
standards.

Read and evaluated management’s position
papers on the delermination of the designation
of the invesiments as associated companies.
Independently confirmed sharaholdings of
related associates with the local securities
deposits registry.

Comoborated board and sub-commiliee
membership through inspection of published
submissions to the Jamaica Stock Exchange.
Challenged managements assertion that it
gualifies for the exemplion from equity
accounting under &S 28 by assessing the
following:

o the nature of the subsidiary’s operalions;

o how the business is managed,;

o how the performance of the subsidiary is
assessed and management of the
subsidiary is ramuneraled; and

o whether the underlying information is
consistant with the types of entities
describad by 1AS 28 as being eligible for
exemplion,

Based on the results of our audit procedures, we
determined that managemeant's accounting for its
investment in assecdates was not unreasonable,
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Report
(but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon), which is
axpected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Qwr opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance condusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial staterments, our responsibiity is 1o read the other
information identified above when it becomes availlable and, in doing 50, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statemenis or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears (o be malerially misstated,

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstalement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with govermance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the

consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management
dalermines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or arror.

In preparing the consolidated financial stalements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability 1o conlinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concern and
using the going concermn basis of accounting unless management either intends 1o liquidate the Group or
o cease operations, or has no realistic altermative but 1o do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consclidated financial stalements as
a whole are free from malerial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 1o issue an auditors”
reporl that inchudes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assuranca, bul is nol a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1503 will always detect a material misstatement
when it exisis. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually orin
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due o fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence thal is sufficient and appropiate o provide a basis for our opinion, The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may invelve collusian, forgery, intantional omissions, misrepresantalions, or tha override af
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of Internal control relevant o the audit in order 1o design awdit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprassing an opinion on the
aeffectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
eslimates and related disclosures made by managemeni.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audil evidence oblained, whether a material uncertainty exists relaled io events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If wea
conclude thal a matenal uncertainty exists, we are required 1o draw attention in our auditors” report 10
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our openion, Our conclusions are based on the audif evidence oblained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group o cease 1o continue as a
going concenm.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidaled financial slatements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidaled financial siatements represent the undearhying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business aclivities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direclion, supervision and performance of the group audit, We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion,

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audil and significant audit indings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
controd that we identify during cur audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statermnent that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and o communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to aliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governancea, we determing those matiers that
wera of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statermants of the current pariod and
are tharefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or
requlation preciudes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremealy rare circumsiances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
daing so would reasonably be expected to outwaigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement pariner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Tonya Graham,

2 PR ST (R, A—
Charterad Accountanis

Castries, 5t Lucia
26 April 2024
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Mayberry Group Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 1

ASSETS
Cash resources
Investiment securities
Reverse repurchase agreements
Promissory noles
Loans and other receivables
Investment in associates
Investmient in joint veniures
Investment properties
Propaerty, plant and equipment
Right of use assels
Taxation recoverable
Deferred lax assel
Intangible asset
Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft

Securilies sold under repurchase agreements
Loans

Accounis payable

Lease liabilities

Total Liabilities

EQUITY
Share capital
Fair value resanses
Transkation reserve
Other reserves
Retained samings
Equity Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent
Mon-Controlling Interests
Total Equity
Total Equity and Liabilities

13

20(b)

nE 28

]

Approvad for issue by the Board of Directors on April 22, 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

2023 2022
$°000 £°000
3,827,534 2,732,187
11,800,087 9,548,026
3,615,228 5,303,950
4,362,376 4,265 247
10,243,801 B 405,384
17,0094 566 18,011,477
2842053 1,964 454
2,113,472 2027.738
168,763 174,239
53,119 70,074
198,691 198,601
1.148 464 387,764
1,242 262 978,201
58,716 406 52,057,342
994 193 50,337
6,850,805 4,869,274
14,247,093 9 407 B68
11,745,451 11,045,972
69,787 83,645
33,907,329 25,457,096
1,582 382 1,582,382
548,456 558,897
129,000 85,800
77,939 77.939
13,895,077 14,490,088
16,232 544 16,795,106
8,576,133 & 805,140
24 809 077 26,600,246
58,716,406 52,057,342

Chairman Gary Peart

Chief Executiva Officer [ Director
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Mayberry Group Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 2

Met Interest Income and Other Revenues

Interest income

Interest axpeanse

Met interest income

Consulting fees and commissions

Dividend income

Met trading gains

Met unrealised gains on financial assels measurad al fair value
through profit or loss

Met unrealised (lossesgains on investment in associaltes
measured at fair value through profit or loss

Met foreign exchange gains

Net unrealised gains/(losses) on investment properties

Other income

Operating Expenses
Salanes, stalutory contributions and other staff costs
Provision for credit losses
Depreciation and amortisation
Other operaling expenses

Operating (loss)/profit

Share of profit of joint venture
[Loss)iProfit before taxation
Taxation credst

Met (Loss)/Profit for the Year

Attributable to:
Stockholders of the parent
MNen-conirolling inlerests

EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT - BASIC AND DILUTED

@) 2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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2023 2022
$'000 $'000
1,587,993 1,118,845
{1,914,208) (BO8.402)
(326,215) 310,443
521,203 508,657
611,038 567,826
111,097 116,082
170,946 90,097
(2,235,227) 5,232,917
207,093 97.271
85,734 (22 065)
9,577 60,501
(844,756) 6,061,829
808,338 761,476
(59,669) 126,708
45,130 53,669
1,257 506 1,302,802
2,051,395 2,246,655
(2,896,151) 4,715,174
833575 21440
(2.062,576) 4,736,614
593,632 1,016
(1.468.944) 4,737,630
(256,548) 2,218 806
{1.212,396) 2,518,824
{1,468,944) 4,737,630
5 $
0.21 1.85




Page 3
Mayberry Group Limited
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2023 2022
Mote £'000 £"000
Net (Loss)/Prafit for the Year (1.468,944) 4,737,630
Other Comprehensive Income Net of Taxation:
Hems that will nol be reclassiied lo profil or loss
Met unrealised gainsf{losses) on financial instruments — fair value
through other comprehensive income 36,518 {131,4685)
ltem that may be reclazsified lo profif or loss
Forgign currency translation adjusimenis 43 290 (33, 736)
Cther comprehensive income, net of laxes 78,808 (165,201}
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year {1,3B89,136) 4,572.429
Total Comprehensive Income Aftributable to:
Stockholders of the parent (201,818) 2,154,126
MNon—controlling inferests 35 {1,187,318) 2.418,303

(1,389,136) 4,572,429

5 3
COMPREHEMSIVE INCOME PER STOCH UNIT- BASIC AND DILUTED 12(b) {0.17}) 1.79
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Page 5
Mayberry Group Limited
Consclidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2023 2022
Note £'000 $'000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
(Loss)/Profit before taxation (2062,576) 4,736,614
Adjustments for:
ltems not affecting cash:
Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash provided by
operating activities. 23 (2.400023) (6.432228)
Interest received 1,465,931 1,151,634
Interast paid {1,823,828) (859,192}
Taxation paid - (70,148)
Cash used in operating activities (4,820496) (1473 318)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net purchase of intangible asset (260,520) (304,251)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (17,231) (65,762)
Proceads from sale of investment proparies = 92,310
Dividends received from joint venture - 670,239
Cash {used inyprovided by investing aclivities (286,760) 3892 536
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Loans recaived 7875426 4 159 877
Loans repaid (3.228,195) (2.708,805)
Proceeds from parial disposal of subsidiary - 1,047 436
Dividend paymenis (402,033) (372,058)
Lease payments (13,858) {19,466)
Cash provided by financing activities 4,231,340 2,106,786
Het (Decreaselincrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (B75,916) 1,026,004
Exchange gain/(loss) on foreign cash balances 23,758 (23.970)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of vear 4,682 618 3,680,584
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 13 3,830,461 4.682.618
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Mayberry Group Limited

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1. ldentification and Principal Activities
{a) Mayberry Group Limited {"the Company®) is a company limited by shares, incorporated in Saint Lucia under

(b)

the International Business Companies Act and s registered office is located at Bourbon House, Bowrbon
Street, Casiries, S0 Lucia.

The Company is a publicly ksted company with itz shares listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (“JSE"),

The principal activities of the Company, its subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venture operation
comprise dealing in securiies, portfolio management, investment advisory services, operaling a foraign
exchange cambio, managing funds on behall of clients and administrative and invaestment manageament
senvices for pension plans, the investing and trading of Jamaican equity securities, the investing in unguocled
securities, money services, general insurance business, the distribution of food and beverages and gaming
and lottery operations.

The Company its subsidiaries, associates and joint venlure operations are collectively referred o as “the
Group™

Reorganisation of the Maybenny Group of Companies

Al an extraordinary General Meeting held on July 26, 2023, the slockholders of Maybermy Investments Limited
{MIL) approved the reorganisation of the Mayberry Group of Companies under a Scheme of Arrangament,
The Scheme of Arrangement was then approved by the Supreme Court of Jamaica in September 2023 in
accordance with the Jamaica Companies Acl. In Decamber 2023, the new holding company, Mayberry Group
Limited (MGL) was listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange and al the same time MIL was delisted. The existing
shareholders of MIL exchanged their shares for MGL shares of equal value. At December 31, 2023, MIL also
transfarred ownership of all its subsidiaries directly 1o MGL.

The consideration for the transfer of ownership of the subsidiaries from MIL to MGL was effected by inferest
bearing promissory noles,

As the reorganisation i a ransaction among entibes under common control, the Group has applied
predecessor method of accounting, Under the predecassor method.

The Group doas nol restale assets and kabilities 1o their fair values, instead the Group incorporates the
assels and labilities at the amounis recorded in the books of Group companies prior to the regrganisation,
adjusted only to achieve harmonization of accounting policies where necessary.

Mo goodwill arises,

Under the predecessor method, the consolidated financial statements present the results of the Group as if
Mayberry Group Limited had been in existence and the recrganisation had occurred al the beginning of the
earliest pericd presenied. Conseguently, these consolidated financial stalements include the full vear's
results of all group companies for all pericds presenied.
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Mayberry Group Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies

The material accounting policies applied in the praparation of these financial statements are sal oul below.
These pobicies have been consistently appled for all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

(a)

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Intermatonal Financial Reporting
standards as issued by the IASB (IFRS Accounting Standards). The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cast convention, as modified by the revaluation of inwestment securities at fair
value through other comprahensive incomea ("FVYTOCE), invesiments in associates al fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL™), investment properties and certain financial assets at FVTPL. The Group has determingd
that one of its subsidiaries is a similar entity to an investment entity as defined in IFRS 10 and that it continues
ta meet this definition (see note 2 (c)).

The financial statements comprise the statement of profit and loss and stalement of comprehensive income
shown as two slatements, the statement of financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the
statement of cash flows and the notes.

The preparation of financial staternents in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards reguines managermeant
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reporied amounis of assels and liabiities, contingent
assets and contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the total comprehensive income during
the reporting pericd. The Group makes estimates and assumplions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will seldom equal the related actual resulis. The estimates and underlying assumplions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis and any adjustments thal may be necessary would be reflected in the year
in which actual resulls are known. The areas involving more judgement and complexity or areas whare
assumplions or estimaltes are significant to the financial stalements are disclosed in note 3.

Mew, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during the year

Certain new standards and amendments to existing standards have been published that became effective
during the current financial year.

»  Namow scope amendments fo IAS 1, Practice slatement 2 and I1AS 8
»  Amendment fo [AS 12 - Deferred tax related fo assets and Fabilities ansing from a single fransaction
«  Amaendment to JAS 12 -« Internalional tax reform

The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new standards and amendments and has concluded that
they did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior perods and are not expected to significanty
affect the current or future periods,

Mew, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective and not eary adopted by
the Group

Cartain amendments 1o accounting standards have been published that are nol mandalory for
3 December 2023 reporting periods and have not been early adopled by the group.

Amandment ta IFRS 16 = Leases an sale and leaseback
Amandment ia 1AS T — Non-currant Fabilidies with covenanls
Amendment o 1AS 7 and IFRS 7 - Supplier finance
Amendmenis o IAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeabilify

These amendments are nol expected to have a malenal impact on the entily in the current or fulung reporting
perods and on foreseeable future fransactions.
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Mayberry Group Limited

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity which is controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity to obtain benefits from its activities, In assessing conirol,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are considered. The consclidated financial statements
comprise those of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries Mayberry Holdings Limited (MHL), Maybearry
Investments Limited [MIL), and Widebase Lid., and its 50.4% (2022- 50.4%) owned subsidiary, Mayberry
Jamaican Equities Limited (MJE), presented as a single economic entity. Intra-group transactions, balances
and unrealized gains and losses are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary 1o ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group,

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 1o the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

On consolidation, fransactions with non-controlling interests that do nod result in loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference
betwean fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant sharg acquired of the carrying value of nat
assats of the subsidiany 15 recorded in equity. Gaing or losses on disposals o non=conrolling interests ars
also recorded in equity. At the company level, the gains or losses are recorded in the profit or loss account.

When the Group ceaseas to have contral, any retained interest in the enfity is re=maasured o its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
i5 the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained inflerest as an
associate, joint venlure or financial asset. In addition, any amounis previously recognised in other
comprehensive incoma in respect of thal entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss,

Proportion  Proportion
of ordinary  of ordinary
shares held shares held

Country of by the by non-
incorporation parent controlling
and place of company interests
Entity business Principal Activities B k.
Mayberry Holdings
Limited Jamaica Holding company 100 -
Mayberry Jamaica Dealing in securities, portfolio 100
Invesiments management, investment
Limiled advisory sanvices, operaling a
foreign exchange cambio,
funds management and
administrative and investment
management senvices »
Mayberry Jamaican Investing in Jamaican quoted
Equities Limited SL Lucia equilies 50.42 49,58
Widebase Limited 3L Lucia Investing in ungusted equities 100 -
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Mayberry Group Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies {Continued)

(e}

Investment in Associates and Joint Venturas

Associales are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a sharaholding of between 20% and 50% of the valing rights. Joint ventures are antities over
which the Group has Joint control and has rights to the net assets of the investiment. The Group has
datermined that its subsidiary Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited's (MJE) businass maodel and operations
are similar to that of an Sinvestment entity” as defined by IFRS 10,

An entity that meais the IFRS 10 Consoldated Financial Statements definition of an investmen! entily is
required to measuwre its investments at FVYTPL in accordance with IFRS 9 Finrancial Instruments. This is
because using fair valus results in more relevant information than, for example, consolidation for subsidiarias
or the use of the equity methad Tor interests in associates or joint ventures.

An investment entity is an entity that obtains funds from one or mone nvestors for the purpose of providing
them with invesiment managemeant services, commils to its investors that its business purpose is to invest
funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, investmeani income, or both, and measures and avaluates
the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis. MJE has mat and continues to
meael the substantive definition of an invesimant antity and is therefore considered similar to this type af
entity, as its strategic objective of investing In Jamaican equities and providing investment managemeant
sarvices fo investors for the purpose of generating retums in the form of long term capital appreciation,
remains unchanged.

As MJE is deamed to have a similar business model o an invesimeant entity as defined by [FRS 10, the
Group has elected the exemption from applying the equity methoed in LAS 28 for its investments in associates
and accounts for its invesiments in associales at FYTPL in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,

The Group's invesiment in joint venture is accounied for using the equity method of accounting, Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recognised al cost, and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased 1o recognise the investes's share of profit or loss and other comprehensive imcome after the date
of acquisition. IAS 28 requires investment in joing veniures to include goodwill identified on acquisition, net
of any accumulated impairment loss where presentl.

If the ownership inlerest in a joint veniure is reduced bul significant influence or joint control is retained, only

a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in olher comprehensive income s neclassified
to profit or loss where appropriate,
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Mayberry Group Limited
Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 10

2. Material Accounting Policies {Continued)

{c}) Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures (continued)

The Group's share of its joint venture’s post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income are récognised in other
comprehensive income, These cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carmying
amount of the investment. When the Group's share of loss in a joint venture equal or exceeds its interest in
the joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does nol recognise further losses,
unless it has mourred obligations or made payments on behall of the joint venlura.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether thera is any objective evidenca thal investments in
joint veniures anre impaired. If this is the case, the Group recognises an impairment charge in the statement
of profit or loss for the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint venture and iU's carrying value.
The Group's associates and joint venture operations are as follows:

Tha Group's
Proportion of
Mature of ordinary
o :m":"ﬂ e s Relationship  shares held {%)
ame tity ‘Bar-an re usiness 2023 2022
Cherry Hills Devalopment Limited  31December  Feal estale development Joint Veniure 50 50
Lasco Financial Sarvices Limited 31 March Money sericas Associate 21 21
Caribbaan Producers [Jamasca) 30 Jumi Food trading Aszocile
LLirnite 20 20
Iren Rock Insurance Limibed 31 December  General insurance Asmsociate 20 19
Supreme Yentures Limited 31 December  Batting, gaming and Aszsociate
lathery 19 18
Dolla Financial Services Limited 31 Decamber  Microcredit Agsormle 18 1
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Mayberry Group Limited

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Comtinued)
(d] Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economc anvironment in which the enlity oparates (“the functional currency™). The consobidated
finamcial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which i the Group's functional and presentation
currency, unless othensise stated.

Transaction and balances

Forgign currency transactions are accounted for af the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
fransactions. Al the date of the statement of financial position, monetary assets and kabdities denominated in
foreign currencies are translkated using the closing exchange rale at the dale,

Exchange differences resulting from the settlerment of transactions at rates different from those at the dates of
the transactions, and unrealized foreign exchange differences on unsetied foreign currancy monelary assals
and liabilities are recognized in the statement of profit or koss.

Translation differences on non-maonetary financial assets are a componeant of the change in their fair value.
Depending on the cassification of a non-monetary financial asset, exchange differences are either
recognized in the statement of profit or loss (applicable for financial assels at fair value through profit or loss),
or within other comprehensive income if non-monetary financlal assets are equity Instrumenis which are
designated as fair value through other comprehensive income.

The results and financial position of foreign operations that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are franslated into the presentation currency as follows:

+« Azsels and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are lranslated al the cdosing
rate at the date of that statement of financial position,

« Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and stalement of comprehensive income
are ranslated at average exchange rales (unless this is nol a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on transaclion dates, im which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions) and,

» Al resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income,

(&) Impairment of non-financial assets

Assels that have an indefinite useful [ife are not subject to amortisation and are lested annually for impairment.
Assels that are subject to amorisation are reviewed for impairment whenever evenis or changes in
circumstances indicale that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment boss is recognised
for the amount by which the assel's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, The recoverable
amount is the higher of an assat's fair value less costs 1o sall and value in use.

intangible assets

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses and proprietary developed sysiems are capitalised on the basis of costs
incurred o acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over the estimated useful
life of the software, which ranges from 5 o 10 yvears.
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Page 12
Mayberry Group Limited
MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
g} Revenue recognition

Revanua comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for services pravided in the
ardinary course of the Group's business and is recognised to the axtant that it is probable that the econamic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardiess of when the payment
is made, Revenue is measured laking into account contraciually defined terms of paymant,

Consulling fees and commission income are recognized on an accrual basis when the performance obligations
are satisfied, thatl is over ime or al a point in time. Where a customer contract containg mulliple performancs
abligations, the fransaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation based on the relative
stand-alone sefling prices of tha goods or servicas being provided to the customer.

Consulting fees and commission arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for
a third party are recognized on complation of the underlying transaction.

Partfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognized based on the applicable servica
confracts.

Assel management fees related Lo mvesiment funds are recognized over the period the service is provided.
Performance inked fees or fee components are recognized when the performance criteria are fulfilled,

The Group recognizes confract liabilities in respect of contracts with customers for consideration received
befare the Group transfers the service to the customer.

ih} Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase agreements), and securities purchased under
agreements o resall (reverse repurchase agreaments), are freated as collateralized financing transactions.
The difference between the sale/purchase and repurchase/resale price is trealed as interest and accrued over
the lives of the agreements using the effective yield method.
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Mayberry Group Limited
Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(i)

Loans and receivables and provisions for credit losses

The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instruments:
lbans and other receivables, promissory noles, debt instruments carried at amortised cost, and debt
instruments carmied at FVTOCH Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to borrowers, They are initially
recorded al cost, which is the cash given to originate the loan including any transaction costs, and subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate methaod.

The Group applies the “thres stage model under IFRS 9 in measuring the ECL on loans and receivables,
and makes estimations about likelihood of defaults occurring, associated loss ratios, changes in market
conditions, and expected future cash flows. This is measured using the Probability of Defaull (PD), Exposure
at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD) for a porifolio of assets.

» Probability of Default - This represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation
either over the naxt 12 months (12-month PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation.

= Exposure at Default - This represents the expected balance at default, taking into account the repayment
of principal and interest from the statement of financial posiion date to the default event iogather with any
expected drawdowns of committed facilities.

# Loss Given Defaull = The LGD represents expectad [osses on the EAD givan the evant of dafault, taking
into account the mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it is expected to be realisad and also the
time valua of monay.

The “three stage” modal is used 1o categonse financial assels according 10 credit quality as follows:

= Stage 1 — financial assels that are not credit impaired on initial recognition or are deemed to have low
credil risk. These assets generally abide by the contractual credit terms. The ECL is measured using a
‘I%mn:d;s PD, which represents the probability that the financial asset will default within the next
12 months.

+ Slage 2 — financial assets with a significant increase in credil risk (SICR) since initial recognition but are
not credit impaired. The ECL is measured using a lifetime PD.

+ Slage 3 — credil impaired financial assets. The ECL is measured using a lifetime PD.

Transfer betlween stages

Financial assets can be transferred betwesn the different calegories depending on their relative increase in
credif risk since initial recognition, Financial instruments are transferred oul of stage 2 if their credit risk is no
konger considered to be significantly increased since initial recognition. Financial instruments are transferred
out of stage 3 when they no longer exhibit any evidence of credit impakrment, This assessment is done on a
case-by-case basis,
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Mayberry Group Limited
MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(exprassed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
(i} Loans and receivables and provisions for credit losses (continued)
The Group considers forward-looking information in determining the PDs of financial assets,
Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR)

The assessment of SICR is performed for individual loans, taking into consideration the sector grouping of
the individual exposures, and incorporates forward-looking information. It also considers qualitative criteria
specific io the borrower's risk raling, early signs of cash flowliquidity problems and expecied significant
adversa change in the financial condition of tha bormower. However, this assessmant will differ for differant
types of lending arrangemants.

Backstop

Irespective of the above qualitative assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognilion when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due. The Group has monitoring procedures in place (o assess whether the crileria used to identify SICR
confinue to be appropriate,

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD, which are multiplied together and discounted
back to the reporting date. The discount rate usad in the ECL calculation is the arginal effective interest rate
or an approximation thereof,

A loan is classified as impaired when, in management's opinion there has been deterioration in credit guality
ta the extent that there i no longer reasonable assurance of timely collection of the full amount of principal
and miterast.

Write offs are made when the Group determines thal there is no realistic prospect of recovery, Write offs are

charged against previously established provisions for credit losses. Recoveries in part or in full of amounts
pravioushy writlen off are cradited to provision for credit losses in the statemeant of profit or loss.
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Mayberry Group Limited

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(exprassed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

1]

Financial assels

Initial recognition and measuremant

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. This includes reqgular way purchases of financial assets and Rabilitkes that reguire delivery of
assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place,

The dassification of financial ingtruments at initial recognition depends on their contractueal terms and
the business modal for managing the instruments, Financial instruments are initially measured at their
fair value, plus or minus directly attributable transaction costs for all instruments excepd in the case of
financial assets recorded at FVTPL. For financial instruments measured at FVTPL transaction costs are
axpensed in the statemant of profit and loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and
the assels contractual terms, Tha following measurament calegories are usad in accordance with the
requirements of IFRS 9

# fthose to ba measured at fair value through other comprehensive incoma (FYTOCI)

# [Fair value through profit or loss (FYTFL), and

« those to be measured at amortised cost,

Business model assessment

IFRS 9 requires an assessmeant of the nature of the Group's business model at a level that best reflects
how it manages portfolios of financial assets. The business model reflects how the Group manages tha
assels in order to generate cash flow, this is, whether the Group's objective is solely fo collect the
contractual cash flows from the assels or is (o collect bolh the contractual cash flows and cash flows
arising from the sale of assets, If neither of these is applicable (e.g., financial assels are held for frading
purpeses), then the financial assets are classified as "Other” business model and measured at FYTPL,

Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a Group of asseats include:
1. How the asset's performance is evalualed and reported 1o key management personnel;

2. How risks are assessed and managed; and

3. How managers are compensated.

Thiz Group has determined that it has three business models:

* Hold-io-collect (HTC) business moded: This comprisas, cash and cash equivalants, debt securities,
promizsory noles, loans and olher receivables, reverse repurchasze agreameants and
accounts receivables. These financial assets are held o collect contractual cash flows.

s Hold-lo-collect-and-sell (HTCS): where both collecting and contraciual cash flows and cash flows
arising from the sale of assets are the objective of the business model.

= Other business model: This comprises equity investmenis. These financial assels are managed and
their performanca is evaluated, on a fair value basis,

Solely payments of principal and inferes! (SPPI) assessment.

Instrumenis held within HTC or HTCS business model are assessed to evaluate if their contraciual
cash flows are SPPI. SPP| paymenis are those which would typically be expecied from basic lending
arrangements. Prancipal amounts include par repayments from lending and financing arrangements,
and interest primarily relates to basic lending returns, including compensation for credit risk and the
tirme value of money associated with the principal amount cutstanding over a perod of ime. Interest
can also induede other basic lending risks and costs (for example, liquidity risk, servicing or
administralive costs) associaled with holding the financial asset for a pericd of time, and a profit
margin.
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Mayberry Group Limited
MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies [Continued)

(i} Financial assets (continuad)
iv. Dabt Instruments

Debl instruments include cash and bank balances, promissory notes, loans and other receivablas,
investment securities, guarantees and other assats. Classification and subsequent measurement of
dabl instruments depend on the Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the assel,

Debt instruments are measured at amorlised cost if thay are held for collection of confraciual cash
flows where those cash flows represent SPPI. Interest income from these financial assets s included
in interast income using the effective interest method. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition is
recognized directly in profit or loss together with foreign exchange gains or losses, Impairment losses
are presented as a separale ling item in the statement of profit or loss.

Tha Group's financial asseis measured al amordised cost comprise cash resources, rade receivables,
investment securities for which the objeclive is to hold these investrment securities in order (o collect
contraciual cash flows and the contractual cash flows are SPPI, reverse repurchase agreements,
promissory noles, other recevables and amounts due from related companies in the statement of

financial position.

Debi instruments are measured at FVTOCI if they are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
far salling the financial assaets, where the financial assets' cash flows represent paymeants of principal
and interest. Movemenis in the carrying amount are taken through CGCl, except for the recognition of
impairment gains and losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognized in profit or loss, When the financial asset Is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity 1o profit or loss and recognized in
{losseslgains on invesiment activiies. Interest income from these financial assets s recognized in
interest income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains or losses are
prasentad in gaing in foreign exchange ranslation and trading and impairment losses are presented
a3 a separate ling item in the statement of profit or loss.

Debl instruments are measurad at FVTPL are those which wera either acquired for generating a profit
from short term luctuations in price or dealers' margin, or are securities induded in & portfclio in which
a pattern of shorl term profit 1aking exists or which fail the SPPI lest.

The Group reclassifies debl instruments when and only when ils business modal for managing thosae
assels changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following
the change. Such changes are expacied 1o be very infrequent, and none accurred during the paricd.

v, Equity Instruments

Financial assels measured af FYTOC!

Whera the Group has made an imevocable election to classify equity invesiments al fair value through
olhar comprehensive income, they are carmed at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in olher
comprehensive incomea and accumulated in the related fair value reserva. There is no subsaguent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss fTollowing the derecognition of the
imvestment, these realised gains are reclassified directly to retained samings.

Financial assels measured al FVPL

This calegory comprises financial instruments which are carried in the statement of financlial position at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the “financial
instrumants = FVIPL” line. The Group has equity invesiments held for trading which it has classified as
being at fair value throwgh prafit or loss,
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Mayberry Group Limited

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies [Continued)

u)

Financial assets [continuad)

W.

wi,

Equity Instruments [continued)

Dividend incorme
When representing a return on such equity mvestmeants, dividend mcoma s recognised in profit or loss
when the Company’s right to receive payments is established

Impairment

Credit loss allowance is measured on each reporing date according fo a three-stage expected credit
loss impairment model. Changes in the required credit loss allowance are recorded in profit or loss for
the period at each reporting date.

Expacted credit losses (ECL) are established for all financial assats, except for financial assets classified
or designated as FVPL and equity securities designated as FVOCI, which are not subject to impairment
assesgment, Financial assets subject o impairment assessment include kans and advances, debt
securities, promissory notes and other assets. Loans, promissory noles and debt securities carried at
amortised cost are presented net of ECL on the statement of financial position. ECL on debt securities
measured at FVOCI is recognised in profit or koss with a comesponding entry in OCI,

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the ECL associated with its financial assets classified
at amortised cost and FVOCI. The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes requires
the use of complex models, as the exposure varies with changes in markel conditions, expected cash
flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further
estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occuming, of the associated loss ratios and of defaulis
correlations between counterparties. The Group measures risk using Probability of Default (PD),
Exposure al Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD).

The methodology used 1o determine the amount of the provision is based on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. For those where the credit
risk has not been increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset, twelve month ECLs
along with gross inlerest income are recognised. For those for which credil risk has ncreased
significanily, lifelime ECLs along with interest income on a net basis are recognised. The Group assumes
that the credit isk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
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Mayberry Group Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
()} Financial assets (continued)

wil. De-rocognition

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
assel have expired, of when it transfers the financial assel in a transaction in which substantially all the
risks and rewards of cwnership of the financial asset are transferred, or in which the Group neither
transfars nor retaing substantially all the risks and rewards of awnership and it does not retain contral of
the financial asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for de-recognition that is
created or refained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability in the statemeant of financial
position. On de-recognition of a financial assel, the difference between the camying amount of the asset
{or carmying amount allocated fo the portions of the assel transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration
recaived (indluding any new assets obtained less any new hability assumed) and (i) any cumulative
gainloss recognized in OCI in respect of equity investment securities is transferrad from OCH o retained
eamings on disposal,

viii. Revenue
Interest income and expense are recognised in amving al net profit or loss for all interest-baaring
nstrumants on the accrual basis using the effective vield mathod based on the aclual purchase prica.
Interasi income includes coupons eamings on fixed income investments and acorued discounts or
premiums on instruments.

The effective inlerest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
kability and of allocating the interes! income or intenest expanses over the relevant period, The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter periad to the nel carrying amount
of the financial assel or financial lRbdity.

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering the contractual
terms of the financial instrument but does nol consider future credil losses. The cakculaton includes all
fees and points paid or received between parties 1o the contract that are an integral part of the effective
interesl rate, ransaction costs and all other premiums and discounts,

When a loan is classified as impaired it is wriltten down o its recoverable amouwnt and interast incoma on
the loans is thereafter recognized based on the rate of interest that was used o discount the fulure cash
flows for measuring the recoverable amount.

Dividend income is recognized when the stockholder's right 1o receive payment is established.

(k} Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, being Iheir issue proceeds, net of ransaction cosls
directly affributable o the issue of the instrument, Borrowings are subsequenily camied al amortised cost
using the eflective inerest rate method, which ensures that any inberest expense ower the period o
repayment is a constant rate on the balance of the liability carmied in the statement of financial position.

The Group's financial liabilities comprise primarily amounts due (o banks, repurchase agreements, accounts
payable, debt security in issue and amounts due to related companies.

The Group derecognises a financial Hability when its contraciual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
e parend.
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Mayberry Group Limited

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(T

(m)

Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment ane stated af historical cost less accumudated depreciation,

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced par is
derecognised. All other repairs and mamtenance ane charged 1o profit or [oss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to write off the cost of the assets
aver their expected useful lives as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10 years
Office equipment 9 yBars
Compauler equipmant 5 years
Motor vahicles 3 years
Leasahold improvements 30 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and camying values are reassessed at the reporting date.

Froperty, plant and egquipment are reviewed for impairment whenever evenis or changes in circumsiances
inclicate that the carrying amount may nol ba recoverable. Where the carmying amount of an assel i greater
than ils estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are datermined by reference to their carrying
amounts and are taken nto account in determining profil or loss.

Investment properties

Invesiment properses, principally comprizing land and buildings from foreclosed assels, ane held for capital
appreciation and sale and are treated as long-term investments, They are measured initially at cost, including
refated transaction costs and are subsequently carmed at fair value with changes in the carmyng amount
recognised im profit or loss. The carrying amount inchludes the cost of the investiment property at the time that
cost is incurred only when it is probable that future economic banefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably, Al other repairs and maintenance cosis are
charged o income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Capiial gains on disposals of mvestiment properties are calculated by comparison with their latest market value
recorded in the closing statement of financial position for the previous year,

Fair value is determined periodically by an independent registered valuer, Fair value is based on current
pricas in an active market for similar propertias in {he sama location and condilion.

Some of these properties ane used as collateral for the Group's corporate paper (nole 25).
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MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2, Material Accounting Policies [Continued)
(n) Investments in subsidiaries
Investments by the Company in its subsidiarias ara stated at cost less impairmeant loss.
(0] Borrowings

Borrowings including those ansing under securtization arrangements are recognized mitially at cost, baing their
issue proceads, net of transaction costs incurred.  Subsequently, borrowings are stated at amotsed cost and
any difference between net proceeds and the redemption value is recognized in the statement of profit or loss
over the pericd of the bormowings using the effective yield mathod.

{p} Share capital
Crdinary shares are classified as equity when there is no cbligation to transfer cash or other assels,

Preference share capital Is classified as equity except where it is redeemable on a specific or deferminable
date or at the option of the shareholders andior if dividend payments are nol discretionary, in which case itis
classified as a hability,

() Employee benefits
(i} Pension schamea costs

Tha Group operates a defined confribution pension schemea (note 39), the assets of which ara held in a
separate trustes administered fund. Confributions to the scheme are fixed and are made on the basis
provided for in the rules. Conftributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss when due.
Thi Group has no legal or constructive obligation beyond paying Ihese contributions.

(i) Prafit-sharing and bonus plan

The Group recognizes a Eability and an expense for bonuses and profil-sharing based on a formula that
takes into consideration the profit altributable o the Company's stockholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognizes a provision where confractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

(W)  Oiher employes benefits:

Emgploves entifernent to annual leave and other benefils are recognized when they accrue to employees.
A provigion is made for the estimated Eabdity for annual leave and other benefits as a result of services
rendered by employees up 1o the end of the reporing penod.
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Mayberry Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2, Material Accounting Policies [Continued)

(r)

Leases

The Group leases various offices, and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed penods of 1 to
25 years but may have aextension options as described below. Lease lerms are negoliated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

Leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use assel and a lease liability for all leases with a term
greater than 12 months,

Lease labikties are measured at the present value of the contractual paymenis due to the lessor over the
lease term, with the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is
typically the case) this i nol readily delerminable, in which case the Group's incremental borrowing rate on
commencemeant of the kease is used. Variable lease payments are only included in the measurement of the
lease liability if they depend on an index or rate, In such cases, the initial measurement of the lease liabiity
assumes the variable element will remain unchanged throughout the lease term. Other varable lease
paymenis are expensed in the period o which they relate.

On initial recognition, the camyng value of the lease liability also includes amounts expected o be payvable
under any residual value guarantee, the exercisa price of any purchase option granted in favour of the Group
if il is reasonably cerlain o exercise thal oplion, any penalties payvable for terminating the lease, if the lerm
of the lease has been estimated on the basis of termination oplion being exercisaed,

Right-of-use assets ara initially measured at the amount of the lease Rability, reduced for any lease incenthves
received, and increased for lease paymenis made at or before commencement of the lease, initial direct
costs incurred and the amount of any provision recognised where the Group is contractually required 1o
dismantle, remove or resiore the leased assel.

Subsequent 1o inilial measurement, lease liabilities increase as a resull of interest charged al a constant rate
an the balance culstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right-of-use assets are amortised
on a siraight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease or over the remaining economic life of the asset,
whichever is shorer.

Whan the Group revises its estimale of the lerm of any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the
probability of a lessee extension or terminalion oplion being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the
lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the revised term, which are discounted at the same
discount rate thal applied on lease commencement. The carrying value of lease liabilites is similarky revised
when the variable element of fulure paymenis dependent on @ rate or index is revised. In both cases an
equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the rght-of-use assel, with the revised carrying
amaount being amortised over the remaining lease tenm.
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Mayberry Group Limited
Motes to the Consoclidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(s} Taxation

Taxation expense in the statement of profil or koss and statement of comprehensive income comprises curmant
and daferred tax charges.

Current taxation charge is the expected taxation payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rales
enacied al the reporting date and any adjustment fo lax payable and fax losses in respect of previous years.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the lability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assels and liabiliies and their carmying amounts in the financial stalements. Currently enacted tax
rates ara used in the determination of deferred income tax. Deferred tax assels and habilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected o apply in the peniod in which the assel will be realized or the lability will be
settled based on enacted rates.

Deferred tax assels are recognised to the extent that it is probable that fulure taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differances can be ufilised,

Managemeant has reviewed the investiment portfolic and concluded that none of the Group's Investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the invesiment properties over time, rather than entiraly through sale, As a resull the
Group has nol recognized any deferred taxes on changes In fair value of the Investment properties as the
Group is not subject o any income taxes on the fair value changes of the investiment properties on disposal,

Current and deferred lax assets and kabilities are offsel when they arse from he same taxable entity and relate
to the same Tax Authority and when the kegal right of offsel exists. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the
staternent of profit or loss except where it relates to ilems charged or credited to equity, inwhich case deferred
tax s akso accourdad for in agquity. The princepal temporary differences anse from depreciation of proparty, plant
and equipment, revaluation of cerlain financial assels and tax kosses camied forward.

it} Provisions

{u)

Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it
is probable that an outflow of rescurces embodying economic benefits will be required to setfle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of
less than three manths, which are subject 1o msignificant risk of changes in their fair value and are used by the
Group in the management of s short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are camed al amortised
cost in the statement of financial position.,

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with arginal
maturities of less than three months from the date of acquisition, including cash resources and bank overdrafl.
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Mayberry Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2, Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(v}

{w)

(=]

()

Funds under management

The Group accepts funds from individuals and insttulions 1o manage with complete discretion and withaut
reference to the account holders, in accordance with the relevant guidelines issued by the Financial Services
Commission, taking into account the investment objective and risk profile of the account holder, The Group
also acts in other fiduciary capacilies that result in holding or placing of assets on behall of individuals and
instifutions, These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statemenis, as they
ara not assels of the Group.

Dividends

Dividends are recognized when they become legally payable. In the case of interim dividends to equity
shareholders, these are payable when declared by the directors. In the case of final dividends, these are
pavable when approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Segment reporting

An operaling segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
gam revenues and incur expenses. whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s Chief
Executive Officer, who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker, 1o make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and for which discrete financial information is available.

Based on the informalion presented to and reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer, the enfire operations of
the Group are considered as one operaling segment,

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets ard liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
when thare is an unconditional and legally enforceable right o offset the recogmised amounts and thera is
an intention to seltle on a nel basis, or realise the assets and setile the liabilites simullaneously.

3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policy

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom eqgual the actual results, Management also needs to exercize judgement in applying the Group's
accounting policies. The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year. This note provides an overview of the areas that invalve a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, and major sources of estimation uncerainty that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial vear. Estimates and judgements are conlinually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, Including expectations of future evenls
thal are baelieved o be reasonmable under the circumstances, Detailed information about each of these
estimates and judgements iz included in the related notes together with information about the basis of
calculation for each affected line item in the financial statements.
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Mayberry Group Limited

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (Continued)
(a) Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policy (continued)

(i} Investment Enfity Business Model
The Group has determined thal the business model of its subsidiary MJE ks, and always has been, similar
to that of an “investment entity” as defined in IFRS 10 having consideration to the following key matiers
amongst other facts:

. MJE provides investment managemen! services o mulliple investors who have invested in the
Company via the JSE to take advantage of the management of a portiolio of Jamaican equities on
their behalf,

ii. MJE's principal objective is solely 1o invest in Jamaican equities for raturns from capilal apprecialion
and investment income,

i, MJE manages and evaluates perfformance on the Jamaican equities cn a fair value basis, A Net
Asset Value (MAY) is tracked daily and communicated to the Company's investors and potantial
invastors via tha JSE and MJE's website. Additionally, MJE's Investment Manager is compensated
based on the feir value appreciation of the portfolio over time (note 33)

The purpose and design of the Company i therefore similar to that of an investment entity per IFRS 10.
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Mayberry Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3, Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (Continued)

Critical judgements In applying the Group's accounting policy [continued)

(i) Investments in associaled companies

During 2022, the Group reviewed the accounting principhes for accounting for equity investments.
It included a review of the requirements of IAS 28 - Investments in associates and joint ventures which
axpound on the accounting requirements for entities that while not controlled or jointly controlied by the
reporting entity, are subject to significant influence by i and are deemed associates. The standard
indicates that a halding of 20% ar more of the voling power of the invesiee is presumed to give rise o
significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is in fact not the case. Convaersely,
a holding of less than 20% of the voting power is presumed not to give rise to significant influence, unless
it can be clearly demonstrated that there is in fact significant influence. The Group has five investmenis
which meet the criteria of having significant influence based on management’s representation on the
Board of Directors which places it in a posiion 1o contribule 1o policy formaton and participate in
decisions about dividends and other distributions.

Some of the directors and executive management of the Group are members of the Board of Directors
of Lasco Financial Services Limited, Canbbean Producers (Jamalca) Limted, Supreme Ventures Limited
and [ron Rock Insurance Limited and are able to paricipate in all significant finencial and operating
decisions, In 2023, the Group acquired the right to appoint representatives 1o the Board of Directors of
Dolla Financial Services Limited. Based on the foregoing, the Group has determined that it has
significant influance over thesa antities thowgh some shareaholdings are below 20%,

The Group also has shareholdings of 20% in Blue Power Limited, however the Group has never sal on
the Board of Direclors, nor any key operalional committees and Management is nol of the view they
axarcise any signiicant influence aver this antity’s aclivities. This entlity has therefore been actounied
for as a financial investment.

The Group elected the |AS 28 exemption from applying the equity method of accounting to measure its
investments in associates and instead measure them al FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9. Managemaent
is of the view that fair value measurement provides more useful information for users of the financial
statements.

(i) Accounting for the Schame of Arramngemeant

Az explained in Note 1, the Group has exercised judgement in determining that the Scheme of
Arrangements which was executed during the current year should be accounted for as a re-organisation.
The conclusion was based on the fact thel before and afier the transaction, there was no change in
ultimale control with raspect to the entities which were part of the re-organisation.
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MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i

(i)

Impairment losses on loans, investments and receivables

The Group reviews its loan and investmant portfolios 1o assess impairment at least on a quariery basis.
In determining whethar an impainment koss should be recordad in the statement of profit or loss, the
Group makes judgements as o whether there are any observable data indicating that there iz a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the loans resulting from adverse change
in the payment status of the borrower or national and economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
koans and investmants in the Group. Managemant uses astimates based on historical loss expanance
for assels with cradit risk charactenstics and objective evidence of impairmant similar to those in the
portfolio when schieduling its fulure cash flows. The methodology and assumplions used for estimating
both the amount and timing of future cash llows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between
loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Income taxes

There are certain fransactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabiities for actual and anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. In determining these estimates, Management
considers the mert of any tax audit issues raised, based on their interpretation of the taxation laws, and
their knowledge of any precedents established by the taxation authorities, Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences could materially
impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is mada.
The Group also recognises deferred tax assels on tax losses camed forward where it anticipates making
future taxable income o offsel these losses,

The 51 Lucian tax authornties enacted certain tx laws in 2012 and 2019 that contain certain grandfathering
provisions. Some of those changes came into affect during 2021 for the Group, while others wene effectve
im 2022, These are discussed in nole 43,
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3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (Continued)

(k)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty {continuad)

(i} Fair value of financial assats

A significant amount of financial assets and kabilties included in the Group's financial statemeants require
measurement at, andfor disclosure of fair value, Management uses its judgment in selecling appropriate
valuation fechniques supported by appropriate assumptions fo determine fair value of investment
sacurities (note 38),

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an assel or paid to transfer a kability in an orderdy
fransaction between markel participanis al the measurement date. Markel price s used 1o determine fair
value of a financial instrument. For financial instruments where no market price is available, the fair
values presented have been estimated using present value or other astimation and valuation techniques
based on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

The values derved from applying these technigues are significantly affected by the underying
assumptions usad concermning both the amounts and timing of fulure cash flows and the discount rates.

The Group uses the following hierarchy in determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technigue;

Level 1 quoted prices in active markets for identical assels or llabilities

Level 2 other techniques far which all inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded fair value is observable, aither directly or indirecty.

Level 3 technigues which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded
fair value that are nol based on observable market data,

Transfers of items batween levels are recognised in the period they ocour.

The following methods and assumptions have been used;

(i) Investment securiies classified as fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other
comprehensive income areé measured at fair value by reference to quoted markel prices when
available. If quoted market prices are nol available, then fair values are estimated on the basis of
pricing models or discounted cash flows or other recognized valuation techniques.

The fair values of liquid assets and other maluring within one year are assumed 1o approximale their
carrying amount. The assumption is applied (o Bquid assets and short term elements of all financial
assets and liabilities.

(i) The fair values of variable rate financial instruments are assumed to approximate their camrying
amounts.
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4. Met Interest Income

Interest income -
Invastmeant securitias measurad at FVWTPL
Investments, loans and promissory noles al amortised cost

Interest expense -
Margin loans with brokers
Securities sold under repurchase agresmeants
Corporate papers and notes
Other funding sources

5 Consulting Fees and Commissions

Services transferred at a point in time -
Erokerage fees and commissions
Structured financing fees

Servicoes transferred over time -
Fortfolio management

6. Dividend Income

Investments in associates measured at FVTPL
Equity securities measured at FVTPL
Equity securities measured at FVTOC!

7. HNet Trading Gains

Gains on disposal of investment securities measured at FVTPL
Gains on disposal of investiment securities measured at amortised
cost

Loss on disposal of invesiment properties

@) 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

2023 2022
$'000 $'000
123,991 152 533
1,464,002 966,312
1,587,993 1,118,845
37,544 72,971
401,210 247,336
1,219,425 431,086
256,029 57,000
1,014,208 508,402
{326,215) 310,443
2023 2022
$'000 5'000
321,554 314,836
90,690 66,155
412 244 J82 991
108,959 125,666
521,203 508,657
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
472,148 451,400
62,773 81,371
76,115 35,055
611,036 567826
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
5,341 146578
35,756 1,693
= (32.189)
111,087 116,082
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8. Salaries, Statutory Contributions and Staff Costs

Wages and salaries

Prafit ghare and bonus
Stalutory contributions
Fansion contributions
Training and development
Staff welfare

Thie number of employees at vear-and was 108 (2022 = 134).

9. Expenses by Nature

Sales, marketing, and public relations
Awditors’ remuneration

Computer expenseas

Depreciation (Mole 18)

Amortisation of intangibles (Note 32)
Amortization = right-of-use assels (Mote 20)
Provigion for credit losses

Insurance

Licensing fees

Short term lease expense

Legal and professional fees

Registrar and broker fees

Directors” fees

Bank charges

Repairs and maintenance

[nvestment, incentive and management fee
Salaries, statutory contributions and staff costs (Mote 8)
Security

Travelling and mator vehicles axpenses
Azzels tax

Operational losses

Ll it

Other operating expenses

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
694 408 699,555
. {54,159)

71.8T1 71,605
15,301 14,016
15,272 14,512
11,486 15,606
808,338 T61.4T6
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
116,305 143,845
27,951 14,827
102,689 74,105
22707 28838
5,468 6,327
16,955 18.504
(50,569 128,708
35,734 Z36TH
103,021 891,141
11,164 6,974
264 B8A9 152.031
23,007 18.754
34,761 34,872
22,285 24 462
19,043 15414
119,478 354,874
BOB, 338 161476
33,358 18,756
28 956 64,219
57918 48 507
120,491 85.883
56 428 65,857
80,029 61603
2,051,395 2 246 855
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10. Taxation

(a) Taxation is based on the operating results for the year, adjusted for taxation purposes, and is made up as
follows:
2023 2022
£'000 §'000
Current year income tax at 33 173% / 30% - -
Deferred tax credit (Note 26) (593.632) {1,016}
Taxation cradit (583,632) {1,018)

b}

Reconciliation of theoretical tax charge that would arise on (lossVprofit before taxation using applicable tax
rate to actual 1ax charge.

2023 2022

$'000 $'000

{Loss WProfit bafore taxation {2,062,576) 4,736,614

Tax calculated at a tax rate 33 1/3% / 30% {355,368) 1.411,864
Adjustments for the effects of:

Expenses nol deductible for tax 40,572 156,943

Incoma not subject to tax (340,388) (1,618,077

Other adjustments 61,552 48,254

Taxation credit (503.632) {1,016)

Subject o agreement with Tax Administration Jamaica, the MIL tax losses of approximately
£3,195 million (2022 - $1,397 million) available for set-off against future taxable profits. The Group’s
subsidiaries have tax losses of US$1,992,573 (2022 — US$1,992.573) available for sel—off against future
taxable profits.
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10. Taxation (Continued)

(d} Tax charge relating o componenis of other comprehensive income is as follows:

2023 2022
£'000 £°000
Before Tax Before Tax After
tax cradit  After tax tax  credit tax
Itern that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss:-
Met unrealisedgains
Nlosses) on financial
instrumanis - FVOCI (130,550) 167,068 36,518 (301,293) 169,828 (131,465)
tern that may be reclassified
to profit or loss:-
Forgign currency transiation
adjustments 43,280 = 43,290 (33, 736) = (33,736}
Other Comprehensive
Income for the Year {87,260) 167,068 79,808 (335,029) 169,828 (165,201)
Deferred laxation (Mote 26) 167,068 168,828
11. Met Profit
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Dealt with in the financial statements of:
The Company (48,651) -
Subsidiaries (1,420,293) 4 737,630
{1,468 044 ) 4,737,630
Attributable {o;
Stockholders of the parent (256,548) 2,218,806
Non=controlling interests (1,212 396) 2.518,824
{1,468,944) 4,737 630
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12. Financial Ratios

(a) Earnings per stock unit:

Earnings-par-stock unit is calculated by dividing the net (loss)iprofit attributabla to stockholdars of the parent by
the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the year. There are no dilutive potential
instruments,

2023 2022

N (loss)profil attributable to stockholders of the parent
{S000) (256,548) 2,218,806
Number of ordinary stock wnils in isswe (000) 1,201,149 1,201,149
Eamings per stock unil = basic and fully diluted (90.21) 51.85

(b} Comprehensive income per stock unit:

Comprehensive income per stock unit is calculated by dividing the comprehensive income alttibutable to
stockhiolders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the year.

2023 2022

Comprehensive income attributable to stockhokders
of the parent (3'000) {201.818) 2,154 126
Number of ordinary stock units in issue ('000) 1,201,149 1,201,149
Comprehensive income per stock unit = basic and fully diluted (50,17} 21.79

(¢} Mel book value per stock unit:

Mel book value per stock unil is calculated by dividing the stockholder's equily atinbutable to the owners of
the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the year.

2023 2022

Stockhalders’ equity attributabla to stockholders of
the parent ($'000) 16,232,944 16,795,106
Number of ordinary stock unils in issue ('000) 1.201,148 1,201,148
Met book value per stock unit $13.51 51388

{d) Market value of ordinary stock units:

Market value of ordinary stock units is calculafed by multiplying the closing bid price per stock unit as quoltad
on the Jamaica Stock Exchange by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issuee during the
year,

2023 2022
Closing bid price per stock unit as at 31 December £8.45 58.12
Number of ordinary stock unis in issue ((000) 1,201,149 1,201,149
Market value of ordinary stock units (3000} 10,149,712 9753332
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13. Cash Resources

Current accounts - Jamaican dollar
Current accounts - Foreign currencies
Dreposits - Jamaican dollar

Cash in hand

Far the purposes of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalenis comprise the following:

Cash resources
Reverse repurchase agreaments with 90-day maturity
Bank overdraft

2023 2022
£000 £'000
831,192 901,222
2.094 796 1,829,243
1,488 1,488

58 234
3,827,534 2732 187
2023 2022
£°000 £000
3,827,534 2,732,187
997,120 2,000,768
(994,193) (50.337)
3,830,451 4 GB2 618

The bank overdraft resulted from un-presented chegues al year-end. Mational Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited
(MCB) holds as security, Government of Jamaica Global Bond with a nominal value of US3219,000
(2022 - USS219,000), to cover ils overdraft facility of $300,000,000, NCB ako holds as security Government of
Jamaica Benchmark Motes with a nominal value of $18.400,000 (2022 - $11,800,000) and a lien over idle cash
balances to cover 10% of the un-cleared effects limit of 360,000,000 i.e. 36,000,000,
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14. Investmant Securities

2023 2022
$'000 £°000
Investment securities at FYTPL -
Dabt securilies
Govarnmant of Jamaica bonds 16 404 15,316
Foreign govermmeant bonds 15,191 14,800
Corporale bands 73,258 164 372

Equities 3,556,570 1,454,501
Taital FVTPL 3661421 1,648,989
Investment securities at FYTOCI -

Equities 5,044,919 5,588,024
Total FWTOC] 5,044,919 5,688,024
Investment securities at amortised cost, net of ECL -

Dabt sacurtias

Government of Jamaica bonds 1,555,204 50,546
Foreign govermment bonds 201 196
Corporate bonds 1,442,789 2262977
Less ECL {8,897} (37, 724)
Total investment securities at amorised cost, net of ECL 2.988.,197 2,275,995
11,685,537 8,513,008
Accrued interest 104,550 35,018
Todal invesiment securities 11,800,087 9,548,026
The movemeant in (he ECL determined under the requiremants of IFRS is as follows:
2023 2022
5'000 £'000
Balance at beginning of year 37724 15,352
MNet (decrease)increase included in provision for credil losses (28, 727) 22372
Balance al end of year 8,947 37,724

The Government and Corporate bonds are used as collateral for the Groups demand lpans received from
Oppenhaimer and Co. Inc., Raymond James and Morgan Stanley (Note 25).

The current portion of invesiment securities is 51,8613 million (2022 - $617.3 million).
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15. Reverse Repurchase Agreements

The Group enters into repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements collateralized by Government of Jamaica
debt securities, These agreemenis may resull in credit exposure in the event that the counterparty to the
fransaction is unable to fulfil its contractual obligations.

2023 2022

£'000 $'000

Reverse repurchase agreements 3,526,965 5,218,312
Interest receivable 28,263 85638
3,615,228 5.303 950

Included in reverse repurchase agreements is 23,526,965 000 (2022 55,218,312 000) which matures within the
next 12 months, of which $997 120,000 (2022: 32,000,768,000) with original maturities of 90 days or less, are
regarded as cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cagh flows.,

16. Promissory Notes

2023 2022

§'000 $'000

Gross loans 4,535,508 4,501 659
Less: Allowance for credit losses (228.680) (252,211)

Interest recaivable 55,548 5,799

4,362,376 4,255.247

This represents Jamaican and United States dollar promissory notes from customers. These are hypothecated
against balances held for the customers, registered mortgages and other properties,

The current portion of promissory notes is $1,949.2 million (2022 - $575.1 million).

The movement in the ECL determined under the requirements of IFRS is as follows:

2023 20232

$'000 §°000
Balance al beginning of year 25221 274,160
Nt decrease ncluded in provision for credit lossas {23,631} {21,949)
Balance al end of year 228,680 252,211
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17. Loans and other Recelvables

2023 2022
$'000 5000
Client margins 4,838,121 3,818,358
Client recaivables 4,197 388 1,648,547
Due from broker 63,284 144,563
Current account with joint venture 283,790 276,741
Withholding fax recoverable 214,869 180,557
GGeneral Consumption Tax recoverable - 21,343
Prapaymenis 105,753 70,587
Other receivables 791.714 245,165
10,494,917 &, 703,861

Lass: Allowance for credit losses {251,026) (298,477}
10,243 891 6,405 384

Chent margins are secured against their equity portfolios held at the Jamaica Central Securities Depository.

The current portion of loans and other recaivables is 59 958 million (2022 - 56,129 millicn)

The mowement in the ECL determined under the requirements of IFRS s as follows:

2023 2022
3000 £'000
Balance al beginning of year 298,477 170,192
Wirite offs {40.040) -
Met (decreaseincrease incleded in provision for credil losses (7T.411) 128,285
Balance at end of vear 251,026 208 477
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18. Property, Plant and Equipment

Cost =
Al 1 January 2022
Audditicrns
Disposats
Ak 31 Decamber 2022
Addiions
Ak 31 Decembar 2023
decumulated Depreciation -
Al 1 January 022
Charge for the year
Al 31 December 2022
Charga for the yaar
Al 31 December 2023
Mot Book Vilue -
31 December 203

31 December 2022

Furnitura,
Leasehold  Computer Office  Fixtures & Maotor

Improvements Equipment  Equipment Fittings \Vehicles CWIP Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 5000 S'000 500 £'000

T4, 636 250,857 35,826 63,551 28,244 - 458 314

2675 13,987 1,398 TG = 4T 526 65,762

- 2,285 - - 26485 28,710

&2.511 267,069 IT 224 GAGET 28244 T4111  5EZ.TEG

10,606 3, M6 2,99 123

82,511 277 875 40,840 63.627  2B244 77020 570,017

29267 211470 28,085 5T 8462 22,025 = 8 T

1,777 16,301 2, 3dd 2 A6E 5,948 = 2B 838

31,02 22T 31,429 G0, 330 2T 573 - 3TB 54T

1.813 16,228 2.561 1.836 271 - 22 707
32,857 243,897 33,890 62,166 28244 - 401254

48 G54 A3 678 6,950 1,461 -  Tr0xh 168 76l

51 467 25,208 5, Ta5 3,257 271 T4 111 174 X340
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19, Investment Properties

Balance at beginning of year

Disposals

Met gain/{loss) from fair value adjustmeant
Balance at end of year

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment propearties

Direct operaling expenses from property thal did nol generate
rental income

Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in other income

2023 2022
$'000 $'000
2,027,738 2,174,302
= (124 458)

85,734 (22,065)
2113472 2,027,738
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
85,734 (22,065)
85,734 (22,065)

Some of these properties are used as collateral for the Group's corporate paper (note 25)

The properiies hekd are stated at fair market value as appraised by professional independent valuers.
The valuation is done on the basis of market value and is defined as the estimated amount for which an asset or
liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length
transaction after proper marketing and where the parties had sach acted knowledgeably, prudently and without

compulsion.

Valuations have been performed using a comparable sales approach incorporating a review of sales with similar
highest and best use, There has been no change in the valuation lechnigque during the year,
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20. Leases

{a) Right-of-use assels

Ag al December 2021
Addition

Amortization
Adjusiments

Az at December 2022
Amortization

At 31 December 2023

(b) Lease liabilities

Ag at 31 December 2021
Interest expense

Lease paymenis
Addition

Adjusimeants

As al 31 December 2022
Interest expense

Lease payments

At 31 December 2023

(c}) Amount recognised in the income statement

Amortization charge of right-of-use assets
Interest expense

Short term lease expense

Land & Mator
Building Vehicles Total
$'000 £'000 £'000
96 S64 12,9493 108,557
13,623 - 13,523
(13,307) {5,197) (18, 504)
(34,502} - (34,502)
62278 7.798 70,074
{11,758) {5,197) (16,955)
50,520 2,598 53.119
Land & Motor

Building Vehicles Total
5000 3000 3000
108,845 15,245 124,000
6,935 1.237 BATZ

{18,086) {9,552) (27,638)
13,523 - 13.523

{34,502) = (34,502)
76,715 6,930 B3.645
7654 656 8,310

(17,328) {4,840) (22, 168)
67,041 2,746 69, 78T
2023 2022

$000 $'000

16,955 18,504

8310 B.172

11,164 5874
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21. Investment in Associates

Details of each of the Group’s material associates at FVTPL al the end of the reporting period are as follows;

Supreme Veniures Limited

Caribbean Producers (Jamaica) Limited
Lasco Financial Services Limited
Ironrock Insurance Company Limited
Dolla Financial Services Limited

22, Investroent In Jolnt Ventune

i} Details of the Group's material joint venture accounted for using the equity method at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

Cherry Hillz Development Limited:
Balance at 1 January

Prior vear adjustments

Share of after tax earmnings
Dividend

Translaton adjustments

Balance at 31 December

il} Summarized financial information for joint veniure.

2023 2022
S'000 £'000
13,207,045 14,569,117
1,086,880 2,500,460
513 542 7568 517
105,277 95,383
1,286,822 ¥
17,089 566 18,011,477
2023 il |

$'000 $'000
1,064,454 2 654,808
. 88,285

833,575 (66,845)

- (661,2886)

44 924 (50,508)
2,642,953 1,964,454

The tables below provide summarized financial informalion in respect of the Group's invesiment in joint
venture. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the joint

vanlure in accordance with IFRS standards, and nol the Group's share of those amounts.

Summarised slatement of financial position

Current Assels
Mon-current Assels
Total Assels

Current Liabilies
Mon-current Liabidlities
Total Liabilities

Mot Assets

@) 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

2023 2022
$'000 $'000
149,395 134,371
9,208,562 8,397,650
9 357 957 6,532 030
1,670 345 T84 193
2,032,451 1,878,985
3.702.796 2,633,178
5 655,161 3 698 852
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22, Investment in Joint Venture (Continued)
i) Summarsed financial information for joint venture (continued)

Statement of profil or loss and other comprehensive income

2023 2022

$'000 $'000

Revenue 2054 342 96,260

Interest expense {291,988) (136,896)

Ciher expenses (95,206} (75,442}

Profit/{Loss) before income tax 1,667,149 (116,078)
Taxation credit - -

Profit/(Loss) after tax and Total comprehensive income 1,667,149 (116,078)
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23. Cash Flows

Adjusiments to reconcile net profit to net cash provided by operating activities,

MNote 2023 2022
£'000 $'000
Adjustments for non-cash items:

Pravision for credit bosses (59, 669) 128,708

Intangible asset — amortization 5468 B,327

Depreciation 18 22,707 28,838

Right-of-use assels - amorization 20 16,955 18,504
Interast income 4 {1.587,993) (1.118,845)

Interest expense 4 1,914,208 808,402

Interest expense — lease [iabilitias 210 8,172
Realized gains on trading (111,097 {116,082)
Unrealised fair value loszesi{gains) on Investment in associales 2,235,227 15,232 91T)
Unrealised fair value gains on financial instruments — FYVTFL [170,946) (90,0897)
Unrealised foreign exchange gains (207 .083) (87,271
Share af profits in joint venlura (B33.575) (21,4400

Unrealised fair value (gains )losses on investment properties {85,.734) 22,065
1,148,768 (5,655 ,636)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Loans and other receivables (3,833.618) (1.234,022)
Imvestments (1,826,059) (46, 548)
Promissory noles (33,849) (1,364,159)
Reverse repurchase agreements GET, 798 2,374 867)
Investment in associates (1,312,364) (26,141)

Accounts payable BOG,467 2,989,855

Demand loans 135,426 1,275,055

Securities sold under repurchase agreements 1,938,408 4,335

{2,400,023) (6,432,228)
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24, Pledged Assets

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and non—curment bormowings ang:

2023 2022

5000 £°000
Restricted deposit - 42 959
Ivvesiment securities at FYWTOCI - 1,136,117
Invesiment secunties at FYTPL 20,117 246,620
Invastmeant securities at amortisaed cost 159 220 288 953
Imvastmants in associates at FWTPL - 17,452 322
Loans and other receivables 5,500,500 -
Investment property at FVYTPL 1,448 108 1,300,181
Total assets pledged as collataral 8,174,245 20,467 161
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25. Loans

Demand loans (i) =
Oppenheimer & Co. Inc,
Morgan Stanley
Raymond James
Tearm loans —
Corporate paper (unsecurad) (il)
Corporate paper (secured) (i)
Corporate bonds (iii)
Revolving line of credit {iv)
Development Bank of Jamaica (v)
Bonds =
Bondberry bond (i)

Unamartised Transaction Faas
Interest Payvable

2023 2022
§°000 £'000
2,238 548 1,423,314
139,679 331,466

- 488,021
1,906,540 1,860,752
0&7 000 Bd3, 850

- 2,200,000

500,000 500,000
2,154,225 1,957,745
6,385,345 -
14,291,337 9,405,178
{50,755) (2,683)
6,511 5373
14,247,003 0.407 868

(i1 The demand loans attract interest at 6.19% (2022 = 2.5%) per annum - Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., 5.86%
(2022 — 2,15%) per annum - Morgan Stanley and 6.7% (2022 — 3.48%) per annum — Raymond James.,
The collaterals for the demand loans are invesiment securities which were purchased with the proceeds
of the loans received from Morgan Stankey, Oppenheimear & Co. Inc. and Raymond James (Nole 14).

i) The Unsecured Corporate Paper aliracts inerest al 10% per annum (2022 - 6.5%) and malures

January 14, 2026, The previous paper matured Movember 19, 2023,

A Secured Corporate Paper is backed by real estale and attracts a weighled average rate of interast at
10.47% per annum (2022 — 7.5%) with outstanding Tranches maturing between February 9, 2024 and

February 23, 2025,

A Secured Corporate Paper is backed by secured loans and altracts an interest rate of 11% per annum
(2022 — 7.5%) and matures November 30, 2025. The previous paper malured November 2023,
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25, Loans (Continued)

{iiiy

{v)

{v)

On 24 September 2018 the Company's subsidiary, Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited, completed a secured
corporate bond issue amounting to $2.2 bilkion,  The bond matured in 2023, and was at a fixed interest rate of
7.25% per annum paid guarterly. The bond was arranged by Sagicor Invesiments Jamaica Limited and
regisiered with JCS0D Trustee Services Limited,

The bond was secured by some of the Group's quoled equity investments in various entities that are being
traded on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. These shares were required to have a fair value coverage of 1.5
times the principal amount and a mamlenanca margin of 1.5 times. The company complied with these
covenants,

On Janwary 20, 2023, the Company's sub-subsidiary, MIL, completed a secured corporate bond issue
amounting o $6.3 bilion. The bonds are in four Tranches and are repayable between 2024 and 2026,
The fixed rate notes atiract interest between 9.25% and 12% with interest paid quarterly. The bonds are
secured by a charge over the Secured Loan Porffolio of MIL included in nofe 16 and note 17,

On Jume 16, 2022, the Company's sub-subsidiary, MIL, entered into a revalving line of credt facility amounting
ta $500 million attracting inferest at 12% (2022-9.75%) par arnum with monthly interest paymeants, Tha effective
interest rate is subject to change based on prevailing market conditions and the facility malures in 36 months,
The loan is secured by soma of the Group’s shiaras in Mayberny Jamaican Equities Limited.

The following financial covenants are required to be maintained:
i. Interest coverage ratio must be at least 1.5X;
ii. Total debt to equity ratio must not exceed 40%
fi. Carmying value of the quated equity investments must be at least 2X the outstanding principal
balance of the credst facility.
Al year end MIL had complied with these covenanis.

The loans from Development Bank of Jamalca are granted in Jamaican dollars and are utllized by the Group

ta finance customers with projects in various sectors of the economy. These loans are for tarms up o 10 years
and at rates ranging from 5.75% - 9%
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26. Deferred Taxation

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liabilsty meathod using a tax rate of
33 173% for the subsidiaries incorporated in Jamaica, and 30% for the Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in
St Lucia, The movement in the net defermed income tax balance & as follows:

2023 2022
000 £'000
Met balance at beginning of year 387 764 216,920
Deferred tax credit (Mote 10) 593,632 1016
Deferred iax credit on investiment securities (OC]) 167,068 169,828
Mat balance at end of year 1,148,464 387, 764
Met deferred income taxation is due o the following items:
2023 2022
5000 3000
Dafarmed mcomea tax asseds:
Interesl payvable 46,539 31,609
Froperty, plant and equipment T.902 5,907
Provisions 162,901 200,913
Tax losses carmed forward 1,027 698 351,841
Unrealised foreign exchange loss 33,066 33,066
Oher 12.339 11,030
1,290,535 634,366
Deafarred ncomea tax liabilites:
Property, plant and equipmant 32,900 33,651
Intangibles 21,575 .
Investment securities:
= Trading (3.412) [3.412)
= Cither comprehensive income 7,143 174,211
Infterest receivabla 83,865 42 152
142,071 246,602
MNet deferred tax assel 1,148,464 BT, TE4

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tax losses carried forward only 10 the extent that realization of the
related tax benefit is probable (Note 10,
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26. Deferred Taxation (Continued)

The gross amounts shown in the above tables include the following:-

2023 2022
£'0040 <000

Deferrad income [ax assabs:
Deferred tax assets to ba recovered after more than 12 months 1,210,931 HED, 601
Dafarred tax assets to ba recovarad within 12 months 79,604 64,675

1,280,535 634,366

Deferred income tax labilities:

Deferred tax liabilities to be seffled after more than 12 months L4475 33651
Dafarred tax liabilities to ba seltled within 12 months 87 508 212 8951
142,071 246,602

Deferred tax assels, nel 1,148 464 387,764

27. Accounts Payable

2023 2022

§000 $'000

Accounts pavable 792,089 433, 206
Due to brokers - 38,790
General Consumplion Tax payvable 1,464 -
Management and incentive fes payable 31,543 271,383
Client payables 10,920,355 10,302,583

11,745,451 11,045,972

The current portion of accounts pavable is disclosed in Mole 37(a).
2B. Share Capital

2023 2022
$°000 $'000
Awthorized — 100,000,000,000 Onrdinary Shares
= 1 Special rights redeemable Preference Share
Issued and fully paid —
1,201,149, 290 Ordinary Shares 1,582,382 1,582,382

29. Fair Value Reserves
These represent nel unrealised gains on the revaluation of equity securities. These unrealised gains are
fransfarmed o retained sarmings on disposal of the aguities. The fair value throwgh other comprabensive iIncome
securities are based on short term flucluations in market prices.

30. Other Reserves

2023 2022

5000 $'000

Capital redemplion reserve fund 51,343 51,343
Slock option resare 26, 506 26,506
77,939 77,939

etained Earnings
2023 ANNUAL REPORT @



Mayberry Group Limited

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 49

Reflectad in the financial statermeants of:

Tha Company
Subsidiaries

32. Intangible Asset

At Cost—
1 January 2022
Additions
Transfers
Adjusiments
At 31 Decembear 2022
Addifions
Transfers
At 31 December 2023
Amortisation -
1 January 2022
Charge for the year
31 December 2022
Charge for lhe year
31 December 2023
Met book value -
31 December 2023

31 December 2022

2023 2022
$'000 5000
(48.651) -
13,943,728 14,480,088
13,885,077 14,490,088
Computer Work in
Software progress Total
$'000 §'000 §'000
6,720 707419 714,138
- 304,251 304,251
27.343 (27,343) .
- (28,710} (28,710}
34,063 955617 a9, 680
- 25‘9;529 2ﬁ9|529
996,980 (996, 980) -
1,031,043 228,166 1,259,200
2152 - 5,152
8,327 - 6,327
11,479 - 11,479
5,468 = 5468
16.547 = 16,947
1,014,086 228, 188 1,242 2682
22 584 855617 arg. 201

Wark in progress represents the development of @ new integrated client service, customer managemenit,
operations management and back office financial management sysiem to digitise the Group’s operations.,
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33, Related Party Transactions and Balances

Partles are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercize significant influence over the
other party in making financial or operational decisions,

(i} The following are the balances with related parties:

2023 2022
§'000 $'000
Loans and other receivables:
Joint vanture 277813 276,741
Companies controdled by direciors 349 237 271,892
Directors and key management parsonnel 336,116 S07,743
Promissory Nota
Chermy Hill Developments 366,944 -
Accounts payable:
Management fees payable (Mayberry Asset Managers Limited) 31,543 271,393
Companies confrolled by direciors 206,623 181,848
Directars and key managamant parsonnal 219 352 141,732
(i) The following are fransactions with related parties
Dividend Income 605,283 451,400
Imvestment management and incentive fees 119,475 354 874
Key management compensation
Salaries and other short term  employee benefits 185,787 195,808
Pension confributions 4,626 4129
Direclors” emaluments:-
Fees 65,687 61,513
Executive directors’ remuneralion 75,915 B2.240
Pension confributions 3,166 3475
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33, Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued)

On 15 February 2017, the Company’s subsidiary, Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited, entered into an agreement
with Mayberry Asset Managers Limited, a company incorporated in St. Lucia thal i jointly controlled with the
Company by Christiopher Berry and K. Mark Berry.,  The said agreement ratifies and confirms a course of conduct
that had been entered into by Mayberry West Indies Limited whereby the principals of Mayberry Asset Managers
Limited had previously performed investment managemen services. The new agreement provides for the
fallkrwing feas o be paid o Mayberry Assel Managers Limited as compeansation for the services randared, and
axpensas borne by i, calculated as follows:

(iy A management fee calculated as 0.50% of the net asset value; and

(i) Aninceniive fee calculated as B.00% of the increase in the comprehensive income.

The management fee is accrued and charged quartedy in arrears, The amount charged for the year was
$119.479,000 (2022 — $113.331,000)

Tha incantive fee is accrued and charges on the last day of each calendar year with raflerence to the total
comprehensive income earned for the calendar vear in guestion. Mo incentive fee is payvable if the net book value
per share falls below previous levels altained (“hurdle per share™) unlil and unless thase previous levels are
regained and surpassed. The amount charged for the vear was $nil (2022 = $241,543,000).

34. Dividends
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Final dividend o ordinary shareholders =30 cents per share
(2022 — 28 cents per share) 360,344 436,322
Payment io minorily shareholders 41,689 35,734
402,033 372,058

A dividend of $0.30 was approved and paid in June 2023 to those shareholders on record as at 12 July 2023,

A dividend of $0.28 was approved and paid in December 2022 to those shareholders on record as al
28 June 2022
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35. Non-Controlling Interests

The table below shows the summarised fimancial informabton for Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited that has

non=controlling interests and is material to the Group:

2023 2022

£'000 000
Summarized statement of financial position
Total assets 24,491,095 24,355,036
Tatal liabilities (7,194 429) {4,578, 615)
Met assets 17,297 566 19,776,401
Attributable to non-controlling interests 8,576,133 9,805,140
Summarized statement of comprehansive income
Revenue (1,586,637 5,812 480
(Less)Profit for the perod (2,445,333) 5,080,322
Other comprehensive income 90,577 (202, 746)
Total comprehensive income (2,384 756} 4 BT 576
(Loss)Profit allocated fo non-controlling inferests (1,212,396) 2518824
Other comprehansive income allocated to non-contralling interasts 25078 (100,521}
Attributable to nron-controlling interesis (1,187,318} 2418303
Summarized statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities 2976 467 48,397
Interest received 10,988 3,165
Interest paid (538,983) (272,590)
Income tax paid & &
Met cash generated from operating activities 2,.348472 78972
Cash flows used in financing aclivies (2,283, T05) {72,069)
ket increase in cash and cash equivalents Gd, 76T 5,903
Cash and cash equivalents at the baginning of year 314 952 313,902
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents (170] 15, 553)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 379,549 314,952
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36. Reconciliation of Liabilities arising from Financing Activities

The table below detalls the movement in debt for each of Ihe perods presented. Financing aclivities represent debt

secyurnity ssued and other loans,
Loans Lease liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
As at 1 January 9,407 868 6,676,050 83,645 124,090
Interest payable {5,373) (3,059) . .
9,402 495 6,672,991 83,645 124,090
Changes related to Operating Activities
Loans received B15,234 1,364 443 - -
Principal repayments (679.808) (80, 388)
Met Changes ralated to Operating Activities 135426 1,275,055 - -
Changes related to Financing Activities
Loan received 7875426 4 159677 -
Leasze addilions - - - 13,523
Repayments {3,228 195) (2,708,805) {13,858) (19, 466)
Adjustments = = . (34,502)
Amaortization of bormowing costs 55,430 ST - -
Interest pavable 6,511 5,373 - -
Met Changes related Financing Activities 4,709,172 1,458,822 (13.858) 40,445
As at 31 Decembsar 14,247 093 9,407 BGE 69, 78T 83,645

37. Financial Risk Management

Risk Management Framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management
framewark. The Board has established the Assets and Liabiities Committes (ALCO) which is responsible for
developing and monitoring the Group's risk management policies in their specified areas.

ALCO places trading limits on the level of exposure that can be taken and moniors fisks and adherence 1o limits.
The Group, through ils training and managemeant standards and procedures, aims o develop disciplined and
constructive control emvironment, in which all employeas understand their roles and obligations. This is
supplemented by the Compliance Commiltes which was established in 2020, o specifically monitor regulatory
measuras.

The Audit Commiites is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Group's risk management policies and
procedures and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Group, The Audit Committee is assisted in these funclions by both the Compliance Unit and Infernal Audit.
The Compliance Unit and Internal Audit undertake both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management conlirols
and procedures, the results of which are reported 1o the Board of Directors and the Audit Commitles, respectively.
By itz nature, the Group’s aclivities are principally related to the use of financial instrumenis. The Group accepls
funds from customers at bath fived and floating rates and for various periods and seeks to eam above average
interest marging by investing these funds in high quality assets. The Group seeks lo increase these marging by
consclidaling shori-term funds and lending for longer periods at higher rates while maintaining sufficient liquidity
to meed all claims thal might fall due.
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37. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Risk Management Framework (continued)
{a) Liguidity risk

The Group also seeks 1o raise its interest margins by obtaining above average margins, net of provisions,
through lending 1o commercial and retail borrowars with a range of cradit standimg.

The Group also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions o take advantage of shor-term market
movements in equity and bond prices and in foreign exchange and interest rates, The Group is exposed 1o
daily calls on s available cash resources from matunng repurchase agreements and loan draw downs,
The Group does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience shows that a minimum
level of re-investment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty. The Group’s freasury
and sacurities department seek to have available a minimum progartion of maturing funds to meet such calls,
The Group's policy is to hold a high proportion of liquid assets to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of
demand. Dally reports cover the liquidity position of the Group as well as any exceplions and remedial actions
taken.

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and inlerest rales of assels and liabilities s
fundamental to the management of the Group. It Is unusual for the Group ever to be completely matched
since business fransacted is often of uncertain term and of different types, An unmatched position patentially
enhances profitability buf can increase the rsk of loss, The maturities of asseds and liabilities and the ability
o replace, at an accaptable cost, interesi-baaring labilles as they malure, are important faclors in assessing
the: liquidity of the Group and exposure o changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

The key measura used by the Group for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of liquid assels to securities sold
under repurchase agreements and [oans. For this purpose liquid assels are considered as including cash
and cash equivalents, investment grade securities, excluding equities, for which there is an active and liquid
market and loans and other recaivables.

The tables below presant the undiscounted cash flows (both interest and principal cash flows) o settle

financial liabdlities, based on contractual repayment obligations. Howewver, the Group expects thal many
customers will nol request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required 1o pay.
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37, Financial Risk Management (Continuad)

(a) Liguidity risk (continued)

2023
Within 1 1to 3 Ito12 1t0 5 Owver 5
Month Months Months Years Years Total
§'000 £'000 £'000 5000 3000 £'000
Financial Liabilities:
Bank overdraft 04,193 = = = B4, 193
Securities sold under
repurchase
agreements 2,053,312 2290461 2624645 . = 6,068 418
Loans 2,808,685 1314020 4 859 240 & 260 987 1,114,151 18 457 0893
Lease liabilities 1.088 216 10,310 20,987 48,326 83,937
Accounis payable 11,564,347 15,119 165,985 - - 11,745,451
Total liabilities
{contractual maturity
dates) 17,521,845 3621816 7,680,180 281,974 1,163 477 38,249,092
2022
Withimn 1 1t0 3 Ito12 1t0 5 Over §
Month Maonths Months Years Years Total
5000 £'000 £'000 000 3'000 5000
Financial Liabilities
Bank overdrafl 50,337 - - 50,337
Securilies sobkd under
repurchase
agreements 1,520,233 2.1430,756 1,283,060 - - 4,534,049
Loans 2,245 362 456,868 2,899 790 2,382 508 - T.8584 538
Lease |labilities 1,088 2,192 10,202 20,840 49 325 83,645
Accounis payables 10,530,373 280,950 225,640 - = 11045972
Total liabilities
(contractual maturity
dates) 14356391 28FOTFVE6 4418701 2403 348 49325 24008 541
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37. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(b} Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
pricas whether thosa changes are caused by factors specific 1o the individual securty, its issuer or factors
aflecting all securities traded in the markel. The Group manages this nsk through extensive research and
manitors the price movement of securities on the local and international markets., The Group's portfolio is
balanced with respeact to the duration of the securities includad in order to minimize exposure to volatility,
based on projecied market conditions.

Management of market risks

The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. The trading
portfolios are held by the Group and include positions arsing from market making and proprietary position
taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair value basis. The Group's
foreign exchange positions relating to Foreign Currency Trading are freated as parl of the Group™s frading
portfolios for risk management purposes.

The Group's markel risk is monitored on a daily basis by its Compliance Unit, which is rasponsible for the
devalopment of risk managemeant policsas (subject o review and approval by ALCO) and for the daily review
of their implemeantation,
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Page 589

47, Financial Risk Management (Continwed)

{g) Interest rate risk (continued)

The table befow summarises the effective interest rate by major currencies for financial instruments of the

Group.

Asszets

Investmant securilias

Reverse repurchase agreaments
Promissory notes

Liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements
Loans

Corporate papers

JAS Uss JAS uss
2023 2022

% % Y k)
7.498 B.73 4.43 5.16
8.03 5.39 8.79 3.96
13.11 8.05 6.75 4.05
B.20 3.04 591 2.51
7.76 - - 4.28
10.72 - 6.57 -

The management of intarest rate risk is supplemented by monitoring the sensitivity of the Group's financial
aszels o vanious standard and non-standard interest rate scenarios. Standard scenarios that are considerad
include a 25 basis point {bp) (2022 - 100 bp) parallel rise and a 25 bp (2022 — 50 bp) parallel fall in the yield
curve applicable lo Government of Jamaica local instruments and a 25 bp (2022 - 100 bp) parallel rise and a
25 bp (2022 - 50 bp) parallel fall in the vield curves applicable to Government of Jamaica global bonds and
other sovereign bonds. An analysis of the Group's sensitivity to an increase or decrease in market interest
rates and the Fkely impact on equity and statement of income (fair value through profit or loss account

instrumanis) is as follows:

Effect on Effect on

Change in Eﬂﬂ;:tﬂn other Change in other
basis points Profit components basis points Effect on components
JMD  USD of equity JMD /USD  Net Profit of equity
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022

$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000

-2oi-25 5,280 - -S0=-50 1,432 -
+25/+25 (5,280 - +100/+100 {2.864) -
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37, Financial Risk Management [Continued)
(d)} Currency risk

The Group fakes on exposure to effects of fluctuation in the prevailing foreign cumency exchange rates on its

financial position and cash flows,

MNet exposure s kepl to an acceptable level by matching foreign assets with liabiities as far as possible.

The following foreign currency balances are included in these financial statements;

Financial Assets
Cash resources
Invesiment securities
Promissory noles
Reverse repurchase agreement
Interest receivable
Loans and other recaivables
Total assels

Financial Liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements
Loans and other payables
Oilver
Toltal liabilities
Net position

@) 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

2023

GBP uss CANS EURD
J$'000 J5'000 J5'000 J5'000
30,786 2,906,763 33,852 817
. 496,658 - -

- 1,490,541 - -

- 1,740,457 - -

- 120 858 - =
2,736 1,572,806 102 67,487
33,522 5,328,173 33,854 68,304
- 2,439,679 : -
57,009 5,368,453 20,213 -
- 6,171 - -
57,009 7.814,303 20,213 -
{23.487) 513,870 13,741 68,304
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37. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

[d} Currency risk (continued)

2022
GBPF Uss CANS EURD
JE' 000 JE000 JE000 JE'000
Financial Assets
Cash resources B4 0965 1,387 873 23,182 Tod
Investment securities - 1,410,645 - -
Promissory noles - 1,804,928 : -
Reverse repurchase agreement - 2,333,826 - -
Imterest recelvable = &0.152 . =
Loans and ather receivables 2,230 240,796 ~ - 682,465
Total assels 87,204 7,318,220 53,192 63.21%
Financial Liabllities
Saecurities sold under rapurchass
agreements - 1.011,118 . -
Loans and other payablas B0 430 5 667,046 16,363 -
Othviar - 121,423 - -
Tatal liabilities B0 430 6, 7TaH 587 16,363 -
Het position 16,774 518,633 36,829 63,219

Sensitivity analysis

Changes in the exchange rates of the Jamaican dallar (JAS) to the following currencies would have the effects
as described below:

Effect on Effect on

Change in Loss Change in Loss

Currency before Currency before

Rate Taxation Rate Taxation

2023 2023 2022 2022

%o £'000 % £'000

Currency:

GBP -4 (939) -4 564
GBP +1 235 +1 (141)

Uss -4 20,555 -4 20,745
uss +1 (5,138) #1 (5,186)

CANS -k 550 i 2,056
CANS +1 (137) +1 (514}

EURO =4 2,732 - 2388
EURO +1 [(51:%1] +1 [S87)

The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular inferest rates, remain constant. it s performed on
the basis of 4% weakening and 1% strengthening (2022 = 4% weakening and 1% strengthening) in exchange
rates.
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37, Financial Risk Management (Continued)
{a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss o the Group if 8 customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s loans and advances to customers,
promissory notes and investmeant securities. For risk management reparting purposes, the Group considers
and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual obligor defaull risk, country and sector
risk).

For gk management purposes, cradit sk arising on trading securities i managed indepandently, but
reporied a5 a component of markel risk exposure.

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the managemant of credil nsk o is ALCO and ils
Risk Unit. The Risk Unit is responsible for oversight of the Group's credit risk, including:

» Fomulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral requirements, credit
assessment, risk grading and reporling, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with
reguiatory and statutory requirements.

= Establishing the authorization structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities, Authorisation
limis are allocated to business unit credit officers. Larger facilities require approval by the Board of
Directors as appropriale.

+ Reviewing and assessing credil rsk. The Risk Unit assesses all credit exposures in excess of
designated lmils, prior to facilities being commitied fo customers by the business unit concermed,
Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review process,

« Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and indusiries (for loans and
advances), and by issuer, credit rating band, markel liquidity and country (for investment securities).

+ Developing and maintaining the Group's risk grading in order 1o categorise exposures according 1o the
degree of risk of the financial loss faced and to focus management on the attendant risks. The risk
grading system is used in determining where impairment provisions may be required against specific
credit exposures. The current risk grading framework consists of six grades reflecting varying degrees
of risk of default and the availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation, The responsibility for
selting risk grades lies with the final approving executive as appropriate.

+ Reviewing compliance of business units with agreed exposure limits, including those for selected

indusiries, country risk and product types. Regular reporis are provided to the Board of Directors on the
credil quality of loan portfolios and appropriale corrective actions taken.

s Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice throughout the
Group in the managemeant of credil risk.

Each business unit is nequired to implement credit policies and procadures, with credit approval authorities

delegated by the Board of Direclors. In additon, aach business unit is responsible for the quality and
performance of its credil portfolio and for monitoring and controlfing all credit risks in ils portfolios.

Regular audils of business units and credit processes are undertaken by Internal Awdit.
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37. Financial Risk Managemant (Continued)
(e} Credit risk {[continued)

Exposure to credil risk is also managed in part by oblaining collateral, corporate and personal guarantees.
It iz the policy of the Group 1o obain or lake possession of or register len against securities. The Group
maonitors the markel value of the underlying securities which collateralize the related receivable including
accrued interast and request additional collateral where deemed appropriate.

An estimate of fair value of collateral hald against defaulted promissory noles is $232,194,000
(2022 = 5233,994,000).

The Group monilors concantralions of cradit risk by sector and geographic location. Sea Mote 14 for an
analysis of the credit exposure for debt securities at amortised cost as categorised by issuer. An analysis of
concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date for promissory notes and loans and other receivables is

shiown below:
Loans and Other
Promissory Notes Receivables
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 £°000 £°000
Concantration by secior -
Corporate 4,202,031 3,810,842 372,374 180,557
Retail 160,345 dd.4 405 89,871,517 6,224 827
Total carrying amount 4,362, 376 4,255 247 10,243,891 64053584

Loss allowance recognisead in profit or loss during the year is summarized below:

2023 2022

$'000 $°000

Promissory notes (Mote 16) (23.531) (21.949)
Loans and other receivables {Mote 17) (7T.411) 128,285
Imvestment securities — al amortised cost (Mote 14) (28.727) 22,372
{59 6569) 128,708

Loans and other receivables
The loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 was determined as follows for loans

and other receivables:
At 31 December 2023 At 31 December 2022
Gross Loss Expected Gross Loss Expected
Carrying Allowance Loss Carrying Allowance Loss
Amount Rate Amount Rate
$'000 £'000 % $'000 £'000 %o
Less than 1 manth 6,723,219 T&T 0.01 4,502 803 6,884 0.15
Within 1 to 3 months 3,172,996 a7 0.02 1,438,547 2111 0.15
Ower 3 months 278,080 249,562 8974 490,024 289477 59.07
10,174,295 251,026 6,431,374 298 477
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37. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(e} Credit risk (continued)
Promissory notes

The expected credit loss is summarised as follows:

2023

1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Lifetime Lifetime ECL
ECL Total
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Etandard risk 4,190,954 - 4,190,984
Past due risk - - - -
Credit impabred = = 400,072 400,072
Gross carrying amount 4,190,584 - 400,072 4,581,056

Loss allowance {(28,108) = {200,572) (228,680)
Carrying amount 4,162 876 - 199,500 4,362 376
2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Lifetime Lifetime ECL
ECL Total
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Standard risk 4083817 - - 4,083,817
Past due risk - 23,633 - 23,633
Credil impaired - - 400,008 400,008
Gross carrying amount 4083817 23,633 400,008 4 507 458

Loss allowance (47.052) (250) {204,900) {252.211)

Carrying amount 4,036,765 23,374 195,108 4,255,247

@) 2023 ANNUAL REPORT




Mayberry Group Limited
Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page B5

37, Financial Risk Management [Continued)

Cradit risk [continued)

Promissory notes [continued)

Movameant in the maximum exposure 1o credit risk:

Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
January 01, 2023
Mew financial assets onginated or
purchased
Financial assels fully decognised during
the period
Changes in principal and interest
Foreign exchange adjusiments
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
Decamber 31, 2023

Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
January 01, 2022
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Mew financial assets originated or
purchased
Financial assels fully decognised during
the period
Changes im principal and interest
Foreign exchange adjustments
Maximum exposurs to credit risk as at
Decamber 31, 2022

2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month ECL Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL Total
5'000 5000 3'000 5000
4,083,817 23,633 400,008 4,507 458
1,768,171 - 1,760,171
(1,042 336) (23.633) - (1.065,969)
(637,502} % - {637,502)
17 834 - 64 17 808
4,180 984 - 400,072 4 591 055
2022
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
5000 £'000 £'000 $'000
2,884 842 = 320,114 3,215,063
(79,804) - 79,894 -
(23,633) 23,633 - .
1,443,265 - 1,443,265
(60,152) = . (60,152)
(23,228) - - (23,228)
(B7.480) - - {G7.490)
4,083,817 23,633 400,008 4,507,458
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37. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
la) Credit risk (continued)

Promissory notes (continued)

Mavernant in the loss allowancs:

At 1 January 2023
Movemenis with profit or loss impact
Mew financial assets onginated
Changes in PDs/LGDVEADs
Financlal assets derecognised during
B pericd
Direct write-offs
Loss alowance recagnised in profit or oss
At 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2022

Movements wilh profil or loss impack
Transfers from Stags 1 fo Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 o Stage 3
New financial assets odnginated
Changes in PDs/LGDVEADs
Financial assets derecognised during
the period
Recoveries

Loss alowance recognised in profit or loss

At 31 December 2022

@) 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
£°000 £'000 £ 000 5'000
47,052 258 204 800 252 211
12,384 - - 12,354
(22,276) - - (22 276)
(9.052) (259) - (9,311)
- - (4,328) {4,328)
{18.944) (259} {4,328} (23,531)
28108 - 200572 gza.aan
2022
1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-maonth L ifetire Lifetirme
ECL ECL ECL Tatal
£'000 5000 5000 £°'000
63,296 - 210,864 274,180
(259) 259 . -
{72.084) = 72,084 =
12,989 - - 12,989
43,531 . 43,531
(421) . - {421)
. - {78,048} (78,048)
(16,244} 259 (5.964) (21,5945
47052 254 2004 900 252211
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37. Financial Risk Management {Continued)
(e} Creditrisk [continued)
Debt securities

The expacted credit loss is summarised as follows:

2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
$'000 5000 $'000 $'000
Standard risk 2,998,194 - = 2998 194
Fasl due risk . - .
Credit impaired - - - -
Gross carrying amount 2,998,194 = 2098194
Loss allowance {8,987) . . {8.847)
Carrying amount 2,989 197 - 2089197
~ . F
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Tatal
$'000 5000 5’000 £'000
Standard risk 23137189 - 2313719
Fast due risk g . . i
Credit impained . = = =
Gross carrying amount 2313,718 = 2313718
Loss allowance (37.724) - - (a7.724)
Carrying amount 2,275,905 = 2275085
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37, Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(e} Credit risk [continued)
Debt securities (continued)
Movement in the maximum axposure to credit risk:
2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime

ECL ECL ECL Total
000 $'000 $'000 000
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
January 01, 2023 2,313,719 - - 2,313,719
Mew financial assels orginated or purchased 1,504 658 - - 1,504 658
Financial assets fully recognised during the
period (B26,298) . - (B26,208)
Foreign exchange adjustments 6,115 - - 8,115
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
December 31, 2023 2,998 1594 - - 2998, 194
2022

Eug- 1 Stage 2 ﬁl:agr 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime

ECL ECL ECL Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
January 01, 2022 3,196,032 - - 3,196,032
Mew inancial assels onginaled or purchased T8 957 - - 78,957
Financial assets fully recognised during the
period (955,807) - - (955,807)
Foreign exchange adjusiments {5,463} - - {5.463)
Maximum exposure to credit risk as at
December 31, 2022 23137119 - - 2,313,719

The loss allowance recognised in profit or loss for debt securities was $28,727,000 (2022 — ($22,372,000).
There were no iransfers betwean stages during the period,
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37. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

n

()

Settlemant risk

The Group's activities may give nse 1o rsk al the bme of settlement of Iransactions and trades,
Seftlement risk is the risk of loss due 1o the failure of a company to honour its obligations to deliver cash,
sacurities or other assets as contractually agreed.

For cerain types of transaclions, the Group mitigates this risk by conducting selflemenis through a
sefflement/clearing agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their
contraciual settlement obligations.

Regulatory capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the “equity” on the face of
the statement of financial position, are:
» To comply with the capital requirements sel by the regulators of the financial markets where the
entities within the group operate;
» To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern so thal it can confinue 1o provide
retumns for stockholder and banefits for other stakehaolders; and
= To maintain a strong and efficient capital base consistent with the Group’s risk profile, strategic
abjectives to support the development of its business.

MIL is subject to regulatory capital standards issued by the Financial Services Commission (FSC) which, are
largely guided by international criteria sel by the Basel Commitiee on Banking Supervision (BCBS). The FSC
requires the entity to hold a specified level of regulatory capital and to maintain the following:

+« g minimum ratio of tolal regulatory capital to total risk weighted assels of 10%,

« and capital io tolal assets ratio of 6%.

Al vear end, MIL was in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subjectl.

Through the capital management framework, capital adequacy and requlatory capital are monilored by the
Group's management, employing lechnigues based on the guidelines developed by the FSC, The required
information including early waming ratios is filed with the regulator at the stipulated intervals.

Im addition, MIL is subject to bi-annual Siress Testing by the Financial Services Commigsion 1o determine if
capital is sufficient to absorb losses during economic and financial market stress as well as effective capital
planning processes.

MIL's capilal adeguacy ratios have passed all individual and combined shocks applied to its balance sheel
data in the bi-annual stress tests. Passing the bi-annual stress lests underscones the Group’s commibment
to a sustained capital planning procass that satisfies the expectations of our stakeholders,

MIL remains adequately capitalized well in excess of the minimum regulatory capital adeguacy requirements

which further underscores the strength and resilience of the business and is a key component of the Group's
growth sirategy.
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7. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(g} Regulatory capital management (continuead)

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base to ensure investor, creditor and market confidence
and 1o sustain the future developmeant of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’
retum is also recognised and the Group recognizes the need to maintain a balance batween higher returns
that might be possible with greater leverage and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position.

MIL has complied with all regulatory capital requirements throughout the period. There have been na
material changes in the management of capital during the penod.

Capital allocation

Although maximization of the relem on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in determining how capial
is gllocated within the Company to operations or activities, it is not the sole basis used for decision making.
Account is also taken of synergies with other operations and activities, availability of management and othar
resourcas, and the fit of the activity with the Company’s longer-term strategic objectives. Capital managemant
and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Board of Direclors.

38. Fair Values

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordedy transaction
between market participanis at the measurement date. Market price is used to delermine the fair value of a
financial instrumant. However, markel prices ara not available for soma of the financial asseds hald by the Group.
Therefore, for financial instruments where no markel price is available, the fair values presented have been
estimated using present value or cther estimation and valuation techniques based on marke! conditions existing
al the end of the repaorting period.

The values derived from applying these lechniques are significantly affected by the underying assumgtions used
conceming both the amourdts and timing of future cash flows and the discount rates. The following methods and
assumptions have been used:

(i) Investment securities and investment in associates classified as FVTPL and investment securities FVYTOCI
are measured af fair value by reference to quoted market prices when available, If quoted market prices are
nol available, then fair values are estimaled on the basis of pricing models or discounted cash fllows or olher
recognized valuation techniques.

(i) The fair values of Bguid assets and other assels maturing within one year are assumed (0 approximate their
carmying amount. This assumption is applied 1o liguid assets and short term elements of all financial asselts
and financial liabilities,

(Hi} The fair values of variable rate financial instruments are assumed o approximate their carrying amounts.
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38. Fair Values (Continued)

(iv)

The fair values of fixed rate loans are estimated by comparing markat interest rates when the loans ware
granted with the current market rate offered on similar loans. Changes in the credit quality of loans within
the portfolio are not taken to account in determining gross fair values as the impact of credit risk is
recognized separately by deducting the amount of the provisions for credit losses from both book and fair
values,

The Group uses the following hierarchy in determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instrumenis by
valuation technique:;

Level 1: quoted prices in active markels for identical assats or liabilities,

Lavel 2: other tachniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly.

Lavel 3: technigues which use inputs which have a signiicant affect on the recorded fair value thal are not
based on observable market data.

A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly avallable from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
eocurming markel ransactions on an arm's length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assels

and investments in associates held by the Group when available s with reference to the current bid, ask
and trade prices.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation technigues. These valuation techniques maximise the use of cbservable market data where it Is
available and rely as lithe as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are cbservable, the instrument is included in level 2, This calegory includes government
bonds, cerlificates of deposit and corporale paper.  Indicative prices or yields of these nstruments are
obtained from regular, publicly available quotes by reputable pricing services, dealers and brokers.,

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in level 3. The Group measures its ungquoled investment securities at fair value using level 3 inpuls.
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38. Fair Values (Continued)

The following table shows an analysis of assets measured at the date of the statement of financial position that,
subsequent 1o initial recognition, are measured at fair value, The assets are grouped into levels of the fair value
higrarchy:

2023
Lavel 1 Lavel 2 Leawvel 3 Taotal
£'000 $'000 $'000 £°'000
Financial assets -
Debt securities
iGavernment of Jamaica - 16,404 - 16,404
Foreign governmeant - 15,191 - 15,191
Corporate bonds - 73,256 = 73,256
Equities
Quoted B.209,339 - = 8,209,339
Unquoted - - 392,150 392 150
Invastment in associates 17,099 566 - - 17,089 566
MNon financial assats
Investment Properties - 2113472 - 2113472
25,308,905 2,218,323 382,150 27,819,378
2022
Lewval 1 Lewvel 2 Level 3 Tatal
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°'000
Financial assets -
Debt securities
Government of Jamaica - 15,316 - 15,316
Foreign governmeant - 14,800 - 14 800
Corporate bonds = 164,372 = 164,372
Equities
Quoted 6,826,280 - - 6,826,280
Unguoted - - 216,245 216,245
Invesiment in associates 18,011,477 - - 18,011 477
MNan financial assels
Investment Properties - 2,027 738 - 2027 738
24,837,757 2,222 226 216,245 27,276,228
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38, Fair Values (Continued)

Az al 31 Decembser, thae fair value of the financial instruments valued at amortized cost s detailod balow:

2023 2022
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value
£'000 5000 000 £'000
Assets
Debt securities 3,003,747 3,000.857 2,263,754 2204 568
Reverse repurchase agreements 3,615,228 3,615,228 5,303,850 5,303,950
Promissory notes 4,362,376 4,885,942 4,255,247 4,501,660
Loans and other receivables 10,243,891 10,243,891 6,405,384 6,405,384
Liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 6 850,805 5,850,805 4,869,274 4 869 274
Loans 14 247 0893 14, 108,597 9,407 868 9,317 680
Accounts payable 11,745,451 11,745.451 11,045,972 110459872

The lables baelow show a reconciliation of the movemeant in the assets measured al fair value, that are classified

as level 3.

Crpening balance
Addstions
Closing balance

39, Pension Scheme

2023 2022
5000 $'000
216,245 139,233
175,905 77012
382,150 216,245

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for emplovees who have satisfied certaln minemm
service requirements. The scheme is funded by equal contributions of emplover and employees of 5% of
pensionable salaries and an oplion for emplovees to contribute an additicnal 10%. The Group's contribution far

the year amounted to $15,272,000 (2022: 514.016,000).

40. Funds Under Managemeant

The Group provides custody, invesiment management and advisory services for bath institutions and individuals
which involve the Group making allocation and purchases and sales decisions in relation to guoted shares and
government financial instruments on a non-recourse basis, Thase assets that are held in a fduciary capacity are

fiot included in these financial statemants.
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41. Segment Information
The sub-subsidiary, MIL, is a licensed Securities Dealer (Mote 1)

Basad on the information presented to and reviewad by the CODM, the antire operations of tha Group ana considenad
as one operating segment.

Financial information related to the operaling segmeni resulls from continuing operations for ihe two years ended
31 December 2023, can be found in the consclidated statement of income, There are no differences in the
measurement of the reportable segment results and the Group's results.

Datails of the sagment assels and liabiftes for the two years ended 31 December 2023, can be found in the
consolidated statement of financial position and redated notes. There are no differences in the measurement of the
reportable segment assets and liabilites and the Group's assets and liabilities.

Entity-wide disclosure;

The revenue from opearations can be found in the consolidated statameant of incomsa.

42. Capital Commitments

Significant capital expenditure contracted for the at the end of the reporting pericd but not recognized as liabilities is
as follows:

2023 2022
§'000 §°000
Intangible assets 104, 160 154,912

The above commitments relate to the development of a new inlegrated client service, customer management and
operations management system supporting the Group's digitisation strategy.
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43,

Tax Laws in Effect

End of Grandfathered Status

As of 19 July 2021, all Grandfalhered International Business Corporations (IBC's) mcorporated prior o
15" November 2018 became subject 1o the Income Tax Act (ITA) No. 7 of 2012, The Company’s subsidiaries
which are registered in 5t Lucia were previously grandfathered IBC's. Amongst other matters, this requires
additional fiking requirements of affected companies and enables [BC's to do business in and with Saint Lucians
and be deemed fully tax resident for tax and olher purposes in Saint Lugia, The previous electives of being tax
exempl of subject to laxation at the rate of 1% and the affected companies are now subject 1o axation at the rate
of 30%.

Az of July 1, 2021, the Company’s subsidiaries registered in 31 Lucia also became subject to the Economic
Substance Act (as amendad by Act 15 of 2020) (ESA) and previously grandfathered |IBC's are raguired to
commence Economic Substance Return ("ESR") filings by specified dales,

Saction 13 of the Economic Substance (Amendment) Act No. 15 of 2020 prescribes that all relevant anlities
formed prior to 1% January 2019 are required to submit a first ESR filing twelve months after the end of the yvear
of incomaea,

Economic Substance

In December 2019, Saint Lucia enacted the Economic Substance Act No.33 of 2019, in order to comply with
imternational initiatves and demands., This iz a precursor to the Economic Substance Retunn Form to be
intreduced for the purpose of proving thal Saint Lucian IBC's can demonsirate sufficient substance in their
economic activities underiaken, which proof will be measured amongst other things, by looking al. extent of
physical presence, place and conduct of meotings of the Direclors, and the number of employees engaged
commensurale with revenue generated by the affected companies.

The Group awaits the competent authorities review of the first ESR fiings for affected subsidiaries, 1o delerming
if their Core income Generating Activities (CIGA) and operations meet the required standards. Once in compliance
with the provisions of the ESA, the provisions of the Foreign Source Income exemplion under Section &(3) of the
ITA applies o income derved from sources outside of Saint Lucia.

44, Reclassification

In prios years the Group had loans with the Development Bank of Jamadca under itz Approved Financial Institutions
program, These loans were classified as Accounts Pavable in the Statement of Financial Position, To improve the
presantation of the financial stalements, these lbans have been reclassified from Accounts Payable to Bormowings in
the Statement of Financial Position and correspondingly from Operating Activities 1o Financing Activities in the
Staterment of Cash Flows.
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